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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ab site, if any, every Interactive Data
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

We are a leading independent owner and operateirefess communications towers. Our principal opens are in the United States
and its territories. In addition, we own and opetatvers in Canada, Central America and South Azae@ur primary business line is our
leasing business, which contributed 97.4% of otal teegment operating profit for the year endeddbdmer 31, 2012. In our site leasing
business, we lease antenna space primarily toegsedervice providers on towers and other structheg we own, manage or lease from
others. The towers that we own have been consttintels at the request of a wireless service pesyiobilt or constructed based on our own
initiative or acquired. As of December 31, 2012,avened 17,491 tower sites, the majority of whickidnbeen built by us or built by other
tower owners or operators who, like us, have lsuitth towers to lease space to multiple wirelessaeproviders. We also managed or le:
approximately 4,800 actual or potential communaraisites, approximately 500 of which were revegmoeelucing as of December 31, 2012.
Our other business line is our site developmeniniegs, through which we assist wireless servicgigens in developing and maintaining
their own wireless service networks.

Site Leasing Services

Our primary focus is the leasing of antenna spaceur multi-tenant towers to a variety of wirelagsvice providers under long-term
lease contracts in the United States, Canada, &exirerica and South America. Site leasing revemneseceived primarily from wireless
service provider tenants, including AT&T, SprinigNzon Wireless, TMobile, Digicel, Claro, and Telefonica. Wireless\dee providers entt
into numerous different tenant leases with us, edethich relates to the lease or use of space atdividual tower site. In the United States
and Canada our tenant leases are generally faiita@d term of five to ten years with five 5-yeamewal periods at the option of the tenant.
These tenant leases typically contain specific esoalators, which average 3-4% per year, inclutiegenewal option periods. Tenant leases
in our Central and South America markets typichHye an initial term of 10 years with 5-year reniepeaiods. In Central America, we have
similar rent escalators to that of leases in the¢ddrStates and Canada while our leases in Soutsridentypically escalate in accordance with
a standard cost of living index.

We expand our tower portfolio, both domestically amternationally, through the construction of newers, or new builds, and throt
the acquisition of towers from third parties. I oew build program, we construct towers in locasithat were strategically chosen by us or
under build-to-suit arrangements. Under build-t@-atrangements, we build towers for wireless seryiroviders at locations that they have
identified. We retain ownership of the tower ane &xclusive right to co-locate additional tenamigtee tower. When we construct towers in
locations chosen by us, we utilize our knowledgewfcustomers’ network requirements to identifgaltons where we believe multiple
wireless service providers need, or will needpttate antennas to meet capacity or service dem#relseek to identify attractive locations
for new towers and complete pre-construction prooesinecessary to secure the site concurrentlyawuitteasing efforts. We generally will
have at least one signed tenant lease for eaclbuidsvtower on the day that it is completed andestghat some will have multiple tenants.
During 2013, we intend to build between 380 and A&@ towers, domestically and internationally.

In our tower acquisition program, we pursue tovibet meet or exceed our internal guidelines reggrdurrent and future potential
returns. For each acquisition, we prepare varioadyaes that include projections of a five-yearusted internal rate of return, review of
available capacity, future lease up projectionsasdmmary of current and future tenant/technology
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The table below provides information regarding diegelopment and status of our tower portfolio dherpast three years.

For the year ended December 3:

2010 2011 2012
Towers owned at beginning of peri 8,32¢ 9,111 10,52«
Towers acquire: 712 1,08t 6,63(
Towers constructe 124 38¢€ 35¢€
Towers reclassified/disposed @ (49) (60) (19
Towers owned at end of peri 9,111 10,52« 17,49:

(1) Reclassifications reflect the combination feporting purposes of multiple tower structures @ingle parcel of real estate, which we
market and customers view as a single location,argingle owned tower site. Dispositions refléet itecommissioning, sale,
conveyance or other legal transfer of owned towes

As of December 31, 2012, we had an average oepdnts per tower.

Our site leasing business generates substantlaty @ur total segment operating profit. Our diasing business generated 88.7% of
our total revenues during the year ended Decemhe2@®L2 and has represented 97.4% or more of talrsegment operating profit for the
past three years. For the year ended DecembeB32, 2ite leasing revenues generated outside ®eddd its territories was less than 6% of
total revenue.

International Operations

In 2012, we continued to focus on growing our inédional operations, including the acquisition 808owers in Brazil. We believe tr
we can create substantial value by expanding ¢eitesising services into select international marisich we believe have a high-growth
wireless industry and relatively stable politicaaegulatory environments. At December 31, 2012 pwned 2,562 towers in Brazil, Cane
Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua andiRa, and intend to continue expanding in thedetrer international markets. The
majority of these international markets typicalpve less mature wireless networks with limited lineinfrastructure and wireless data
penetration. Accordingly, our expansion in thesek®is is primarily driven by (i) wireless servicmpiders seeking to increase the quality
and coverage of their networks, (ii) consumerstéased use of high data applications, such as emeilinet access and video, and
(iii) incremental spectrum auctions, which haveutesl in new market entrants, as well as increnieatiae and data network deployments.
For example, we have had a meaningful build-outusfnew towers and communication sites in Costa B&ca result of spectrum auctions in
that country. We expect to continue expanding irgdonally through buying or building towers, maimagcommunication sites and leasing
space to wireless service providers on assets nteato

We consider various factors when identifying a neafkr our international expansion, including:

. Country analysis- We consider the country’s political stability, dawhether the country’s general business, legalraegdlatory
environment is conducive to the sustainability gnalvth of our busines:

. Market potentia— We analyze the expected demand for wirelessa@syvand whether a country has multiple wirelesgce
providers who are actively seeking to invest inldging voice and data networks, as well as spectruntions that have occurred
or that are anticipated to occ

. Risk adjusted return criteri- We consider whether buying or building towers ioountry, and providing our management and
leasing services, will meet our return criteria.g&st of this analysis, we consider the risk okeinfy into an international market,
and how our expansion meets our I-term strategic objectives for the region and owgitess generally
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Site Development Services

Our site development business, which is conduceteédd United States only, is complementary to derleasing business and provides
us the ability to keep in close contact with thealdss service providers who generate substantllbf our site leasing revenue and to
capture ancillary revenues that are generated bgitileasing activities, such as antenna andcoaggnt installation at our tower locations.
Site development services revenues are receivethly from providing a full range of end to endhdees to wireless service providers or
companies providing development or project manageservices to wireless service providers. Ourisesvinclude: (1) network pre-design;
(2) site audits; (3) identification of potentiatktions for towers and antennas; (4) support inrgugr leasing of the location; (5) assistance in
obtaining zoning approvals and permits; (6) towed eelated site construction; (7) antenna instaliatand (8) radio equipment installation,
commissioning and maintenance.

We provide our site development services on a Ibasis, through regional offices, territory offisd project offices. The regional
offices are responsible for all site developmerdrapions, including hiring employees and openinglosing project offices, and a substantial
portion of the sales in such area.

For financial information about our operating segtaeplease see Note 21 of our Consolidated FinhStatements included in this
Form 10-K.

Industry Developments

We believe that growing wireless traffic (partialjedata and video), the deployment of additioqp@rum, and technology
advancements will require wireless service proaderimprove their network infrastructure and ira@e their network capacity resulting in
increase in the number of communication sitesttieyt use or the number of antennas at existing aamuation sites. The following is a
discussion of certain growth trends in the wirelsm®mmunications industry:

. As wireless data usage grows rapidly, all four tlh&ionwide carriers are deploying new and upgragsdiorks and we believe
that the continued deployment of 4G wireless tetidgies, such as LTE, will require our customeradd large numbers of
additional cell sites and additional equipmentwatent cell sites

. We have seen, and anticipate there could be atberentrants into the wireless communications itrgiubat could deploy
regional or national wireless networks for voicel @ata service:

. Spectrum licensed by the Federal Communicationsr@isgion in 2006 and 2008 has enabled continuedanktdevelopment, ar
we expect this and the potential availability ofiidnal spectrum should enable continued netwarketbpment in the U.S. In
August 2012, Verizon received regulatory approsghtrchase spectrum originally auctioned in 2008gectrumCo, a joint
venture of cable companies. Also, in December, 201sh Networks received regulatory approval todstrially deploy certain of
its spectrum that was previously limited for usesatellite based network

. Consumers are increasing their use of wirelessstataces due to expansion of wireless data agjgits such as email, web
browsing, social networking, music and video, aadtimued wireline to wireless migration. Wirelesvites are trending toward
more bandwidth intensive devices such as smartfhdmatops, netbooks, tablets and other emergidgearbedded devices. As a
result, management believes that North Americaniimalata traffic will grow at an approximately 568émpound annual growth
rate from 2012 to 201

. Consumers list network coverage and quality asdfatbe greatest contributors to their dissatistactivhen terminating or
changing service. To decrease subscriber churraratelrive revenue growth, wireless carriers haadersubstantial capital
expenditures on wireless networks to improve sergigality and expand coverage. For example, U.Rl&gs carriers’ capital
expenditures have increased from an estimated $llich in 2009 to an estimated $28.6 billion i612, and we expect capital
expenditures in the foreseeable future to remanadéd as wireless carriers continue to improvie tiegworks.
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Despite the recent economic challenges affectiagytbbal marketplace, based on these factors, lievbehat the world-wide wireless
industry will continue to grow and is well-capitadd, highly competitive and focused on quality addanced services. Therefore, we expect
that we will see a multi-year trend of strong aiddial cell site demand from our customers, whichb&keve will translate into strong leasing
growth for us.

Business Strategy

Our primary strategy is to continue to focus onamging our site leasing business due to its atbeacharacteristics such as long-term
contracts, built-in rent escalators, high operatimaygins and low customer churn. The long-termneatd the revenue stream of our site
leasing business makes it less volatile than derdgvelopment business, which is more cyclicalfdgysing on our site leasing business, we
believe that we can maintain a stable, recurrirgl ¢low stream and reduce our exposure to cyaticahges in customer spending. Key
elements of our strategy include:

Maximizing Use of Tower Capacityle generally have constructed or acquired towesabcommodate multiple tenants and a majority
of our towers are high capacity towers. Most of muvers have significant capacity available foriiddal antennas and we believe that
increased use of our towers can be achieved at mtwemental cost. We actively market space ontowers through our internal sales for

Disciplined Growth of our Tower PortfolioWe believe that our tower operations are highblable. Consequently, we believe that we
are able to materially increase our tower portfalithout proportionately increasing selling, geherad administrative expenses. During
2013, we intend to continue to grow our tower mditf domestically and internationally, by 5% to%40through tower acquisitions and the
construction of new towers. In connection with suernational expansion, we have targeted seléetriantional markets that we believe have
relatively stable political environments and a graywvireless communication industry. We intend $e our available cash from operating
activities and available liquidity, including bowings, to build and/or acquire new towers at prited we believe will be accretive to our
shareholders both in the short and long term andhaddlow us to maintain our long-term target leage ratios.

Capitalizing on our Scale and Management Experiee are a large owner, operator and developer oéit@mnd other communicatic
sites, with substantial capital, human and opegatisources. We have been developing communicsities for wireless service providers in
the U.S. since 1989 and owned and operated tovesr feir ourselves since 1997. We believe our sizperience, capabilities and resources
make us a preferred partner for wireless serviogigers both in the U.S. and internationally. Owamagement team has extensive experience
in site leasing and site development, with somiefongest tenures in the tower and site developmeustries. Management believes that
its industry expertise and strong relationshipswitreless service providers will allow us to exgarur position as a leading provider of site
leasing and site development services.

Controlling our Underlying Land PositionsVe have purchased and intend to continue to psechnd/or enter into perpetual easen
or long-term leases for the land that underliestowers, to the extent available at commercially
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reasonable prices. We believe that these purchpsasetual easements, and/or long-term leasesnaiitase our margins, improve our cash
flow from operations and minimize our exposurentréases in ground lease rents in the future.Heoqtiarter ended December 31, 2012,
approximately 70% of our tower sites were locatedamd that we own or control for more than 20 gesnd the average remaining life under
our ground leases, including renewal options udercontrol, was 31 years. As of December 31, 28pproximately 6.1% of our tower si
have ground leases maturing in the next 10 years.

Using our Local Presence to Build Strong Relatiopshwith Major Wireless Service Provideiven the nature of towers as location
specific communications facilities, we believe thabstantially all of what we do is done best Ipca&onsequently, we have a broad field
organization that allows us to develop and capitatin our experience, expertise and relationshigach of our local markets which in turn
enhances our customer relationships. We are setkimggplicate this operating model internationalye to our presence in local markets, we
believe we are well positioned to capture additiite leasing business and new tower build opmities in our markets and identify and
participate in site development projects acrossnoankets.

Customers

Since commencing operations, we have performedesiging and site development services for alheflarge U.S. wireless service
providers. In both our site leasing and site dgwelent businesses, we work with large national pieng and smaller regional, local or priv
operators.

We depend on a relatively small number of custorfareur site leasing and site development revenlies following customers
represented at least 10% of our total revenuesigldine last three years:

Percentage of Total Revenue
For the year ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012
Sprint 20.4% 19.8% 21.2%
AT&T 23.% 23.&% 20.4%
T-Mobile 11.6% 10.7% 12.7%
Verizon Wireless 14.€% 14.€% 12.7%

During the past two years, we provided serviceafoumber of customers, including:

Alcatel-Lucent Metro PCS

AT&T Millicom

Bechtel Corporatiol Nextel Internationa
Bell Canad: Nortel

Cable & Wireles:
Cellular Soutt

Nsoro Mastec, LLC
Oi

Claro Rogers
Cleartalk Sprint
Clearwire T-Mobile
Cricket Telus
Digicel Telefonica
Ericsson TIM
General Dynamic U.S. Cellular
Goodman Network VelociTel

ITT Corporation

Verizon Wireless
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Sales and Marketing
Our sales and marketing goals are to:

* use existing relationships and develop new relatigrs with wireless service providers to leaseramespace on and sell related sen
with respect to our owned or managed towers, emglis to grow our site leasing business;

» successfully bid and win those site developmentises contracts that will contribute to our opergtmargins and/or provide a financ
or strategic benefit to our site leasing busin

We approach sales on a company-wide basis, invgiviany of our employees. We have a dedicated &aess that is supplemented by
members of our executive management team. Our atedicalespeople are based regionally as wellthe ioorporate office. We also rely on
our vice presidents, general managers and otheatiqes personnel to sell our services and culiaistomers. Our strategy is to delegate
sales efforts to those employees of ours who Hawéést relationships with our customers. Mostleg® service providers have national
corporate headquarters with regional and locate#i We believe that wireless service providersenmgst decisions for site development
and site leasing services at the regional and lewals with input from their corporate headquart®@ur sales representatives work with
wireless service provider representatives at tgmnal and local levels and at the national levieéwappropriate. Our sales staff
compensation is heavily weighted to incentive-bageals and measurements.

Competition

Site Leasing- Our primary competitors for our site leasing\dtiéis are (1) the national independent tower camgmincluding
American Tower Corporation, Crown Castle Internagicand Global Tower Partners, (2) a large numbeggional independent tower
owners, (3) wireless service providers that own @merate their own towers and lease, or may iritthee decide to lease, antenna space to
other providers, and (4) alternative facilitiestsas rooftops, outdoor and indoor distributed amesystem (“DAS”) networks, billboards and
electric transmission towers. As a result of seMarge mergers and acquisitions, American Tower @rown Castle have more towers and
greater financial resources than we do. Wirelessceproviders that own and operate their own tometworks are also generally larger and
have greater financial resources than we do. Weusethat tower location and capacity, quality efvice to our tenants, and, to a lesser
extent, price have been and will continue to bentlost significant competitive factors affecting it leasing business. Internationally, to
date, the competition we have encountered hasfoe@rboth independent tower companies and wiredesgce providers that own and
operate their own tower networks. In our Centralekican and Canadian markets, the majority of exgstiowers are owned by wireless
service providers. In Brazil, our competition imndés wireless service providers, as well as, indégentower companies.

Site Development The site development business is extremely catiygeand price sensitive. We believe that the mgjaof our
competitors in the U.S. site development businessaie within local market areas exclusively, wiidene firms offer their services
nationally. The market includes participants fromesiety of market segments offering individual,combinations of, competing services.
The field of competitors includes site developmenrisultants, zoning consultants, real estate firight-of-way consulting firms,
construction companies, tower owners/managers; faelijuency engineering consultants, telecommunitsitequipment vendors, which
provide end-to-end site development services thraugltiple subcontractors, and wireless serviceigers’ internal staff. We believe that
providers base their decisions for site developrsentices on a number of criteria, including: compexperience, price, track record, local
reputation, geographic reach and time for comptetiba project.
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Employees

Our executive, corporate development, accountingnte, human resources, legal and regulatoryrivdtion technology and site
administration personnel, and our network operatimenter, are located in our headquarters in Batarik Florida. Certain sales, new tower
build support and tower maintenance personnellacelacated in our Boca Raton office. Our remairémgployees are based in our
international, regional, and local offices.

As of December 31, 2012, we had 1,022 employeew nbwhom are represented by a collective barggiagreement. Of these 1,022
employees, 103 were based outside of the U.S taneriitories. We consider our employee relatimnise good.

Regulatory and Environmental Matters

Federal Regulationdn the U.S., which accounted for 94.3% of our teitd leasing revenue for the year ended Decemhe2®. 2, bot
the FCC and the Federal Aviation Administratiore(fRAA”) regulate antenna towers and structures shi@port wireless communications
and radio or television antennas. Many FAA requiata are implemented in FCC regulations. Thesdatgas govern the construction,
lighting and painting or other marking of towerslatructures, as well as the maintenance, inspediud record keeping related to towers
and structures, and may, depending on the chaistatsrof particular towers or structures, requiror approval and registration of towers or
structures before they may be constructed, alereged. Wireless communications equipment ana radielevision stations operating on
towers or structures are separately regulated aydraguire independent customer licensing dependgpog the particular frequency or
frequency band used. In addition, any applicanafoFCC antenna tower or structure registrationt reerdify that, consistent with the Anti-
Drug Abuse Act of 1988, neither the applicant nieiprincipals are subject to a denial of Federakfits because of a conviction for the
possession or distribution of a controlled substanc

Pursuant to the requirements of the Communicattat®f 1934, as amended, the FCC, in conjunctiah wie FAA, has developed
standards to consider proposals involving new adifieml antenna towers or structures. These stasdaahdate that the FCC and the FAA
consider the height of the proposed tower or stinecthe relationship of the tower or structurexesting natural or man-made obstructions
and the proximity of the tower or structure to rays and airports. Proposals to construct or to fpadiisting towers or structures above
certain heights must be reviewed by the FAA to ems$lie structure will not present a hazard to auigation. The FAA may condition its
issuance of a no-hazard determination upon comgiavith specified lighting and/or painting requirembs. Antenna towers that meet certain
height and location criteria must also be registavih the FCC. A tower or structure that requiF@sA clearance will not be registered by the
FCC until it is cleared by the FAA. Upon registaatj the FCC may also require special lighting angéinting. Owners of wireless
communications antenna towers and structures mag &raobligation to maintain painting and lightimgother marking in conformance with
FAA and FCC regulations. Antenna tower and striecawners and licensees that operate on those t@wvstrictures also bear the
responsibility of monitoring any lighting systemsdanotifying the FAA of any lighting outage or matfction.

Owners and operators of antenna towers and stagctoay be subject to, and therefore must comply, witvironmental laws. Any
licensed radio facility on an antenna tower ordtite is subject to environmental review pursuarthe National Environmental Policy Act
1969, among other statutes, which requires fedgahcies to evaluate the environmental impacteif ttecisions under certain
circumstances. The FCC has issued regulations mgiéng the National Environmental Policy Act. Tesgulations place responsibility
applicants to investigate potential environmentigats of their operations and to disclose any ipidé
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significant effects on the environment in an enwimental assessment prior to constructing or matifgn antenna tower or structure and
prior to commencing certain operations of wirelessymunications or radio or television stations fribva tower or structure. In the event the
FCC determines the proposed structure or operatiand have a significant environmental impact basedhe standards the FCC has
developed, the FCC would be required to prepamnaironmental impact statement, which will be sabje public comment. This process
could significantly delay the registration of atarlar tower or structure.

We generally indemnify our customers against ailyriato comply with applicable regulatory standardlating to the construction,
modification, or placement of antenna towers arcttires. Failure to comply with the applicable riegments may lead to civil penalties.

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 amended the Conications Act of 1934 by preserving state andllaoaing authorities’
jurisdiction over the construction, modificationdgplacement of towers. The law, however, limitsaalatoning authority by prohibiting ar
action that would discriminate among different pdavs of personal wireless services or ban altagdtie construction, modification or
placement of radio communication towers. Finalig Telecommunications Act of 1996 requires the f@dgovernment to help licensees for
wireless communications services gain access fenpeé sites for their facilities. This may requihat federal agencies and departments
directly with licensees to make federal propertgitable for tower facilities.

As an owner and operator of real property, we abjest to certain environmental laws that imposetsjoint and several liability for
the cleanup of on-site or offite contamination and related personal or prop#atyage. We are also subject to certain enviroreh&aws tha
govern tower or structure placement, including @goastruction environmental studies. Operators wkts or structures must also take into
consideration certain radio frequency (“RF”) entssi regulations that impose a variety of procedamal operating requirements. Certain
proposals to operate wireless communications aglid & television stations from antenna towers stndctures are also reviewed by the F
to ensure compliance with requirements relatinguiman exposure to RF emissions. Exposure to highd®f RF energy can produce
negative health effects. The potential connectiemvben low-level RF energy and certain negativétthedfects, including some forms of
cancer, has been the subject of substantial stydyebscientific community in recent years. We &e&di that we are in substantial compliance
with and we have no material liability under anplgable environmental laws. These costs of compkawith existing or future
environmental laws and liability related theretoyrh@ave a material adverse effect on our prospéntmcial condition or results of
operations.

State and Local Regulatioriglost states regulate certain aspects of real estafaisition, leasing activities and constructictivdties.
Where required, we conduct the site acquisitiortipas of our site development services businesaitiir licensed real estate brokers’ agents,
who may be our employees or hired as independentitaziors, and conduct the construction portionsusfsite development services throi
licensed contractors, who may be our employeesdspendent contractors. Local regulations inclutyeand other local ordinances, zoning
restrictions and restrictive covenants imposeddiraunity developers. These regulations vary grdatiy jurisdiction to jurisdiction, but
typically require tower and structure owners toagapproval from local officials or community stimds organizations, or certain other
entities prior to tower or structure constructiom @&stablish regulations regarding maintenanceemdval of towers or structures. In
addition, many local zoning authorities require éovand structure owners to post bonds or cashterdlao secure their removal obligations.
Local zoning authorities generally have been urptee to construction of new antenna towers anacsiires in their communities because of
the height and visibility of the towers or stru@syand have, in some instances, instituted maaator

International. Regulatory regimes outside of the U.S. and istégies vary by country and locality, however skeegulations typically
require tower owners and/or licensees to obtaimaab from local officials or government agenciempto tower construction or
modification or the addition of a new antenna tceeaisting
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tower. Additionally, some regulations include ormgpbbligations regarding painting, lighting, andint@nance. Our international operations
may also be subject to limitations on foreign ovehgy of land in certain areas. Based on our expeei¢o date, these regimes have been
similar to, but not more rigorous, burdensome angrehensive than, those in the U.S. Non-compliavite such regulations may lead to
monetary penalties or deconstruction orders. Quermational operations are also subject to varfegsalations and guidelines regarding
employee relations and other occupational healthsafety matters. As we expand our operationsadthitional international geographic
areas, we will be subject to regulations in thesisglictions.

Backlog

Backlog related to our site leasing business ctseifdease agreements and amendments, which leavesigned, but have not yet
commenced. As of December 31, 2012, excluding giamSNetwork Vision Amendment, we had 1,052 neasks and amendments which
had been executed with customers but which hatdemin generating revenue. These leases and ametsdrikcontractually provide for
approximately $8.1 million of annual revenue. Byngarison, as of December 31, 2011, we had 251 easets and amendments which had
been executed with customers but which had notrbggunerating revenue. These leases and amendnoeittaatually provided for
approximately $5.1 million of annual revenue.

Our backlog for site development services consitie value of work that has not yet been comglete executed contracts. As of
December 31, 2012, we had approximately $45.9aniltif contractually committed revenue as compaveapproximately $14.5 million as
December 31, 2011.

Availability of Reports and Other Information

SBA Communications Corporation was incorporatethnState of Florida in March 1997. Our corporagbsite is www.sbasite.com
We make available, free of charge, access to onuAhnReport on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on F&g¥Q, Current Reports on Form 8-
K, Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A and amendmertt®se materials filed or furnished pursuant tcti8a 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, on our veebsder “Investor Relations — Reports and ResuBEE Filings,” as soon as reasonably
practicable after we file electronically such mekwith, or furnish it to, the United States Setias and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”).
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business

If our wireless service provider customers combine their operationsto a significant degree, our future operating results and our ability to
service our indebtedness could be adversely affected.

Significant consolidation among our wireless sexpcovider customers may result in our customaliadicto renew existing leases for
tower space or reducing future capital expenditimébe aggregate because their existing netwarliseapansion plans may overlap or be
very similar. In connection with the combinatiorfsv@rizon Wireless and ALLTEL (to form Verizon Wiess), Cingular and AT&T Wirele:
(to form AT&T Mobility) and Sprint PCS and Nexteb(form Sprint Nextel), the combined companies hationalized and may continue to
rationalize duplicative parts of their networks,igfhhas led and may continue to lead to the reorewal of certain leases on our towers. If
wireless service provider customers continue tsobdate as a result of, among other factors, éthivireless spectrum for commercial us
the U.S., this consolidation could significantlypact the number of tower leases that are not reshewéhe number of new leases that our
wireless service provider customers require to edgheir networks, which could materially and adedy affect our future operating results.

We have a substantial level of indebtedness which may have an adverse effect on our business or limit our ability to take advantage of
business, strategic or financing opportunities.

As indicated below, we have and will continue teda significant amount of indebtedness relativeuioequity. The following table
sets forth our total principal amount of debt ahdreholders’ equity as of December 31, 2011 an@201

As of December 31

2011 2012
(in thousands)
Total principal amount of indebtedne $3,512,50! $5,440,07.
Shareholder (deficit) equity $ (11,319 $ 652,99:

Our substantial level of indebtedness increasepdbsibility that we may be unable to generate safficient to pay the principal,
interest or other amounts due on our indebtediaggect to certain restrictions under our existirdgbtedness, we and our subsidiaries may
also incur significant additional indebtednesshie future, some of which may be secured debt. Miaig have the effect of increasing our ti
leverage.

As a consequence of our indebtedness, (1) demanadsracash resources may increase, (2) we arecsubjeestrictive covenants that
further limit our financial and operating flexitifiand (3) we may choose to institute self-impdsads on our indebtedness based on certain
considerations including market interest rates,relative leverage and our strategic plans. Fomple, as a result of our substantial level of
indebtedness and the uncertainties arising in riditomarkets and the U.S. economy:

. we may be more vulnerable to general adverse ecioraom industry condition:

. we may have to pay higher interest rates uponartimg or on our variable rate indebtedness if@#terates rise, thereby reduc
our cash flows

. we may find it more difficult to obtain additionfshancing to fund future working capital, capitadpenditures and other general
corporate requirements that would be in our bes-term interests
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. we may be required to dedicate a substantial podfeur cash flow from operations to the paymdrgrancipal and interest on
our debt, reducing the available cash flow to fottter investments, including tower acquisition aet build capital
expenditures

. we may be required to reduce our annual tower aitgpri or new build goals
. we may have limited flexibility in planning for, oeacting to, changes in our business or in thady;
. we may have a competitive disadvantage relativatier companies in our industry that are less byed; ant

. we may be required to sell debt or equity securibiesell some of our core assets, possibly orvondible terms, in order to meet
payment obligations

These restrictions could have a material advefeetedn our business by limiting our ability to éalkdvantage of financing, new tower
development, mergers and acquisitions or other bppities.

In addition, fluctuations in market interest rateay increase interest expense relating to ourifigatite indebtedness, which we expect
to incur under our Revolving Credit Facility andrifeLoans, and may make it difficult to refinance euisting indebtedness at a
commercially reasonable rate or at all. There iguarantee that the future refinancing of our inddbess will have fixed interest rates or
interest rates on such indebtedness will be eguad bbwer than the rates on our current indebtssine

We depend on a relatively small number of customers for most of our revenue, and the loss, consolidation or financial instability of any of
our significant customers may materially decrease our revenues.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue fraramall number of customers. Consequently, a teauimn demand for site leasing,
reduced future capital expenditures on the netwarkthe loss, as a result of bankruptcy, mergén wiher customers of ours or otherwise, of
any of our largest customers could materially de@seeour revenue and have an adverse effect orr@uthg Our substantial acquisitions in
2012 further increased our client concentration exaterbated the risks associated with such coratimt.

The following is a list of significant customergfiresenting at least 10% of revenue in any ofdbethree years) and the percentage of
our total revenues for the specified time perioelsveéd from these customers:

Percentage of Total Revenue
For the year ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012
Sprint 20.4% 19.8% 21.2%
AT&T 23.% 23.&9% 20.4%
T-Mobile 11.6% 10.7% 12.7%
Verizon Wireless 14.€% 14.€% 12.7%

We also have client concentrations with respecgtenues in each of our financial reporting segsient

Percentage of Site Leasing Revenu
For the year ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012
Sprint 23.6% 22.%% 23.8%
AT&T 28.(% 26.8% 22.%
T-Mobile 11.7% 11.2% 13.6%
Verizon Wireless 15.2% 15.5% 13.2%

11



Table of Contents

Percentage of Site Development Revenu
For the year ended December 3.

2010 2011 2012
Ericsson, Inc 3.C% 9.C% 24.5%
Nsoro Mastec, LLC 31.2% 35.% 16.2%
Verizon Wireless 11.2% 9.5% 8.9%
T-Mobile 10.6% 7.C% 5.8%

Revenue from these clients is derived from numediffisrent site leasing contracts and site develapinecontracts. Each site leasing
contract relates to the lease of space at an ohativitower site and is generally for an initialnteof five to ten years in the U.S. and Canada,
and renewable for five 5-year periods at the optibtihe tenant. Our Central and South America ntarggically have an initial term of 10
years with -year renewal periods. However, if any of our digant site leasing clients were to experiencerfmal difficulty, substantially
reduce their capital expenditures or reduce thegeddence on leased tower space and fail to rdrenléases with us, our revenues, future
revenue growth and results of operations woulddvesely affected.

Our site development customers engage us on acptmjeproject basis, and a customer can genemliginate an assignment at any
time without penalty. In addition, a customer’s cnéer site development services can decrease, amiay not be successful in establishing
relationships with new customers. Furthermore,existing customers may not continue to engage uadditional projects.

A slowdown in demand for wireless communications services or for tower space could materially and adversely affect our future growth
and revenues.

If wireless service subscribers significantly reglticeir minutes of use, or fail to widely adopt arsé wireless data applications, our
wireless service provider customers would expesemdecrease in demand for their services. Regardfeconsumer demand, each wireless
service customer must have substantial capitalireses and capabilities to build out their wirelassworks, including licenses for spectrum.
In addition, our wireless service customers hawgagad in increased use of network sharing, roamingsale arrangements. As a result ¢
of the above, wireless carriers may scale back theiness plans or otherwise reduce their spendihigh could materially and adversely
affect demand for our tower space and our wiratessmunications services business, which could bavaterial adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial ¢amdi
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Our international operations are subject to economic, political and other risks, including risks associated with foreign currency exchange
rates, that could materially and adversely affect our revenues or financial position.

Our current business operations in Canada, Cehitnarica and South America, and our expansion infoaher international markets
in the future, could result in adverse financiah®equences and operational problems not typicafigrenced in the United States. Although
the consolidated revenues generated by our intenaiperations were less than 6% during the gaded December 31, 2012, we anticif
that our revenues from our international operatimitisgrow in the future. Accordingly, our busineissand will in the future be subject to ri
associated with doing business internationallyluidiog:

. changes in a specific coun’s or regior's political or economic condition
. laws and regulations that tax or otherwise restépatriation of earnings or other funds or othseaimit distributions of capita

. laws and regulations that dictate how we operate&communications sites and conduct business, imauzbning, maintenance
and environmental matters, and laws related to estrig of real property

. laws and regulations governing our employee rataticncluding occupational health and safety mst

. changes to existing or new domestic or internatitmalaws or fees directed specifically at the evahip and operation of tower
sites, which may be applied and enforced retroalt

. expropriation and governmental regulation restigcfloreign ownershig
. restricting or revoking spectrum licens

. our ability to comply with, and the costs of conapice with, anti-bribery laws such as the Foreigm@u Practices Act and
similar local ant-bribery laws;

. our ability to compete with owners and operatorainéless communications towers that have beehdrirternational market fo
longer period of time than we hay

. uncertainties regarding legal or judicial systeimsluding inconsistencies between and within langgulations and decrees, and
judicial application thereof, and delays in theiqi@ process

. health or similar issues, such as a pandemic deefic;
. difficulty in recruiting and retaining trained permel; anc
. language and cultural differenci

The majority of our international operations areatainated in United States dollars. However, fans®f our international operations,
particularly Brazil, we face risks associated waltanges in foreign currency exchange rates, inofuttiose arising from our operations,
investments and financing transactions relatedutardgernational business. Volatility in foreignroency exchange rates can also affect our
ability to plan, forecast and budget for our intronal operations and expansion efforts.

If we are unable to protect our rightsto the land under our towers, it could adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our real property interests relating to our towemssist primarily of leasehold and sub-leasehadierésts, fee interests, easements,
licenses, rights-of-way, and other similar intesefrom time to time, we experience disputes vétidbwners regarding the terms of the
agreements for the land under our towers, whichatfatt our ability to access and operate such tewkurther, landowners may not want to
renew their agreements with us, they may lose tigdits to the land, or they may transfer theidlamerests to third parties, including ground
lease aggregators and our competitors, which caffddt our ability to renew agreements on comméycidable terms or at all. Our inability
to protect our rights to the land under our toweey have a future material adverse effect on oginess, results of operations or financial
condition.

In addition, we may not always have the abilitytmlyze and verify all information regarding tithescess and other issues regarding the
land underlying acquired towers. To the extent thatdo not have complete access to, or use ofatiteunderlying the acquired towers, it
could require us to incur additional expenses leefog can operate and generate revenue from suéh.tow

13
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I ncreasing competition may negatively impact our ability to grow our tower portfolio long term.

We currently intend to grow our tower portfolio 3%610% annually, domestically and internationalhypugh acquisitions and new
builds. Our ability to meet these growth targeg;msicantly depends on our ability to acquire exigttowers that meet our investment
requirements. Traditionally, our acquisition stggtéas focused on acquiring towers from smallertogompanies, independent tower
developers and wireless service providers. Howeseg, result of consolidation in the tower industisre are fewer of these mid-sized tower
transactions available and there is more competiticacquire existing towers. Increased competitiwracquisitions may result in fewer
acquisition opportunities for us, higher acquisitirices, and increased difficulty in negotiatimglazonsummating agreements to acquire
towers. Furthermore, to the extent that the toweguasition opportunities are for significant towaartfolios, many of our competitors are
significantly larger and have greater financialbwgses than us. As a result of these risks, theaf@cquiring these towers may be higher
we expect or we may not be able to add as manyrsoagewe had planned in 2013. If we are not abeitcessfully address these challenges,
we may not be able to materially increase our tqvegtfolio in the long-term.

Our convertible note hedge transactions may not cover all of the potential dilution or additional cash outlay, if we settled the notesin cash,
to which we may be subject upon conversion of the notes.

Concurrently with the pricing of our 1.875% Convtag Senior Notes due 2013 (the “1.875% Notes”) and4.0% Convertible Senior
Notes due 2014 (t*4.0% Notes”)we entered into convertible note hedge transacamdswarrant transactions with affiliates of certad the
initial purchasers of the convertible note offesnghe initial strike price of the convertible ndiedge transactions relating to our 1.875%
Notes is $41.46 per share of our Class A commarkgthbe same as the initial conversion price of b8i75% convertible notes) and the uj
strike price of the warrants is $67.37 per shahe ifiitial strike price of the convertible note gedransactions relating to our 4.0%
convertible Notes is $30.38 per share of our Ceassmmon stock (the same as the initial converpidce of the 4.0% Notes) and the upper
strike price of the warrant transactions is $446dshare. Pursuant to the terms of the warramsaeation, we are responsible for the dilution
or costs, to the extent that we settle in cashamks arising from the conversion of the noteshim éxtent that the market price of our Class A
common stock exceeds the strike price of the wisralle have purchased an aggregate of $81.2 millipnincipal amount of the 1.875%
Notes, and $468.8 million remains outstandinghéf mnarket price of our Class A common stock sigaifily exceeded either of these sti
prices on their respective conversion dates we advbalsubject to material dilution or, to the extaetelected to settle in cash, material
additional costs.

Initially we entered into convertible note hedgel avarrant transactions to cover the full amourthefshares that were issuable upon
conversion of the 1.875% Notes and the 4.0% Nétesever, as a result of the bankruptcy of LehmautiBsrs OTC Derivatives Inc.
(“Lehman Derivatives”), we terminated the convdgihote hedge transaction that we had enteredhitkoLehman Derivatives. The
terminated convertible note hedge transaction haghally covered 55% of the 13,265,780 sharesuwsf@ass A common stock potentially
issuable upon conversion of our 1.875% Notes. Gpresgly, we do not currently have a hedge witheespo that percentage of the shares
issuable upon conversion of the 1.875% Notes Texibent that the market price of our Class A commstock exceeds $41.46 per share upon
conversion of the notes, we will be subject totilhu or if we settle in cash, additional costs, mjgonversion of that portion of the 1.875%
Notes. If any of the other counterparties to ouneastible hedge transactions were to default iir thigligations, then our potential dilution
costs upon conversion of the respective notes wioellchaterially increased.

At the end of the first quarter of 2012 the 4.0%d$dbecame convertible by the note holders beaaus€lass A common stock closing
price per share exceeded $39.49 for at least Bihgralays during the 30 consecutive trading dajodeznding on March 31, 2012. The
requisite conditions were again met as of the dndleosecond, third and fourth quarters of 2012 thed4.0% Notes remained convertible by
the note holders. The 4.0% Notes will continuee@abnvertible through March 31, 2013, and will & convertible thereafter, if one or m
of the conversion conditions are satisfied.
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At the end of the third quarter of 2012, the cosian right for the 1.875% Notes was triggered beeaaur Class A common stock
closing price per share exceeded $53.90 for at Bagading days during the 30 consecutive tradiag period ending on September 30,
2012. The requisite conditions were again met deetnd of the fourth quarter of 2012 and the 3%8Notes remained convertible by the
note holders. The 1.875% Notes will continue tabevertible until March 31, 2013, and may be cotilikr thereafter, if one or more of the
conversion conditions are satisfied.

New technologies and their use by carriers may have a material adverse effect on our growth rate and results of operations.

The emergence of new technologies could reducdeh®nd for space on our towers. For example, tireased use by wireless serv
providers of signal combining and related technigle@nd products that allow two or more wirelessise providers to provide services on
different transmission frequencies using the saomencunications antenna and other facilities normadlgd by only one wireless service
provider (i.e. network sharing) could reduce thedad for our tower space. Additionally, the us¢éeshnologies that enhance spectral
capacity, such as beam forming or “smart antenrthaf’can increase the range and capacity of amaatcould reduce the number of
additional sites a wireless service provider naedslequately serve a certain subscriber basehanefftre reduce demand for our tower
space. The development and growth of communicatodsother new technologies that do not requirenplebased sites, such as the growth
in delivery of video, voice and data services highiges or other technologies, could also advgraffiect the demand for our tower space. If
any of these or other new technologies are widébpted in the future it could have a material adeaffect on our growth and results of
operations.

Our acquisition initiatives may disrupt our operations or heighten therisksinherent in our growth strategy. I n addition, future acquisitions
that are material in the aggregate may increase our debt levels and our leverage.

A key element of our growth strategy is to increasetower portfolio through acquisitions. Conseaflye as part of our business, we
evaluate potential acquisitions, some of which t@yindividually or in the aggregate, materiallgrsficant in terms of the number of towers
to be acquired or the price that we would needatn Any future acquisitions that we may consumntiaét are material could increase our
absolute level of debt and our pro forma leveragie r

In addition, acquisitions which would be materiathe aggregate may exacerbate the risks inhergnowr growth strategy, such as
(i) an adverse impact on our overall profitabilftthe acquired towers do not achieve the finan@allts projected in our valuation models,
(ii) unanticipated costs associated with the adtjois that may impact our results of operationsafgeriod, (iii) increased demands on our
cash resources that may, among other things, intpaicbility to explore other opportunities, (iv)disclosed and assumed liabilities that we
may be unable to recover, (v) increased vulnetghidi general economic conditions, (vi) an advénggact on our existing customer
relationships, (vii) additional expenses and expa$o new regulatory, political and economic rigksuch acquisitions were in new
jurisdictions and (viii) diversion of manageriateattion.

We may not successfully integrate acquired towersinto our operations.

As part of our growth strategy, we have made ameeixto continue to make acquisitions. The prooésstegrating any acquired
towers into our operations may result in unforesgagrating difficulties and large expenditures aray absorb significant management
attention that would otherwise be available fordhgoing development of our business. It may asalt in the loss of key customers and/or
personnel and expose us to unanticipated lialsilifitnese risks may be exacerbated in those cirameess in which we acquire a material
number of towers. Further, we may not be able t@inghe key employees that may be necessary tatpthe business we acquire, and, we
may not be able to timely attract new skilled emyples and management to replace them. There cam d&&sarance that we will be successful
in integrating acquisitions into our existing bless.
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Delays or changesin the deployment or adoption of new technologies or slowing consumer adoption rates may have a material adverse
effect on our growth rate.

There can be no assurances that 3G, 4G or othewireless technologies will be deployed or adoptedapidly as projected or that
these new technologies will be implemented in tleemer anticipated. The deployment of 3G experienetays from the original projected
timelines of the wireless and broadcast industeasd, deployment of 4G has been limited to date.ithatally, the demand by consumers and
the adoption rate of consumers for these new tdobies once deployed may be lower or slower thditigated. These factors could have a
material adverse effect on our growth rate sincavgyrt opportunities and demand for our tower space result of such new technologies r
not be realized at the times or to the extent gated.

We may not secure as many site leasing tenants as planned or our lease rates for new tenant leases may decline.

If wireless service provider demand for tower spaiceur lease rates on new leases decrease, waghag able to successfully grow
our site leasing business as expected. This may havaterial adverse effect on our strategy, rexgmowth and our ability to satisfy our
financial and other contractual obligations. Owrplor the growth of our site leasing businessdrdepends on our management’s
expectations and assumptions concerning futureteteanand and potential lease rates for our towers.

Increasing competition in the tower industry may create pricing pressures that may materially and adversely affect us.

Our industry is highly competitive, and our custesngometimes have alternatives for leasing antspaee. Some of our competitors,
such as (1) U.S. and international wireless cartieat allow collocation on their towers and (2p&independent tower companies, are
substantially larger and have greater financiadweses than us. This could provide them with acages with respect to establishing favor
leasing terms with wireless service providers dhgir ability to acquire available towers.

In the site leasing business, we compete with:

. wireless service providers that own and operatie tiven towers and lease, or may in the future detidlease, antenna space to
other providers

. national and regional tower companies;

. alternative facilities such as rooftops, outdoast ardoor DAS networks, billboards and electric s@uission towers

We believe that tower location and capacity, qualftservice, density within a geographic marked,ao a lesser extent, price
historically have been and will continue to be tinast significant competitive factors affecting 8ige leasing business. However, competitive
pricing pressures for tenants on towers from tlvesepetitors could materially and adversely affeatlease rates. In addition, we may not be
able to renew existing customer leases or entemiew customer leases, resulting in a material @évienpact on our results of operations
growth rate. Increasing competition could also mifleeacquisition of high quality tower assets maostly, or limit the acquisition
opportunities altogether. Any of these factors douhterially and adversely affect our businessjlte®f operations or financial condition.

The site development segment of our industry is aldremely competitive. There are numerous largksaall companies that offer
one or more of the services offered by our siteetijpment business. As a result of
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this competition, margins in this segment contitsube under pressure. Many of our competitors hawver overhead expenses and therefore
may be able to provide services at prices thatamsider unprofitable. If margins in this segmentev® further decrease, our consolidated
revenues and our site development segment operaiifiy could be adversely affected.

The documents governing our indebtedness contain restrictive covenants that could adversely affect our business by limiting our flexibility.

The indentures governing the 8.25% Notes, the 5.M6%s and the 5.625% Notes, the Senior Creditémgent and the Secured Tower
Revenue Securities contain restrictive covenanpogimg significant operational and financial regitons on us, including restrictions that
may limit our ability to engage in acts that mayileur longterm best interests. Among other things, the covesnander each indenture lii
our ability to:

. Merge, consolidate or sell asse

. Make restricted payments, including pay dividendsake other distribution:
. Enter into transactions with affiliate

. Enter into sale and leaseback transactions

. Issue guarantees of indebtedn:

We are required to maintain certain financial mtimder the Senior Credit Agreement. The SeniodiCAgreement requires SBA
Senior Finance Il and SBACC to maintain specifi@ficial ratios, including, at the SBA Senior Firafidevel, (1) a ratio of Consolidated
Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA not to eeaxl 6.0 times for any fiscal quarter, (2) a rafi€onsolidated Total Debt and Net
Hedge Exposure (calculated in accordance with &éméd® Credit Agreement) to Annualized Borrower EBA for the most recently ended
fiscal quarter not to exceed 6.0 times for 30 consee days and (3) a ratio of Annualized Borro&& TDA to Annualized Cash Interest
Expense (calculated in accordance with the SeniediCAgreement) of not less than 2.0 times for isgal quarter. In addition, SBACC's
ratio of Consolidated Total Net Debt to Consolidia#eljusted EBITDA (calculated in accordance with Benior Credit Agreement) for any
fiscal quarter on an annualized basis cannot ex@detimes.

Additionally, the mortgage loan relating to our TewvBecurities contains financial covenants thatireghat the mortgage loan
borrowers maintain, on a consolidated basis, amim debt service coverage ratio. To the extentthetlebt service coverage ratio, as o
end of any calendar quarter, falls to 1.30 time®waer, then all cash flow in excess of amountaiegl to make debt service payments, to
fund required reserves, to pay management feebuaohgkted operating expenses and to make other paymeguired under the loan
documents, referred to as “excess cash flow,” lméldeposited into a reserve account instead ofjlveirased to the Borrowers. The funds in
the reserve account will not be released to thed3aers unless the debt service coverage ratio esce80 times for two consecutive caler
quarters. If the debt service coverage ratio fadlow 1.15 times as of the end of any calendartquahen an “amortization period” will
commence and all funds on deposit in the resergewsd will be applied to prepay the mortgage loatil such time that the debt service
coverage ratio exceeds 1.15 times for a calendateyu

These covenants could place us at a disadvantageared to some of our competitors which may hawefeestrictive covenants and
may not be required to operate under these rastigctFurther, these covenants could have an agleéiesct on our business by limiting our
ability to take advantage of financing, new towevelopment, merger and acquisitions or other oppdiés. If we fail to comply with these
covenants, it could result in an event of defantler our debt instruments. If any default occullsarmounts outstanding under our outstan
notes and the Senior Credit Agreement may becomeitiately due and payable.

17



Table of Contents

Our variable rate indebtedness and refinancing obligations subject usto interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligationsto
increase significantly.

Fluctuations in market interest rates may incréatezest expense relating to our floating rate mddness, which we expect to incur
under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loanaipon refinancing our fixed rate debt. As a resué are exposed to interest rate risk. If
interest rates were to increase, our debt senlitigations on the variable rate indebtedness widrkase even though the amount borrowed
remained the same, and our net income and cash,floaluding cash available for servicing our inelmess, will correspondingly decrease.
There is no guarantee that any future refinancirguo indebtedness will have fixed interest ratethat interest rates on such indebtedness
will be equal to or lower than the rates on ourent indebtedness. In the future, we may enterimtvest rate swaps that involve the
exchange of floating for fixed rate interest payiséen order to reduce interest rate volatility. Hower, we may not maintain interest rate
swaps with respect to all of our variable rate btddness, and any swaps we enter into may notrhitigate our interest rate risk.

Our dependence on our subsidiaries for cash flow may negatively affect our business.

We are a holding company with no business opermatidrour own. Our only significant assets are, aredexpected to be, the
outstanding capital stock and membership intefstsir subsidiaries. We conduct, and expect toinaoatconducting, all of our business
operations through our subsidiaries. Accordingly, ability to pay our obligations is dependent updndends and other distributions from
our subsidiaries to us. Most of our indebtednessvisd directly by our subsidiaries, including thertgage loan underlying the Tower
Securities, the 8.25% Notes, the 5.75% Notes, tenTLoans and any amounts that we may borrow uh@eRevolving Credit Facility.
Consequently, the first use of any cash flow frqmerations generated by such subsidiaries will lyengats of interest and principal, if any,
under their respective indebtedness. Other thanakle required to repay amounts due under ouramdatistg convertible notes, we currently
expect that substantially all the earnings and #lashof our subsidiaries will be retained and usgdhem in their operations, including
servicing their respective debt obligations. Th#itgtof our operating subsidiaries to pay dividsnat transfer assets to us is restricted by
applicable state law and contractual restrictiomduding the terms of their outstanding debt instents.

Our quarterly operating results for our site development services fluctuate and therefore we may not be able to adjust our cost structure on
a timely basis with regard to such fluctuations.

The demand for our site development services fatesufrom quarter to quarter and should not beidered indicative of long-term
results. Numerous factors cause these fluctuatinakiding:

. the timing and amount of our custon’ capital expenditure:

. the size and scope of our projec

. the business practices of customers, such as mef@emmitments on new projects until after the ehthe calendar year or the
customer fiscal year;

. delays relating to a project or tenant installatbequipment

. seasonal factors, such as weather, vacation day®tat business days in a quar
. the use of third party providers by our custom

. the rate and volume of wireless service provi' network development; ar

. general economic conditior
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Although the demand for our site development ses/ituctuates, we incur significant fixed costg;hsas maintaining a staff and office
space, in anticipation of future contracts. In &ddj the timing of revenues is difficult to foretdbecause our sales cycle may be relatively
long. Therefore, we may not be able to adjust ost structure on a timely basis to respond to lthetifations in demand for our site
development services.

We are not profitable and expect to continue to incur losses.
We are not profitable. The following chart shows ttet losses we incurred for the periods indicated:

For the year ended December 3:

2010 2011 2012
(in thousands)
Net loss $(194,42) $(126,89;) $(181,39()

Our losses are principally due to depreciation, dization and accretion expenses, interest exp@nskiding non-cash interest expense
and amortization of deferred financing fees), ams$és from the extinguishment of debt in the perme@sented above. We expect to continue
to incur significant losses, which may affect obility to service our indebtedness.

The loss of the services of certain of our key personnel or a significant number of our employees may negatively affect our business.

Our success depends to a significant extent updarpgance and active participation of our key parss. We cannot guarantee that we
will be successful in retaining the services okthkey personnel. We have employment agreemeritslefrey A. Stoops, our President and
Chief Executive Officer, Kurt L. Bagwell, our Senidice President and President—International, Th@RaHunt, our Senior Vice President,
Chief Administrative Officer and General Counseld 8rendan T. Cavanagh, our Senior Vice PresidethiCGhief Financial Officer. We do
not have employment agreements with any of ourrdteg personnel. If we were to lose any key persgrme may not be able to find an
appropriate replacement on a timely basis andesults of operations could be negatively affeckedther, the loss of a significant numbe
employees or our inability to hire a sufficient noen of qualified employees could have a materiakegk effect on our business.

Our businessis subject to government regulations and changesin current or future regulations could harm our business.

We are subject to federal, state and local reguiadf our business, both in the U.S. and intermatig. In the U.S., both the Federal
Aviation Administration (“FAA”) and the FCC regukathe construction, modification and maintenancarménna towers and structures that
support wireless communications and radio and igt@v antennas. In addition, the FCC separategnbes and regulates wireless
communications equipment and television and rai@itions operating from such towers and structt#@#\ and FCC regulations govern
construction, lighting, painting and marking of tn& and structures and may, depending on the dbéagtics of the tower or structure,
require registration of the tower or structure.t@ierproposals to construct new towers or strustore¢o modify existing towers or structures
are reviewed by the FAA to ensure that the towestiurcture will not present a hazard to air navagat

Antenna tower owners and antenna structure ownayshave an obligation to mark or paint towers ascttires or install lighting to
conform to FAA and FCC regulations and to maintioh marking, painting and lighting. Antenna towemers and antenna structure
owners may also bear the responsibility of notifyihe FAA of any lighting outages. Certain propesaloperate wireless communications
and radio or television stations from antenna teveerd structures are also reviewed by the FCCgorercompliance with
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environmental impact requirements. Failure to cgmyith existing or future applicable requirementayntead to civil penalties or other
liabilities and may subject us to significant indefitation liability to our customers against anych failure to comply. In addition, new
regulations may impose additional costly burdensi@nwvhich may affect our revenues and cause délaysr growth.

Local regulations, including municipal or local orances, zoning restrictions and restrictive comemanposed by community
developers, vary greatly, but typically requireeamita tower and structure owners to obtain appffoval local officials or community
standards organizations prior to tower or structanestruction or modification. Local regulationsadelay, prevent, or increase the cost of
new construction, co-locations, or site upgradesr,eby limiting our ability to respond to custondemand. In addition, new regulations may
be adopted that increase delays or result in additicosts to us. Furthermore, with respect tamernational new builds, our tower
construction may be delayed or halted as a re$idtal zoning restrictions, inconsistencies betwisavs or other barriers to construction in
international markets. These factors could havetenal adverse effect on our future growth andafens.

Our towers are subject to damage from natural disasters.

Our towers are subject to risks associated withrahtlisasters such as tornadoes, hurricanes atidjgakes. We maintain insurance to
cover the estimated cost of replacing damaged ®wkert these insurance policies are subject tolimss and deductibles. We also maintain
third party liability insurance, subject to lossiiis and deductibles, to protect us in the evemtroficcident involving a tower. A tower
accident for which we are uninsured or underinsuoedamage to a significant number of our toweosild require us to incur significant
expenditures and may have a material adverse @ffeatir operations or financial condition.

To the extent that we are not able to meet ourraotual obligations to our customers, due to amhtlisaster or other catastrophic
circumstances, our customers may not be obligatedliing to pay their lease expenses; howeverweeld be required to continue paying
our fixed expenses related to the affected towetuding ground lease expenses. If we are unabigetet our contractual obligations to our
customers for a material portion of our towers, @perations could be materially and adversely éfic

We could have liability under environmental laws that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Our operations, like those of other companies eagag similar businesses, are subject to the rements of various federal, state, Ic
and foreign environmental and occupational safatytzealth laws and regulations, including thosatire to the management, use, storage,
disposal, emission and remediation of, and expasyteazardous and non-hazardous substances, atstarid wastes. As owner, lessee or
operator of numerous tower sites, we may be litdslsubstantial costs of remediating soil and gowater contaminated by hazardous
materials, without regard to whether we, as theenwessee or operator, knew of or were responfiblde contamination. We may be
subject to potentially significant fines or pengitif we fail to comply with any of these requirertee The current cost of complying with th
laws is not material to our financial conditionresults of operations. However, the requirementi@de laws and regulations are complex,
change frequently, and could become more stringethie future. It is possible that these requiretsevill change or that liabilities will arise
in the future in a manner that could have a mdtadeaerse effect on our business, financial coadiind results of operations.

We could suffer adverse tax and other financial consequencesif taxing authorities do not agree with our tax positions, or we are unable to
utilize our net operating losses.

We are periodically subject to a number of tax exations by taxing authorities in the states angntoes where we do business. We
also have significant deferred tax assets relatedit net operating losses (“NOLSs”)
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in U.S. federal and state taxing jurisdictions. &atly, for U.S. federal and state tax purposes|.8l€an be carried forward and used for u
twenty years, and all of our tax years will remsiibject to examination until three years afterd@Ls are used or expire. We expect that we
will continue to be subject to tax examinationgha future. In addition, U.S. federal, state arahlpas well as international, tax laws and
regulations are extremely complex and subject tging interpretations. We recognize tax benefitsiméertain tax positions when we believe
the positions are more likely than not of being@ued upon a challenge by the relevant tax authaffe believe our judgments in this area
are reasonable and correct, but there is no gueadhat we will be successful if challenged byxaaathority. If there are tax benefits,
including from our use of NOLs or other tax attitis that are challenged successfully by a taxiniyasity, we may be required to pay
additional taxes or we may seek to enter intoesatthts with the taxing authorities, which coulduieg significant payments or otherwise
have a material adverse effect on our businessitsed operations and financial condition.

In addition, we may be limited in our ability talite our NOLSs to offset future taxable income dhdreby reduce our otherwise pay:
income taxes. We have substantial federal and Biates, including significant portions obtained thgh acquisitions and dispositions, as
well as those generated through our historic bssimperations. In addition, we have disposed ofesentities and restructured other entities
in conjunction with financing transactions and ethesiness activities.

To the extent we believe that a position with respe an NOL is not more likely than not to be sirstd, we do not record the related
deferred tax asset. In addition, for NOLs that ntketrecognition threshold, we assess the recoiigyalf the NOL and establish a valuation
allowance against the deferred tax asset relatdtetdlOL if recoverability is questionable. Givéretuncertainty surrounding the
recoverability of certain of our NOLs, we have éfished a valuation allowance to offset the relatetkrred tax asset so as to reflect what we
believe to be the recoverable portion of our NOLs.

Our ability to utilize our NOLs is also dependeantpart, upon us having sufficient future earnitgsitilize our NOLs before they
expire. If market conditions change materially areldetermine that we will be unable to generatécsenmt taxable income in the future to
utilize our NOLs, we could be required to recordaaditional valuation allowance. We review our ut&i@ tax position and the valuation
allowance for our NOLs periodically and make adjueshts from time to time, which can result in arré@se or decrease to the net deferred
tax asset related to our NOLs. Our NOLs are aldgestito review and potential disallowance uponitlog the taxing authorities of the
jurisdictions where the NOLs were incurred, andifatchanges in tax laws or interpretations of gagHaws could limit materially our abilit
to utilize our NOLs. If we are unable to use ourld@r use of our NOLs is limited, we may have tdmaignificant payments or otherwise
record charges or reduce our deferred tax asshishwould have a material adverse effect on osimass, results of operations and financial
condition.

Our issuance of equity securities and other associated transactions may trigger a future ownership change which may negatively impact
our ability to utilize net operating loss deferred tax assetsin the future.

The issuance of equity securities and other agsatieansactions may increase the chance that ihave a future ownership change
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Cod®861We may also have a future ownership changsidauof our control, caused by fut
equity transactions by our current shareholderpedding on our market value at the time of suchrubwnership change, an ownership
change under Section 382 could negatively impachbility to utilize our net operating loss defetitax assets in the event we generate fi
taxable income. Currently, we have recorded availliation allowance against our net operating tteferred tax asset because we have
concluded that our loss history indicates that it “more likely than not” that such deferred tessets will be realized.
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Future sales of our Class A common stock in the public market or the issuance of other equity may cause dilution or adversely affect the
market price of our Class A common stock and our ability to raise fundsin new equity or equity-related offerings.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of ours@asommon stock or other equity-related securitighe public market, including
sales by any selling shareholder or conversioruottonvertible notes, could depress the markeemiour Class A common stock and
impair our ability to raise capital through theesaf additional equity securities.

Our costs could increase and our revenues could decrease due to perceived health risks from RF energy.

The U.S. government imposes requirements and gthidelines relating to exposure to RF energy. Expo$o high levels of RF ener
can cause negative health effects. The potentralexdion between exposure to low levels of RF gnargl certain negative health effects,
including some forms of cancer, has been the stibfesubstantial study by the scientific communityecent years. According to the FCC,
the results of these studies to date have beenéhesive. However, public perception of possiblaltierisks associated with cellular and
other wireless communications media could slowgituevth of wireless companies, which could in tuowsour growth. In particular,
negative public perception of, and regulations réiga, health risks could cause a decrease ingh®add for wireless communications
services. Moreover, if a connection between exposutow levels of RF energy and possible negateath effects, including cancer, were
demonstrated, we could be subject to numerous sldfirive were subject to claims relating to expesorRF energy, even if such claims
were not ultimately found to have merit, our finethcondition could be materially and adverselyeaféd.

Our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and Florida law provide for anti-takeover provisionsthat could make it more difficult for a third
party to acquire us.

Provisions of our articles of incorporation, outdws and Florida law could make it more difficudt fa third party to acquire us, even if
doing so would be beneficial to our shareholdeh&sE provisions, alone or in combination with eattter, may discourage transactions
involving actual or potential changes of controtluding transactions that otherwise could invgiagment of a premium over prevailing
market prices to holders of our Class A commonkstoccould limit the ability of our shareholdessdpprove transactions that they may
deem to be in their best interests.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We are headquartered in Boca Raton, Florida, wivereurrently lease approximately 103,000 squaredeeffice space in multiple
buildings. These leases expire at different datesneling through February 28, 2022. We have entietedong-term leases for regional and
certain site development office locations whereewpect our activities to be longer-term. We opeth @ose project offices from time to time
in connection with our site development business.B&lieve our existing facilities are adequateofar current and planned levels of
operations and that additional office space suibe@dur needs is reasonably available in the mankdhin which we operate.

Our interests in towers are comprised of a vaiétige interests, leasehold interests created hy-term lease agreements, perpetual
easements, easements, licenses, rightgagf-and other similar interests. For the quanteled December 31, 2012, approximately 70% of
tower sites were located on parcels of land thabwe, land subject to perpetual easements, or |sap€éand that have an interest that
extends beyond 20 years. The average remainingrider our ground leases, including renewal optiorder our control, has been extended
to 31 years. In rural areas, a wireless commurinatsite typically consists of up to a 10,000 sgdeot tract, which supports towers,
equipment shelters and related equipment. Less2/&#® square feet is required for a monopole brss@porting tower structure of the kind
typically used in metropolitan areas for wirelessenunications tower sites. Land leases generallg ha initial term of five years with five
or more additional automatic renewal periods of fiears, for a total of thirty years or more.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various legal proceedings retatp claims arising in the ordinary course of hass. We do not believe that the
ultimate resolution of these matters will have derial adverse effect on our business, financiab@mn, results of operations or liquidity.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for our Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock commenced trading unadesymbol “SBAC” on The NASDAQ National Market Syst®n June 16, 1999.
We now trade on the NASDAQ Global Select Marketegment of the NASDAQ Global Market, formally knoasmthe NASDAQ National
Market System.

The following table presents the high and low salése for our Class A common stock for the periodBcated:

High Low
Quarter ended December 31, 2012 $71.17 $62.2¢
Quarter ended September 30, 2 $63.22 $55.5¢
Quarter ended June 30, 2C $57.8¢ $49.37
Quarter ended March 31, 20 $51.51 $42.5:
Quarter ended December 31, 2( $43.1:2 $32.3¢
Quarter ended September 30, 2! $40.1: $32.7¢
Quarter ended June 30, 2C $40.3¢ $36.1(
Quarter ended March 31, 20 $44.4¢ $36.3¢

As of February 16, 2013, there were 108 recorddrsldf our Class A common stock.

Dividends

We have never paid a dividend on any class of comshack and anticipate that we will retain futueerengs, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. Consequamd do not anticipate paying cash dividends an@ass A common stock in the
foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to mhyidends is limited by the terms of our debtinstents.

Equity Compensation Plan

Equity Compensation Plan Information
(in thousands except exercise price

Number of Securities Remaini

Number of Securities to Weighted Average Exerci
Available for Future Issuance
Issued Upon Exercise of Price of Outstanding Under Equity Compensation
Outstanding Options, Options, Warrants and Plans (Excluding Securities
Warrants and Right Rights Reflected in first column (a
. . @ (b) ©
Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders
2001 Plar 1,765 $ 26.0¢0 — O
2010 Plar 1,361 $ 37.072 13,54(
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders — —
Total 3,12¢ $ 30.8¢ 13,54(
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@ Included in the number of securities in columnigadpproximately 56,000 restricted stock units,alitiave no exercise price. The
weighted average exercise price of outstandingopfiwarrants and rights (excluding restrictedistouts) is $26.90

@ Included in the number of securities in columnigadpproximately 239,000 restricted stock unitsicivthave no exercise price. The
weighted average exercise price of outstandingogfiwarrants and rights (excluding restrictedlstouts) is $44.9!

®  This plan has been terminated and we are no leeliggble to issue shares pursuant to the

25



Table of Contents

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected historiahncial data as of and for each of the five yearded December 31, 2012. The
financial data for the fiscal years ended 2008,92@010, 2011, and 2012 have been derived fronandited consolidated financial
statements. You should read the information séh foelow in conjunction with our “Management’s Dission and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our cadatéd financial statements and the related notéisoise consolidated financial statements
included in this Form 10-K.

For the year ended December 3:
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
(in thousands, except for per share date

Operating data:

Revenues:
Site leasing $39554: $477,00 $535,44: $616,29: $ 846,09:
Site developmer 79,41 78,50¢ 91,17 81,87¢ 107,99(
Total revenue: 474,95 555,51 626,61¢ 698,17( 954,08:

Operating expenses
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, agmmetnd amortization
shown below)

Cost of site leasin 96,17t 111,84: 119,14: 131,91¢ 188,95:
Cost of site developme 71,99( 68,70: 80,30: 71,00¢ 90,55¢
Selling, general and administrati 48,72 52,78t 58,20¢ 62,82¢ 72,14¢
Asset impairmen 921 3,88¢ 5,86% 5,47 6,38:
Acquisition related expens 12C 4,81( 10,10¢ 7,14¢ 40,43:
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat 211,44! 258,53 278,72’ 309,14¢ 408,46
Total operating expens 429,37. 500,55¢ 552,34t 587,51: 806,93
Operating income 45,58. 54,95¢ 74,27 110,65¢ 147,14
Other income (expense)
Interest incom 6,88: 1,12 432 13€ 1,12¢
Interest expens (105,329 (130,85)  (149,92) (160,890  (196,24)
Non-cash interest expen (33,309 (49,899 (60,070) (63,629 (70,110
Amortization of deferred financing fe (10,746 (10,45¢) (9,099 (9,189 (12,870
(Loss) gain from extinguishment of debt, 44,26¢ (5,66)) (49,060 (1,69¢€) (51,799
Other income (expens (13,479 162 29 (165) 5,65¢
Total other expens (111,709  (195,58) (267,68)  (235,43) (324,23
Loss before provision for income taxe (66,127 (140,627) (193,41 (224,779  (177,09)
Provision for income taxe (1,037 (492) (1,00%) (2,117 (6,599
Loss from continuing operations (67,169 (141,119  (194,42) (126,89))  (183,68¢)
Income from discontinued operations, net of incdaxes — — — — 2,29¢
Net loss (67,169 (141,119 (194,42)  (126,89) (181,39
Net loss (income) attributable to the noncontrgllinterest — 24¢ (259 43€ 353
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporéon $ (67,1649 $(140,87) $(194,679 $(126,450) $(181,03)
Basic and diluted per common share amot
Loss from continuing operatiol $ (©06) $ (120 $ (1689 $ (119 $ (1.59
Income from discontinued operatic — — — — 0.0z
Net loss per common shar $ (06) $ (120 $ (168 $ (119 $ (1.5)
Basic and diluted weighted average number of comshaines 109,88: 117,16! 115,59: 111,59! 120,28
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Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas- current®
Shor-term investment

Property and equipment, r
Intangibles, ne

Total asset

Total debt

Total shareholde’ equity (deficit)@®

Other Data:

Cash provided by (used ir
Operating activitie:
Investing activities
Financing activitie:

As of December 31

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
(in thousands)
$ 78,85¢ $ 161,31 $ 64,25: $ 47,31 $ 233,09¢

38,59¢ 30,28t 29,45¢ 22,26¢ 27,70¢
162 5,352 4,01¢ 5,77: 5,471
1,502,67. 1,496,93 1,534,31 1,583,39 2,671,31
1,425,13. 1,435,59 1,500,01. 1,639,78. 3,134,13
3,207,82! 3,313,641 3,400,17! 3,606,39 6,595,61
2,392,23 2,489,05! 2,827,45! 3,354,48! 5,356,10:
650,51( 599,94¢ 317,11 (11,319 652,99:
For the year ended December 3:
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
(in thousands)

$173,69¢ $22257. $201,14( $249,05¢ $ 340,91
(580,549 (229,07  (425,03) (507,889  (2,275,05)
415,43 88,97¢ 126,82: 242,04 2,116,41.

(1) Restricted cash of $27.7 million as of Decen8ier2012 consisted of $26.8 million related to Tleever Securities loan requirements
and $0.9 million related to surety bonds issuedforbenefit. Restricted cash of $22.3 million 8®ecember 31, 2011 consisted of
$21.4 million related to 2010 Tower Securities loaquirements and $0.9 million related to suretydsissued for our benefit.
Restricted cash of $29.5 million as of December281,0 consisted of $28.6 million related to 201@/&o Securities loan requirements
and $0.9 million related to surety bonds issuedforbenefit. Restricted cash of $30.3 million &®ecember 31, 2009 consisted of
$29.1 million related to CMBS Mortgage loan reqments and $1.2 million related to surety bondsaddor our benefit. Restricted
cash of $38.6 million as of December 31, 2008 «iadiof $36.2 million related to CMBS Mortgage lgaguirements and $2.4 million

related to surety bonds issued for our ben

(2) Includes deferred loss from the terminatiomio interest rate swap agreements of $4.3 mii®of December 31, 2009 and $7.4
million as of December 31, 2008. Includes defegaiuh from the termination of interest rate swapeagrents of $5.9 million as of

December 31, 200!
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in codijiom with the information
contained in our consolidated financial statemearid the notes thereto. The following discussiotuthes forward-looking statements that
involve certain risks and uncertainties, includitgyt not limited to, those described in Item 1AkRtactors. Our actual results may differ
materially from those discussed below. See “Spé¢ié Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” andnltkA. Risk Factors.

We are a leading independent owner and operatoeirefess communications towers. Our principal oplers are in the United States
and its territories. In addition, we own and opetatvers in Canada, Central America and South Azae@®ur primary business line is our
leasing business, which contributed approximat@ly® of our total segment operating profit for ylear ended December 31, 2012. In our
site leasing business, we lease antenna spacediesd service providers on towers and other sirestthat we own, manage or lease from
others. The towers that we own have been constriostelis at the request of a wireless service pesylolilt or constructed based on our own
initiative, or acquired. As of December 31, 2012, ewned 17,491 tower sites, the majority of whielkénbeen built by us or built by other
tower owners or operators who, like us, have lsuitth towers to lease space to multiple wirelessaeproviders. We also managed or le:
approximately 4,800 actual or potential communaraisites, approximately 500 of which were revegmoeelucing as of December 31, 2012.
Our other business line is our site developmeninlegs, through which we assist wireless serviceigens in developing and maintaining
their own wireless service networks.

Site Leasing Services

Our primary focus is the leasing of antenna spaceur multi-tenant towers to a variety of wirelagsvice providers under long-term
lease contracts in the United States, Canada, &exirerica and South America. Site leasing revemueseceived primarily from wireless
service provider tenants, including AT&T, SprinigNzon Wireless, TMobile, Digicel, Claro, and Telefonica. Wireless\dee providers entt
into numerous different tenant leases with us, edebhich relates to the lease or use of space atdividual tower site. In the United States
and Canada our tenant leases are generally faiita@d term of five to ten years with five 5-yeamewal periods at the option of the tenant.
These tenant leases typically contain specific esotilators, which average 3-4% per year, inclutisgenewal option periods. Tenant leases
in our Central and South America markets typichHye an initial term of 10 years with 5-year reniepeaiods. In Central America, we have
similar rent escalators to that of leases in the¢ddrStates and Canada while our leases in Soutsridentypically escalate in accordance with
a standard cost of living index.

Cost of site leasing revenue primarily consists of:

. Rental payments on ground leases and other undegnyoperty interest:

. Straight-line rent adjustment for the differencénmen rental payments made and the expense recasdéthe payments
had been made evenly throughout the lease terncljwhay include renewal terms) of the underlyingperty interests

. Property taxes

. Site maintenance and monitoring costs (exclusivengbloyee related cost:

. Utilities;

. Property insurance; ar

. Deferred lease origination cost amortizati
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Ground leases are generally for an initial terrfivef years or more with multiple renewal terms iw&fyear periods at our option and
provide for rent escalators which typically aver8g4% annually or provide for term escalators giragimately 15%. Of the 17,491 tower
sites we owned as of December 31, 2012, approxiyn&®8o were located on parcels of land that we demmgl subject to perpetual easeme
or parcels of land in which we have a leaseholdtier interest that extends beyond 20 years. Rogaen tower, costs are relatively fixed
over a monthly or an annual time period. As sugerating costs for owned towers do not generaltyeiase as a result of adding additional
customers to the tower. The amount of direct cast®ciated with operating a tower varies fromtsitsite depending on the taxing
jurisdiction and the height and age of the towéae Bngoing maintenance requirements are typicaiymnal and include replacing lightir
systems, painting a tower or upgrading or repaiaingccess road or fencing.

As indicated in the table below, our site leasingibess generates substantially all of our totgir@ant operating profit. For information
regarding our operating segments, see Note 21rofonsolidated Financial Statements included is &éminual report.

Revenues
For the year ended December 3.
2010 2011 2012
(in thousands)
Site leasing revent $535,44. $616,29: $846,09:
Total revenue $626,61¢ $698,17( $954,08:
Site leasing revenue percentage of total reve 85.4% 88.2% 88.7%

Segment Operating Profit
For the year ended December 3.

2010 2011 2012
(in thousands)
Site leasing segment operating pr $416,30: $484,37! $657,14:
Total segment operating pro® $427,17 $495,24¢ $674,57"
Site leasing segment operating profit percentagetaf segment
operating profit® 97.5% 97.8% 97.4%

(1) Site leasing segment operating profit and teégiment operating profit are non-GAAP financiabswees. We reconcile these measures
and other Regulation G disclosures in this annebit in the section entitled N-GAAP Financial Measure

We believe that over the long-term, site leasingneies will continue to grow as wireless serviaavigters lease additional antenna
space on our towers due to increasing minutestefark use and data transfer, network expansionmnatork coverage requirements. We
believe our site leasing business is charactehyestable and long-term recurring revenues, prabietoperating costs and minimal non-
discretionary capital expenditures. Due to thetineddy young age and mix of our tower portfolio, wepect future expenditures required to
maintain these towers to be minimal. Consequenidyexpect to grow our cash flows by (1) adding tés& our towers at minimal
incremental costs by using existing tower capamitiequiring wireless service providers to beaoalh portion of the cost of tower
modifications and (2) executing monetary amendmasitwireless service providers upgrade their eqeigniurthermore, because our tov
are strategically positioned and our customershflyi do not relocate, we have historically expecied low tenant lease terminations as a
percentage of revenue.
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Site Development Services

Our site development business, which is conduceteédd United States only, is complementary to derleasing business and provides
us the ability to keep in close contact with thealdss service providers who generate substantllbf our site leasing revenue and to
capture ancillary revenues that are generated bgitileasing activities, such as antenna andcoaggnt installation at our tower locations.
Site development services revenues are receivethly from providing a full range of end to endhdees to wireless service providers or
companies providing development or project manageservices to wireless service providers. Ourisesvinclude: (1) network pre-design;
(2) site audits; (3) identification of potentiatktions for towers and antennas; (4) support inrgugr leasing of the location; (5) assistance in
obtaining zoning approvals and permits; (6) towed eelated site construction; (7) antenna instaliatand (8) radio equipment installation,
commissioning and maintenance.

For information regarding our operating segmergs,sote 21 of our Consolidated Financial Statemieataded in this annual report.

International Operations

As of December 31, 2012, we had operations in Can@dsta Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragamama, and Brazil. Our
operations in these countries are solely in thelsdsing business, and we expect to expand opesdtirough new builds and acquisitions.
Tenant leases in the Canadian market typically lsawéar terms and conditions as those in the Wn8&ates, with an initial term of five
years, and specific rent escalators. Tenant leagésntral America and Brazil typically have a tezar initial term. Tenant leases in Cen
America typically have similar renewal terms andtrescalators as those in the United States andd2amhile those in Brazil are based on a
standard cost of living index.

In our Central American markets, significantly @fllour revenue, expenses, and capital expendituigisng from our new build activitit
are denominated in U.S. dollars. Specifically, ground leases, our tenant leases and most of wer t@lated expenses are due, and paid, in
U.S. dollars. In our Central American markets, logal currency obligations are principally limiteal (1) permitting and other local fees,

(2) utilities and (3) taxes. In our Canadian and4ilian operations, significantly all of our revenexpenses and capital expenditures,
including tenant leases, ground leases and oth@rimelated expenses, are denominated in locatoayr
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have identified the policies and significaniraation processes below as critical to our busio@esations and the understanding of
our results of operations. The listing is not ited to be a comprehensive list. In many casesdbeunting treatment of a particular
transaction is specifically dictated by accountimimciples generally accepted in the United Statéth, no need for management’s judgment
in their application. In other cases, managemergdsired to exercise judgment in the applicatibagzounting principles with respect to
particular transactions. The impact and any astatiasks related to these policies on our busingssations is discussed throughout
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” where suclicfgd affect reported and expected
financial results. For a detailed discussion onaplication of these and other accounting policgeg Note 2 of our Consolidated Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 20di2died herein. Our preparation of our financiatesteents requires us to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amouassdts and liabilities, disclosure of contingesetsand liabilities at the date of our
financial statements, and the reported amountswaitue and expenses during the reporting periodealjement bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumgtihat are believed to be reasonable under ttenastances. There can be no assurance
that actual results will not differ from those estites and such differences could be significant.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

Revenue from site leasing is recorded monthly asdgnized on a straight-line basis over the cutiesm of the related lease
agreements, which are generally five to ten ydeseivables recorded related to the straight-linihgjte leases are reflected in other assets
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rental amoeres/ed in advance are recorded as deferred revamthe Consolidated Balance She

Site development projects in which we perform cdtirtsyiservices include contracts on a time and neltebasis or a fixed price basis.
Time and materials based contracts are billed miractual rates as the services are renderedhbse site development contracts in whict
perform work on a fixed price basis, site developtim@lling (and revenue recognition) is based and¢bmpletion of agreed upon phases of
the project on a per site basis. Upon the complaifceach phase on a per site basis, we recogmzeetvenue related to that phase. Site
development projects generally take from 3 to 12th®to complete.

Revenue from construction projects is recognizethemercentage-of-completion method of accountietgermined by the percentage
of cost incurred to date compared to managemestimated total cost for each contract. This metbaged because management considers
total cost to be the best available measure ofrpesgon the contracts. These amounts are basedioaies, and the uncertainty inherent in
the estimates initially is reduced as work on thetiacts nears completion. The asset “costs aimdasd earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts” represents costs incurrdderenues recognized in excess of amounts billee liability “billings in excess of costs
and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracislfided within other current liabilities on our Gotidated Balance Sheets, represents
billings in excess of costs incurred and reveneesgnized. Provisions for estimated losses on upkied contracts are made in the peric
which such losses are determined to be probable.

On October 31, 2011, we entered into a Master Ammemd with one of our wireless service provider oostrs. The Master
Amendment serves as a separate amendment to efddual existing tenant lease agreement that wecarrently a party to with that
customer. Among other items, the Master AmendmBn¢xtends the current term of the individual lsag2) permits the customer limited
early termination rights which will be exercisabher a multiyear period, commencing in the second half of 20b3a specific number of tl
existing leases, (3) allows the customer to makeicespecific equipment changes at the tower gitexchange for an increase in monthly
rental payment due from the customer, and (4) gjighodifies the existing monthly lease rates at@i@ leases. The customer’s early
termination rights are limited with respect to dggregate
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number of leases that may be terminated and thdeuthat may be terminated in any quarter. Theipégases to be terminated early and
the timing of such terminations has not been ddtexdhas of the date of this filing. As a result, &counting and financial statement
purposes, we have made assumptions with regate tieases to be terminated and the timing of ttmit@tions. We have assumed that the
customer will terminate the maximum number of lsagéowable in each quarter, selecting the higtergtal rate leases at the earliest
allowable dates. We believe that these assumptiilhensure that only the minimum known revenuetfog pool of leases covered by the
Master Agreement will be accrued on a straight-basis. Our balance sheet and statement of opesatflect these assumptions. The actual
leases that the customer terminates and the tiemdghumber of terminations may or may not be thloaewe have identified in our
assumptions. We will monitor actual results andtéas under the Master Amendment and record difgreinces from previously made
assumptions on a quarterly basis. To the extenhtlieaactual results materially differ from the @sptions made, we will disclose the impact
of these adjustments.

We perform periodic credit evaluations of our castos. We monitor collections and payments fromaustomers and maintain a
provision for estimated credit losses based upstotical experience, specific customer collectgsues identified, and past due balances as
determined based on contractual terms. Interestasged on outstanding receivables from customeesaase by case basis in accordance
with the terms of the respective contracts or agesgs with those customers. Amounts determinee tortzollectible are written off against
the allowance for doubtful accounts in the perioavhich uncollectibility is determined to be probab

Asset | mpairment

We evaluate individual long-lived and related ass@th finite lives for indicators of impairment ttetermine when an impairment
analysis should be performed. We evaluate our t@assets and current contract intangibles at thernttavel, which is the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows exists. We evaluate wetwork location intangibles for impairment la¢ tower leasing business level whenever
indicators of impairment are present. We have é&steddl a policy to at least annually evaluate ourdr assets and current contract intang
for impairment.

We record an impairment charge when we believaa@stment in towers or related assets has beenradpauch that future
undiscounted cash flows would not recover the tharent carrying value of the investment in theaowite and related intangible. Estimates
and assumptions inherent in the impairment evaloaticlude, but are not limited to, general mag®d economic conditions, historical
operating results, geographic location, lease-uprg@l and expected timing of lease-up. In additive make certain assumptions in
determining an asset’s fair value for the purpdseatculating the amount of an impairment charge.

Property Tax Expense

We typically receive natifications and invoicesaimears for property taxes associated with theittdangersonal property and real
property used in our site leasing business. Asaltrave recognize property tax expense, whiclkflected as a component of site leasing cost
of revenue, based on our best estimate of antagipatoperty tax payments related to the currenogeWe consider several factors in
establishing this estimate, including our histdriesel of incurred property taxes, the locatiorthod property, our awareness of jurisdictional
property value assessment methods and industtgdgtaoperty tax information. If our estimates melijgg anticipated property tax expenses
are incorrect, a future increase or decreaseeresiising cost of revenue may be required.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This report contains certain non-GAAP measuredudisg Segment Operating Profit and Adjusted EBITDformation. We have
provided below a description of such non-GAAP measua reconciliation of such non-GAAP measurdléd most directly comparable
GAAP measures and an explanation as to why managartikzes these measures.

Segment Operating Profit:

We believe that Segment Operating Profit is anciadir of the operating performance of our siteitepand site development segments
and is used to provide management with the alidityjonitor the operating results and margin of esedgment, while excluding the impact of
depreciation, accretion and amortization, whiclaigely fixed and non-cash in nature. Segment Qimgr#rofit is not intended to be an
alternative measure of revenue or segment gross asadetermined in accordance with GAAP.

For the year endec Percentagt For the year ended Percentag¢
December 31, December 31,
Dollar Dollar
Segment Operating Profit 2012 2011 Change Change 2011 2010 Change Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)

Site leasing $657,140 $484,37¢ $172,76" 35.7% $484,37¢ $416,30: $68,07¢ 16.4%
Site developmer 17,43« 10,87 6,56: 60.4% 10,87 10,87¢ (3) 0.C%

Total $674,57 $495,24¢ $179,32¢ 36.2% $495,24¢ $427,17 $68,07: 15.%

The increase in site leasing segment operatingtmo$172.8 million in 2012 is primarily due to ditional profit generated by the
towers that we acquired or constructed in ther#i#df of 2011 and during the year ended DecembePB12, organic site leasing growth
from new leases, contractual rent escalators, eagblamendments with current tenants which inaleghserelated rent to reflect additional
equipment added to our towers, control of ourlsiésing cost of revenue, and the positive impacuofground lease purchase program.

The increase in site leasing segment operatingt@mo$68.1 million in 2011 is primarily related swiditional profit generated by the
revenues from the towers that we acquired or cocid in the latter half of 2010 and subsequeldoember 31, 2010, organic site leasing
growth from new leases, contractual rent escalasord lease amendments with current tenants wharkésed the related rent to reflect
additional equipment added to our towers in the yaaed December 31, 2011, control of our siteigasost of revenue, and the positive
impact of our ground lease purchase program.

The increase in site development segment operptiofg of $6.6 million in 2012 is primarily due the higher volume of work
performed compared to the prior year associateld tivé deployment of next generation networks byless carriers including Sprint’s
Network Vision initiative.

Each respective Segment Operating Profit is defasesegment revenues less segment cost of rev@axehsding depreciation,
accretion and amortization). Total Segment Opegdirofit is the total of the operating profits béttwo segments. The reconciliation of
Segment Operating Profit is as follows:

Site leasing segmer
For the year ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Segment revent $ 846,09« $ 616,29« $ 535,44«
Segment cost of revenues (excluding depreciaticeretion and
amortization) (188,95) (131,919 (119,14)
Segment operating pro $ 657,141 $ 484,37t $ 416,30:

33



Table of Contents

Segment revent
Segment cost of revenues (excluding depreciaticaretion and
amortization)

Segment operating pro

Adjusted EBITDA

Site development segmer

For the year ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
$107,99( $81,87¢ $91,17¢
(90,556) (71,00%) (80,30)
$ 17,43¢ $ 10,87 $ 10,87

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss excluding ithpact of net interest expenses, provision foesaxiepreciation, accretion and
amortization, asset impairment and other chargas,cash compensation, net loss from extinguishrokdébt, other income and expenses,
acquisition related expenses, non-cash straightidiasing revenue, non-cash strailiie-ground lease expense, and income from distoed

operations.

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an indicatortioé financial performance of our core businessefugied EBITDA is a component
of the calculation that has been used by our lenedetermine compliance with certain covenantietuour Senior Credit Agreement, 8.25%
Notes, 5.625% Notes, and 5.75% Notes. Adjusted EBITs not intended to be an alternative measurepefating income or gross prc

margin as determined in accordance with GAAP.

The reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA is as follows

Net loss
Interest incomt
Total interest expens®
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat
Asset impairmen
Provision for taxe(
Loss from extinguishment of debt, r
Acquisition related expens
Non-cash compensatic
Non-cash straigl-line leasing revenu
Non-cash straigl-line ground lease expen
Other (income) expen:
Income from discontinued operatic

Adjusted EBITDA

For the year ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

$(181,39()  $(126,89)  $(194,42)
(1,129) (13€) (432)
279,22: 233,71: 219,09(
408,46" 309,14¢ 278,72
6,38: 5,472 5,862
7,68¢ 4,091 2,90¢
51,79¢ 1,69¢ 49,06(
40,43: 7,14¢ 10,10¢
13,96¢ 11,46¢ 10,50:
(52,009 (12,767) (5,28¢)
22,46 11,81 11,30(
(5,659 165 (29

(2,296) - -
$ 587,94t $ 444,91 $ 387,37!

(1) Total interest expense includes cash interest esqeator-cash interest expense and amortization of deféimadcing fees
(2) Includes $1,095, $1,978 and $1,899 of franctazes reflected on the Statement of Operatiosglimg, general and administrative

expenses for the year ended 2012, 2011 and 203k atvely.
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Adjusted EBITDA was $587.9 million for the year eddDecember 31, 2012 as compared to $444.9 mfiothe year ended
December 31, 2011. The increase of $143.0 milkoprimarily the result of increased segment opegatrofit from our site leasing and site
development segments offset partially by the ingeda our cash selling, general, and administragigenses.

Adjusted EBITDA was $444.9 million for the year eddDecember 31, 2011 as compared to $387.4 mfliothe year ended
December 31, 2010. The increase of $57.5 milligorimarily the result of increased segment opegapirofit from our site leasing segment.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended 2012 Compared to Year Ended 2011

For the year ended December 3! Percentag¢
Dollar
2012 2011 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentage:
Revenues:
Site leasing $ 846,09 $ 616,29« $229,80( 37.2%
Site developmer 107,99( 81,87¢ 26,11 31.9%

Total revenue 954,08« 698,17( 255,91« 36.7%

Operating expenses:
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, agmmetnd
amortization shown below

Cost of site leasin 188,95: 131,91¢ 57,03t 43.2%
Cost of site developme 90,55¢ 71,00¢ 19,551 27.5%
Selling, general and administrati 72,14¢ 62,82¢ 9,32( 14.£%
Asset impairmen 6,38 5,472 911 16.€%
Acquisition related expens 40,43: 7,144 33,28¢ 466.(%
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat 408,46 309,14t 99,32 32.1%
Total operating expens 806,93 587,51: 219,42 37.%%
Operating income 147,14¢ 110,65¢ 36,48 33.(%
Other income (expense)
Interest incomt 1,12¢ 13€ 99z 729.%%
Interest expens (196,24) (160,896 (35,349 22.(%
Non-cash interest expen (70,110 (63,629 (6,48)) 10.2%
Amortization of deferred financing fe: (22,870) (9,18¢) (3,687) 40.1%
Loss from extinguishment of debt, r (51,799 (1,696 (50,109 2954.2%
Other (expense) incon 5,65¢ (165) 5,81¢ (3526.7%)
Total other expens (324,23)) (235,439 (88,800 37.1%
Loss before provision for income taxe (177,09) (124,779 (52,319 41.9%
Provision for income taxe (6,599 (2,119 (4,48)) 212.1%
Loss from continuing operations (183,68¢) (126,89 (56,799 44.8%
Income from discontinued operations, net of incdaxes 2,29¢ — 2,29¢ 0.C%
Net loss (181,39() (126,89 (54,499 42.%
Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling intél 353 43€ (83) (19.0%)
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporéon $ (181,03) $ (126,450 $(54,58)) 43.2%
Revenues:

Site leasing revenue increased $229.8 milliontierytear ended December 31, 2012 largely due tev@nues from towers acquired in
the latter half of fiscal year 2011 and during ylear ended December 31, 2012 including $125.7aniltif additional revenue from the
Mobilitie and TowerCo acquisitions, (ii) Towers adructed in the latter half of 2011 and during year ended December 31, 2012,

(iii) organic site leasing growth from new leasesntractual rent escalators with current tenantgslease amendments with current tenants
which increased the related rent to reflect addéiequipment added to our towers, and (iv) inerdatraight-line leasing revenue associated
with the Sprint Network Vision Agreement enteretbim the fourth quarter of 2011 and the mastesdemmendment entered into with T-
Mobile in September 2012.
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Site development revenue increased $26.1 millionHe year ended December 31, 2012, as compaibe §ear ended December 31,
2011, as a result of a higher volume of work penfed during 2012 as compared to 2011 associatedhédtdeployment of next generation
networks by wireless carriers including Sprint'stierk Vision initiative.

Operating Expenses:

Site leasing cost of revenues increased $57 mifiiamarily as a result of the growth in the numbetower sites owned by us, includi
$31.3 million (the majority of which is reimbursaltb us) from the Mobilitie towers acquired in 8econd quarter and $17.9 million from the
TowerCo towers acquired in the fourth quarter.

Site development cost of revenues increased $18i6mfor the year ended December 31, 2012, aspamed to the prior year due to a
higher volume of work performed during 2012 as camep to 2011 associated with the deployment of gereration networks by wireless
carriers including Sprint’s Network Vision initiat.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses as@é $9.3 million primarily as a result of an irmge in personnel, salaries and ben:
and non-cash compensation expense due in pam ©Bdmpany’s continued portfolio expansion as wektasts incurred in connection with
our international expansion.

Acquisition related expenses increased $33.3 mifiar the year ended December 31, 2012, as compauitbe prior year, primarily as a
result of an increase in acquisition and integratelated expenses related to tower acquisitiongusition related costs incurred during the
year ended December 31, 2012 associated with thelitband TowerCo acquisitions were $30.6 milli

Depreciation, accretion and amortization expensesased $99.3 million to $408.5 million for the yeaded December 31, 2012 from
$309.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 to an increase in the number of tower sitédsdnd acquired by us, including
through the Mobilitie and TowerCo acquisitions. Begation, accretion, and amortization expenserdazbduring the year ended
December 31, 2012 includes $73.1 million relateMtbilitie and TowerCo.

Operating Income:

Operating income increased $36.5 million for yeadesl December 31, 2012 to $147.1 million compaoekiltL0.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011 primarily due to highemseg operating profit in both the site leasing aite development segments offset by
increases in depreciation, accretion and amortizatkpense, acquisition related expenses, andgefieneral and administrative expenses.

Other Income (Expense):

Interest expense for the year ended December 32, id@reased $35.3 million from the year ended Ddsms 31, 2011 primarily due to
the higher weighted average principal amount ofiéaterest bearing debt outstanding during the yaaled December 31, 2012 as compared
to December 31, 2011 resulting from the issuandb@®011 Term Loan, 2012-1 Term Loan, 5.75% Ndv&shilitie Bridge Loan, 2012
Tower Securities, 5.625% Notes, and the 2212rm Loan. These were offset by the full redemptif $375.0 million of principal balance
the 8.0% Notes and the redemption of $131.3 mililoaggregate principal balance of the 8.25% Notes.

Non-cash interest expense for the year ended Demre®ih 2012 increased $6.5 million from the yeateghDecember 31, 2011
primarily as a result of accretion of debt discewming the effective interest method on the
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1.875% Notes, the 4.0% Notes, and the Senior Notés.was offset by the repurchase of $15.0 milllprincipal amount of the 1.875%
Notes in the first quarter of 2011, the repurchzs®66.2 million in principal amount of the 1.875%tes in the fourth quarter of 2012, anc
the redemption of $375.0 million of the 8.0% No&esl $131.3 million of the 8.25% Notes in 2012.

Loss from extinguishment of debt was $51.8 millfionthe year ended December 31, 2012, an increfeb®00l million from the year
ended December 31, 2011. The increase reflecigrémium paid on the redemption of $375.0 millioroaf 8.0% Notes and $131.3 million
of our 8.25% Notes and the write off of their rethtdebt discount and deferred financing fees @& $lllion and $7.7 million, respectively.
Additionally, the loss includes the write off of $3million of deferred financing fees related te #marly extinguishment of the Mobilitie
Bridge Loan and $2.0 million from the repurchas&®.2 million of principal balance of the 1.875%tlls. Comparatively, the loss from
extinguishment of debt was $1.7 million for the yeaded December 31, 2011 which was due to theckase of $15.0 million in principal
amount of the 1.875% Notes.

Net Loss:

Net loss was $181.4 million for the year ended Dewer 31, 2012 as compared to $126.9 million forys& ended December 31, 20
The net loss increased in 2012 primarily due todases in the loss on extinguishment of debt, attopr related expenses, depreciation,
accretion, and amortization expense as well asdst@xpense, non-cash interest expense, andygsgléneral, and administrative costs. This
was offset by an increase in our site leasing satjared site development segment operating profit.
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Year Ended 2011 Compared to Year Ended 2010

For the year ended December 3. Percentage
Dollar
2011 2010 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentage:
Revenues:
Site leasing $ 616,29 $ 535,44 $ 80,85( 15.1%
Site developmer 81,87¢ 91,17¢ (9,299 (10.2%)
Total revenue 698,17( 626,61¢ 71,55! 11.4%
Operating expenses
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, agmmetnd
amortization shown below
Cost of site leasin 131,91¢ 119,14: 12,77* 10.7%
Cost of site developme 71,00¢ 80,30: (9,296 (11.€%)
Selling, general and administrati 62,82¢ 58,20¢ 4,61¢ 7.%
Asset impairmen 5,472 5,86z (390 (6.7%)
Acquisition related expens: 7,14¢ 10,10¢ (2,967) (29.2%)
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat 309,14¢ 278,72 30,41¢ 10.%
Total operating expens 587,51: 552,34t 35,16¢ 6.4%
Operating income 110,65¢ 74,27 36,38¢ 49.(%
Other income (expense)
Interest incom 13€ 432 (29€) (68.5%)
Interest expens (160,896 (149,92) (20,97 7.3%
Non-cash interest expen (63,629 (60,070 (3,559 5.8%
Amortization of deferred financing fe: (9,189 (9,099 (89) 1.C%
Loss from extinguishment of debt, r (1,696 (49,060) 47,36¢ (96.5%)
Other income (165) 29 (194) (669.(%)
Total other expens (235,439 (267,689 32,25! (12.%)
Loss before provision for income taxe (124,779 (193,416 68,63’ (35.5%)
Provision for income taxe (2,119 (1,009 (1,109 110.2%
Net loss (126,89 (194,42)) 67,52¢ (34.7%)
Net (gain) loss attributable to the noncontrollintgrest 43¢€ (259 68¢ (272.2%)
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporéon $ (126,450 $ (194,679 $ 68,21¢ (35.(%)
Revenues

Site leasing revenue increased $80.9 million ferytear ended December 31, 2011 largely due todgroc site leasing growth from
new leases, contractual rent escalators with cutesrants and lease amendments with current temdmich increased the related rent to
reflect additional equipment added to our toweid @ revenues from the towers that we acquiredasrstructed in the latter half of 2010 ¢

subsequent to December 31, 2010.

Site development revenue decreased $9.3 milliothoyear ended December 31, 2011, as comparée fear ended December 31,

2010, as a result of a lower volume of work perfedncompared to the prior year.

Operating Expenses

Site leasing cost of revenues increased $12.8amifirimarily as a result of the growth in the numbfetower sites owned by us, which
was 10,524 at December 31, 2011 up from 9,111 e¢mber 31, 2010 offset by the positive impact ofgnound lease purchase program.
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Site development cost of revenues decreased $¥i8mior the year ended December 31, 2011, as ewatpto the prior year, as a
result of a lower volume of work performed durin@l2 as compared to 2010.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses &s@é $4.6 million primarily as a result of an irge in salaries, benefits and other
employee related expenses resulting primarily feomigher number of employees, increased non-casip&asation expense as well as costs
incurred in connection with our international exgian.

Acquisition related expenses decreased $3.0 milbothe year ended December 31, 2011, as comparhe prior year, primarily as a
result of the timing of due diligence and otheruwsition related costs for towers acquired or urmetract in 2011 compared to 2010.

We recognized an asset impairment charge of $3lbmior the year ended December 31, 2011 and 86li8n for the year ended
December 31, 2010. These asset impairment chaggekad from a reevaluation of future cash flowemtptions, using a discounted cash
flow analysis, for those towers that have not aghieexpected lease-up results, compared to thiedeheet book value of those towers.

Depreciation, accretion and amortization expenseeased $30.4 million to $309.1 million for the yeaded December 31, 2011 from
$278.7 million for the year ended December 31, 201€®to an increase in the number of towers amitéged intangible assets owned for
year ended December 31, 2011 compared to thosedomirizecember 31, 201

Operating Income

Operating income increased $36.4 million for yeadesl December 31, 2011 to $110.7 million compavekiré.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010 primarily due to highemseyg operating profit in the site leasing segméisied by increases in depreciation,
accretion and amortization expense, and sellingeiged and administrative expenses.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest income decreased $0.3 million for the yeated December 31, 2011 compared to the year éelsember 31, 2010 primarily
as a result of a lower amount of investments halihd 2011 compared to 2010.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, id@reased $11.0 million from the year ended Désms 31, 2010 primarily due to
the higher weighted average amount of cash-intéessting debt outstanding driven by an issuan@er@w $500.0 million Term Loan in
June 30, 2011. This increase was offset by a loveéghted average interest rate on borrowings fery#ar ended December 31, 2011 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2010.

Non-cash interest expense for the year ended Demre®ih 2011 increased $3.6 million from the yeateehDecember 31, 2010
primarily as a result of accretion of debt discawming the effective interest method on the 1.8R&#es, the 4.0% Notes, and the Senior
Notes, offset by a reduction of accretion due talfpayoff of the 0.375% Notes in December of 2(

The loss from extinguishment of debt of $1.7 millifor the year ended December 31, 2011 is assdaidth the repurchase of $15.0
million of the 1.875% Notes in the first quarter2@fl1. The net loss from extinguishment of del#48.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 is associated with the repaynfahe outstanding balance of $938.6 million impipal of our 2006 CMBS Certificates.
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Net Loss

Net loss was $126.9 million for the year ended Dawer 31, 2011 as compared to $194.4 million forys& ended December 31, 20
The net loss decreased in 2011 primarily due timer@ase in site leasing segment operating protitaadecrease in loss from the
extinguishment of debt, offset by increases inregeexpense, non-cash interest expense, and dgecaccretion and amortization
expense.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

SBA Communications Corporation is a holding compwaitih no business operations of its own. SBA Comirations’ only significant
asset is the outstanding capital stock of Telecomaations, which is also a holding company that wquity interests in entities that dire:
or indirectly own all of our domestic and intermaial towers and assets. We conduct all of our legsimperations through
Telecommunications’ subsidiaries. Accordingly, oaty source of cash to pay our obligations, othantfinancings, is distributions with
respect to our ownership interest in our subsiegfiom the net earnings and cash flow generatélidse subsidiaries.

A summary of our cash flows is as follows:

For the years ended December 3.
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Summary cash flow informatiol

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 340,91 $ 249,05¢ $ 201,141
Cash used in investing activiti (2,275,05) (507,889 (425,03
Cash provided by financing activiti 2,116,41; 242,04 126,82.
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivi 182,27! (16,787 (97,079
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaéts 1,21z (155) 15
Cash provided by discontinued operations from dpeya
activities 2,29¢ — —
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 47,31¢ 64,25¢ 161,31
Cash and cash equivalents, end of $ 233,09 $ 47,31¢ $ 64,25

Sources of Liquidity

We fund our growth, including our tower portfolicogvth, through cash flows from operations, long¥téndebtedness and equity
issuances. With respect to our debt financing, awehssued secured and unsecured debt instruntergg@us levels of our organizational
structure to minimize our financing costs while fimaizing our operational flexibility.

Cash provided by operating activities was $340.8anifor the year ended December 31, 2012 as coetp@ $249.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011. This increase wasply due to an increase in segment operatingtdromm the site leasing segme
partially offset by increased cash interest payseglating to the higher average amount of casdrést bearing debt outstanding for the year
ended December 31, 2012, compared to the samedperibe prior year.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we boac&®84.0 million and repaid $484.0 million undez fRevolving Credit Facility.
As of December 31, 2012, the availability underRevolving Credit Facility was $600.0 million, sabf to compliance with financial ratios.
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On March 7, 2012, we sold 6,005,000 shares of ¢as<CA common stock at $47.30 per share resultimgaceeds of $283.9 million,
net of related fees.

On April 2, 2012, we completed our acquisition fod £quity interests in certain entities affiliateidh Mobilitie LLC. In connection witl
the acquisition, we paid approximately $850 milliarcash, which we funded from (i) borrowings undar Revolving Credit Facility and
(i) $400 million from a new bridge loan (“Mobilei Bridge Loan”). Additionally, we issued 5,250,08tares of our Class A common stock.

On May 9, 2012, we obtained a new $200.0 milliom@esecured term loan (“2012-1 Term Loan”).

On July 13, 2012, we issued $800 million of ousBs7unsecured senior notes due July 15, 2020 atiffainterest due semi-annually
on July 15 and January 15 of each year beginningaonary 15, 2013.

On August 9, 2012, we issued $610 million of th& 20 Tower Securities (as defined below) which havanticipated repayment date
of December 2017 and a final maturity date of Ddwem2042. The fixed coupon interest rate of the22DTower Securities is 2.933% per
annum, payable monthly.

On September 6, 2012, we sold certain DAS netwiodated in New York, Chicago and Las Vegas, to EgteSystems, Inc. for
approximately $94.3 million in cash and $25 milliorthe form of a promissory note. On October 28,2 an additional DAS network in
Auburn, Alabama was sold to ExteNet for cash carsition of $5.7 million.

On September 28, 2012, we issued $500 million 0f50825% unsecured senior notes due October 1, 204&r with interest payable
semi-annually on October 1 and April 1 of each ybaginning on April 1, 2013.

On September 28, 2012, we obtained a new $300omi#012-2 Term Loan (as defined below).

On October 1, 2012, the Company, through its whollned subsidiary, completed the acquisition of €d®o Il Holdings LLC, which
owned 3,256 tower sites in 47 states across thedtidbPuerto Rico. As consideration for the actjaisi the Company paid $1.2 billion in
cash and issued 4,588,840 shares of its Class Anoonstock.

Registration Statements

We have on file with the Commission a shelf registn statement on Form4&registering shares of Class A common stock theammay
issue in connection with the acquisition of wireleesmmunication towers or antenna sites and rekeets or companies who own wireless
communication towers, antenna sites or relatedsd3aring the year ended December 31, 2012, wadlidgssue any shares of Class A
common stock under this registration statemenbfA3ecember 31, 2012, we had approximately 1.7onilshares of Class A common stock
remaining under this shelf registration statement.

On February 27, 2012, we filed with the Commissaorautomatic shelf registration statement for \athwn seasoned issuers on Form
S-3ASR. This registration statement enables us teisbares of our Class A common stock, prefer@ksir debt securities either separa
or represented by warrants, or depositary shareelhas units that include any of these securitigeder the rules governing automatic shelf
registration statements, we will file a prospecupplement and advise the Commission of the amanuhtype of securities each time we
issue securities under this registration statentemtthe year ended December 31, 2012, we iss08% 800 shares of our Class A common
stock under the automatic shelf registration statgrand the prospectus supplement related thereto.

Uses of Liquidity

We believe that our principal use of liquidity wile to fund tower portfolio growth and, secondattityfund our stock repurchase
program. In the future, in order to manage ourtage and liquidity positions, we may repurchasecésh or equity, our outstanding
indebtedness in privately-negotiated or open markesactions in order to optimize our liquidityddeverage and take advantage of market
opportunities. If we undertake debt repurchasesxohanges, these actions could materially impacathount and composition of
indebtedness outstanding or dilute our existingediaders.
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Our cash capital expenditures, including cash @izedcquisitions, for the year ended December 8122vere $2,371.9 million. The
$2,371.9 million includes cash capital expenditwE$2,211.8 million that we incurred primarily @nnection with the acquisition of 6,630
completed towers, net of related working capitglisiinents and earnouts associated with previougisitigns. The $2,371.9 million also
includes $76.0 million for construction and relatedts associated with the completion of 356 nevets during the year ended Decembe
2012 and for the sites in process at December@®l2,258.6 million for tower maintenance capital exgitures, $24.4 million for
augmentations and tower upgrades (of which, $165 mcovered from our tenants), $3.7 million faneyal corporate expenditures, and
$46.9 million for ground lease purchases (excludiigy million spent to extend ground lease terms).

On April 2, 2012, we completed our acquisition fod £quity interests in certain entities affiliateidh Mobilitie LLC. In connection witl
the acquisition, we paid approximately $850 milliarcash, which we funded from (i) borrowings undar Revolving Credit Facility and
(i) $400 million from a new bridge loan (“Mobildi Bridge Loan”). Additionally, we issued 5,250,08tares of our Class A common stock.

On April 13, 2012, the proceeds from the equiteoffg of 6,005,000 shares of our Class A commocksieere used to redeem $131.3
million in aggregate principal amount of our 8.0%t&s and $131.3 million in aggregate principal amai our 8.25% Notes and to pay the
applicable premium for the redemption.

On May 9, 2012, we used the proceeds from the $2@@lion 2012-1 Term Loan to pay off the outstargibalance on the Revolving
Credit Facility.

On July 13, 2012, we used the net proceeds fronmssiuance of the 5.75% Notes to repay the $400idmoutstanding balance under
the Mobilitie Bridge Loan and to repay the $284.lliam outstanding balance under our Revolving Gré&dcility. The remaining proceeds
were used for general corporate purposes.

On August 9, 2012, we used the net proceeds frensttuance of the 2012-1 Tower Securities to rapéyll the remaining $243.8
million balance of the 8.0% Notes plus $19.0 millia applicable premium and fees associated witly eademption. The remaining net
proceeds were used to pay a portion of the cassidenation in connection with our acquisition ofilerCo and for general corporate
purposes.

On October 1, 2012, we completed our previouslyanoed acquisition of TowerCo Il Holdings LLC, whiowns 3,256 tower sites in
47 states across the U.S. and Puerto Rico. Asaenagion for the acquisition, we paid $1.2 billioncash and issued 4,588,840 shares of our
Class A common stock.

In November 2012, we repurchased $66.2 millionggfragate principal balance of the 1.875% Note$187.5 million in cash through
multiple transactions.

On December 20, 2012, we acquired 800 freestamdirdess towers in Brazil from Vivo S.A. for an aggate purchase price of
approximately $175.9 million which was paid on Jamyu4, 2013 from cash on hand and borrowings uadeRevolving Credit Facility.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we didemirchase any shares of our Class A common siwadér our stock repurchase
program. As of December 31, 2012, we had a remguairthorization to repurchase $150.0 million ofgSl& common stock under our curi
$300.0 million stock repurchase program.
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In order to manage our leverage and liquidity pos#, take advantage of market opportunities asdirencontinued compliance with
our financial covenants, we may decide to pursuariety of other financial transactions. These geations may include the issuance of
additional indebtedness, the repurchase of outandig indebtedness for cash or equity, sellimtpgeassets or lines of business, issuing
common stock or securities convertible into shafesommon stock, or pursuing other financing aléinres, including securitization
transactions. If either our debt repurchases onaxges or any of the other financial transactioasraplemented, these actions could
materially impact the amount and composition okiotgdness outstanding, increase our interest eg@aBor dilute our existing
shareholders. We cannot assure you that we wilimplement any of these strategies or that, if eanptnted, these strategies could be
implemented on terms favorable to us and our sloddters.

During 2013, we expect to incur non-discretionaagltcapital expenditures associated with tower t@aémce and general corporate
expenditures of $16.0 million to $21.0 million adidcretionary cash capital expenditures, basedioemt obligations, of $355.0 million to
$385.0 million primarily associated with the towers intend to build in 2013, tower acquisitionsseld or currently under contract, tower
augmentations and ground lease purchases. We raag splditional capital in 2013 on acquiring revepraducing or expense reducing
assets not yet identified and under contract, ssibty stock repurchases.

We estimate we will incur less than $1,000 per toper year for non-discretionary maintenance chpitarovements related to our
towers. We expect to fund cash capital expenditiroes cash on hand, cash flow from operations adawings under the Revolving Credit
Facility. The exact amount of our future capitgbemditures will depend on a number of factors iditlg amounts necessary to support our
tower portfolio, our new tower build and tower aisiipn programs, and our ground lease purchasgrano.

Debt Instruments and Debt Service Requirements
Senior Credit Agreement

On February 11, 2010, SBA Senior Finance Il, LLSEA Senior Finance II”), an indirect wholly-ownegdsidiary of our Company,
entered into a credit agreement for a $500.0 millienior secured revolving credit facility (the YR&/ing Credit Facility,” formerly referred
to as the 2010 Credit Facility) with several baakd other financial institutions or entities froimée to time parties to the credit agreement.

On June 30, 2011, SBA Senior Finance Il enteremlantAmended and Restated Credit Agreement (asdadesupplemented or
modified from time to time, the “Senior Credit Agraent”) with several banks and other financialifagbns or entities from time to time
parties to the Senior Credit Agreement, to extéedmaturity of the Revolving Credit Facility, totam a new $500.0 million senior secured
term loan (the “2011 Term Loan”), and to amendaiarterms of the existing credit agreement. In tholdj at the time of entering into the
Senior Credit Agreement, the remaining deferredrfaing fees balance related to the existing Crsglieement prior to the amendment was
transferred to the Revolving Credit Facility in amtance with accounting guidance for revolving dr&tilities.

On April 2, 2012 and again on May 9, 2012, SBA 8Sefinance |l exercised its right to increase thgragate principal amount of the
Revolving Credit Facility under the Senior Credgraement from $500.0 million to $600.0 million ainom $600.0 million to $700.0 millior
respectively. We incurred deferred financing fekapproximately $1.1 million in relation to theseieases.

On May 9, 2012, SBA Senior Finance Il entered afeirst Amendment to the Senior Credit Agreemedre (First Amendment”) with
several banks and other financial institutionsrdities from time to time parties to the Senior @itédgreement, to extend the maturity date
the Revolving Credit Facility to May 9, 2017.
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Also on May 9, 2012, SBA Senior Finance Il entdred a Second Amendment to the Senior Credit Agesdrtthe “Second
Amendment”) with several banks and other finanicislitutions or entities from time to time partiesthe Senior Credit Agreement, to obtain
a new $200.0 million senior secured term loan {#2-1 Term Loan”). We incurred financing fees$@.7 million associated with the
closing of this transaction which are being amedithrough the maturity date.

On September 28, 2012, SBA Senior Finance Il edtiet® a Third Amendment to the Senior Credit Agneet (the “Third
Amendment”) and Fourth Amendment to the Senior €Rgreement (the “Fourth Amendment”) with sevdrahks and other financial
institutions or entities from time to time partiesthe Senior Credit Agreement, to amend certafimidiens related to the calculation of
leverage at the SBA level to be consistent withnttethod for calculating leverage at the SBA SeRioance Il level and to amend the Senior
Credit Agreement to permit SBA Senior Finance litheaut the consent of the other lenders, to reqgiinegtone or more lenders provide SBA
Senior Finance Il with additional term loans oirtorease the commitments under the Revolving Creatitlity. SBA Senior Finance II's
ability to request such additional term loans aréases in the Revolving Credit Facility is subjedts compliance with the conditions set
forth in the Senior Credit Agreement.

On September 28, 2012, SBA Senior Finance |l atdered into a Fifth Amendment to the Senior Crégjteement (the “Fifth
Amendment”) with several banks and other finanicisiitutions or entities from time to time parttesthe Senior Credit Agreement, to obtain
a new $300.0 million senior secured term loan {#842-2 Term Loan” collectively with the 2011 Tefman and the 2012-1 Term Loan, the
“Term Loans”). We incurred financing fees of $3.8lion associated with the closing of this transatwhich are being amortized through
the maturity date.

On January 28, 2013, SBA Senior Finance |l exedciseright to increase the aggregate principal amof the Revolving Credit
Facility from $700.0 million to $730.0 million.

Revolving Credit Facility under the Senior Credit Agreement

The Revolving Credit Facility consists of a revolyiloan under which up to $700.0 million aggregatacipal amount as of
December 31, 2012 ($730.0 million as of January283) may be borrowed, repaid and redrawn, subjembmpliance with specific
financial ratios and the satisfaction of other ousdry conditions to borrowing. Amounts borrowed emnthe Revolving Credit Facility accrue
interest at the Eurodollar Rate plus a margin thages from 187.5 basis points to 237.5 basis poinat a Base Rate plus a margin that
ranges from 87.5 basis points to 137.5 basis pdimtsach case based on the ratio of Consolidat¢al Debt to Annualized Borrower
EBITDA, calculated in accordance with the Senioedir Agreement. If not earlier terminated by SBA®e Finance Il, the Revolving Credit
Facility will terminate on, and SBA Senior Finarltavill repay all amounts outstanding on or befdvigy 9, 2017. The proceeds available
under the Revolving Credit Facility may be useddgeneral corporate purposes. A per annum commitfeerdf 0.375% to 0.5% of the
unused commitments under the Revolving Credit Fpdd charged based on the ratio of ConsolidatethllDebt to Annualized Borrower
EBITDA (calculated in accordance with the Senioedt Agreement). SBA Senior Finance Il may, fromeito time, borrow from and repay
the Revolving Credit Facility. Consequently, thecamt outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facéit the end of a period may not be
reflective of the total amounts outstanding dungh period. As of December 31, 2012, the amoutstanding of $100 million was accruing
interest at 2.335% per annum.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we boadc#®84.0 million and repaid $484.0 million of thetstanding balance under the
Revolving Credit Facility using proceeds from tld2-1 Term Loan and the 5.75% Notes (as definesljelAs of December 31, 2012, the
availability under the Revolving Credit Facility #8600.0 million, subject to compliance with spiedffinancial ratios and the satisfaction of
other customary conditions to borrowing.
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Term Loans under the Senior Credit Agreement
2011 Term Loan

The 2011 Term Loan consists of a senior secured ltan in an initial aggregate principal amoun$6600.0 million and matures on
June 30, 2018. The 2011 Term Loan accrues inteaxeSBA Senior Finance II's election, at either Base Rate plus a margin of 175 basis
points (with a Base Rate floor of 2%) or EurodoRate plus a margin of 275 basis points (with soBallar Rate floor of 1%). As of
December 31, 2012, the 2011 Term Loan was accintegest at 3.75% per annum. The proceeds fror2@é& Term Loan were used to pay
down $270.0 million of the existing balance on Revolving Credit Facility during the year ended 2@hd for general corporate purposes.
Principal on the 2011 Term Loan is repaid in quértastallments of $1.25 million on the last dayemch March, June, September and
December, which commenced on September 30, 20ELterhaining principal balance of the 2011 Term Ladhbe due and payable on the
maturity date. SBA Senior Finance Il has the apttit prepay any or all amounts under the 2011 Tlewan. The 2011 Term Loan was issued
at 99.75% of par value. We incurred financing fee$4.9 million associated with the closing of ttri@nsaction.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we maug/neents totaling $5.0 million on the 2011 Term h.oAs of December 31, 201
the 2011 Term Loan had a principal balance of $&t@dllion.

2012-1 Term Loan

The 2012-1 Term Loan consists of a senior secmd koan in an initial aggregate principal amour$200.0 million and matures on
May 9, 2017. The 2012-1 Term Loan accrues intee@s$BA Senior Finance II's election, at either Base Rate plus a margin that ranges
from 100 to 150 basis points or the Eurodollar Réiis a margin that ranges from 200 to 250 basigt@adn each case based on the ratio of
Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBA (calculated in accordance with the Senior Crédjteement). As of December 31,
2012, the 2012-1 Term Loan was accruing intere2t4% per annum. Having commenced on Septemb&03@, principal of the 2012-1
Term Loan is being repaid in quarterly installmemtsthe last day of each March, June, Septembebandmber, in an amount equal to $2.5
million for each of the first eight quarters, $3milion for the next four quarters and $5.0 mitiéor each quarter thereafter. SBA Senior
Finance Il has the ability to prepay any or all ams under the 2012-1 Term Loan without premiurpenralty. To the extent not previously
paid, the 2012-1 Term Loan will be due and payabl¢he maturity date. The 2012-1 Term Loan waseidst par. We incurred deferred
financing fees of approximately $2.7 million inagbn to this transaction which are being amortitedugh the maturity date. Proceeds from
the 2012-1 Term Loan were used to pay amountsandstg under the Revolving Credit Facility durifg tsecond quarter of 2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, We mazsg/neents totaling $5.0 million on the 2012-1 Teroah. As of December 31,
2012, the 2012-1 Term Loan had a principal balarf&195.0 million.

2012-2 Term Loan

The 2012-2 Term Loan consists of a senior secumd bban in an initial aggregate principal amour$&00.0 million and matures on
September 28, 2019. The 2012-2 Term Loan accraeest, at SBA Senior Finance II's election, ate&itthe Base Rate plus 175 basis points
(with a Base Rate floor of 2%) or Eurodollar Ralies275 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate flob%). As of December 31, 2012, the
2012-2 Term Loan was accruing interest at 3.75%apeaum. Principal of the 2012-2 Term Loan is tadyaid in equal quarterly installments
on the last day of each March, June, SeptembebDandmber, commencing in March 2013, in an aggresyateunt equal to $3.0 million per
year. SBA Senior Finance Il has the ability to pepny or all amounts under the 2-2 Term Loan without premium or penalty, with the
exception of a 1% premium if
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prepayment occurs during the first year of the laith proceeds from certain refinancing or reprictransactions. To the extent not
previously paid, the 2012-2 Term Loan will be duel @ayable on the maturity date. The 2012-2 Teranlwas issued at 99.75% of par
value. We incurred deferred financing fees of appnately $3.5 million in relation to this transamiwhich are being amortized through the
maturity date. We used borrowings under the 20T212n Loan to pay a part of the cash consideratiaheé TowerCo Il Holdings LLC
acquisition. The remaining proceeds under the ZDTI2rm Loan were used for general corporate pugose

As of December 31, 2012, the 2012-2 Term Loan hadneipal balance of $300.0 million.

Terms of the Senior Credit Agreement

The Senior Credit Agreement, as amended, requBésSnior Finance Il and SBA Communications Cortiora(“SBAC”) to
maintain specific financial ratios, including, BetSBA Senior Finance Il level, (1) a ratio of Calidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower
EBITDA not to exceed 6.0 times for any fiscal qear(2) a ratio of Consolidated Total Debt and Netige Exposure (calculated in
accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement) tousatized Borrower EBITDA for the most recently endsdal quarter not to exceed 6.0
times for 30 consecutive days and (3) a ratio afidalized Borrower EBITDA to Annualized Cash Inteérfégpense (calculated in accordance
with the Senior Credit Agreement) of not less tBahtimes for any fiscal quarter. In addition, SBACatio of Consolidated Total Net Debt
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (calculated in accardawith the Senior Credit Agreement) for any figpzarter on an annualized basis
cannot exceed 9.5 times. The Senior Credit Agreéountains customary affirmative and negative cavgs that, among other things, limit
the ability of SBA Senior Finance Il and its sulisidks to incur indebtedness, grant certain liemeke certain investments, enter into sale
leaseback transactions, merge or consolidate, cedkain restricted payments, enter into transastwith affiliates, and engage in certain
asset dispositions, including a sale of all or tarigally all of their property. As of December 2012, SBA Senior Finance Il and SBAC
were in compliance with the financial covenantstaored in the Senior Credit Agreement. The Seni@d Agreement is also subject to
customary events of default. Pursuant to an AmeadedRestated Guarantee and Collateral Agreemmot s borrowed under the
Revolving Credit Facility, the Term Loans and certaedging transactions that may be entered int6B# Senior Finance Il or the
Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined in the Seniodi€Agreement) with lenders or their affiliates aexured by a first lien on the capital stock
of SBA Telecommunications, LLC (formerly known aBATelecommunications Inc.), SBA Senior Finance (formerly known as SBA
Senior Finance, Inc.) and SBA Senior Finance Il amgubstantially all of the assets (other thasdbald, easement and fee interests in real
property) of SBA Senior Finance Il and the Subsid@uarantors.

As of December 31, 2012, the Senior Credit Agregmemits SBA Senior Finance II, without the corissfithe other lenders, to
request that one or more lenders provide SBA Sdtirmance |l with additional term loans in an aggitegprincipal amount of up to $700.0
million of which up to $200.0 million may be a Tetman A, provided that up to $200.0 million of iranental capacity may instead be used
to increase the commitments under the RevolvingliCEacility. SBA Senior Finance II's ability togaest such increases in the Revolving
Credit Facility or additional term loans is subjexits compliance with customary conditions settfon the Senior Credit Agreement
including, with respect to any additional term Ipaampliance, on a pro forma basis, with the finalnmovenants and ratios set forth therein
and an increase in the margin on existing termdpamthe extent required by the terms of the Sebiedit Agreement. Upon SBA Senior
Finance II's request, each lender may decidesisdte discretion, whether to increase all or digoiof its Revolving Credit Facility
commitment or whether to provide SBA Senior Finalieeith additional term loans and, if so, upon wkerms. On January 28, 2013, $30.0
million of this incremental capacity was commitigtler the Revolving Credit Facility, leaving $670lion of total available incremental
capacity.
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Mobilitie Bridge Loan

Simultaneous with the closing of the Mobilitie aiition, our wholly-owned subsidiary, SBA Monaras borrower, entered into a
credit agreement with the several lenders from tiongme parties thereto (the “Bridge Loan Crediiréement”). Pursuant to the Bridge Loan
Credit Agreement, SBA Monarch borrowed an aggrepateipal amount of $400 million under a seniotwged bridge loan (the “Mobilitie
Bridge Loan”). The Mobilitie Bridge Loan bore iné=t, at SBA Monarch'’s election, at either the BRate plus a margin that ranged from
2.00% to 2.50% or the Eurodollar Rate plus a mattgin ranged from 3.00% to 3.50%, in each casecbas&SBA Monarch’s ratio of
Consolidated Total Debt to Consolidated AdjustedTEBA\ (calculated in accordance with the Bridge Ldawmedit Agreement).

On July 13, 2012, we repaid the $400 million pratioutstanding under the Mobilitie Bridge Loannfrthe proceeds of the 5.75%
Senior Notes.

Secured Tower Revenue Securities
2010 Tower Securities

On April 16, 2010, a New York common law trust (tfeust”), initially formed by our indirect subsidiy, issued $680.0 million of
2010-1 Tower Securities and $550.0 million of 2@LTewer Securities (together the “2010 Tower Sei@si). The 2010-1 Tower Securities
have an annual interest rate of 4.254% and the-20ld@wer Securities have an annual interest rate1di1%. The weighted average annual
fixed coupon interest rate of the 2010 Tower Séiedris 4.7%, including borrowers’ fees, payablenthty. The anticipated repayment date
and the final maturity date for the 2010-1 TowecB#ies is April 15, 2015 and April 16, 2040, resfively. The anticipated repayment date
and the final maturity date for the 2010-2 TowecB#ies is April 17, 2017 and April 15, 2042, resfively. The sole asset of the Trust
consists of a non-recourse mortgage loan madeyor faf the Borrowers (as defined below). We incdrdeferred financing fees of
approximately $17.9 million in relation to thistisaction which are being amortized through thecargited repayment date of each of the
2010 Tower Securities. Net proceeds from the 200WeF Securities were used to repay in full the unding 2006 CMBS Certificates in the
amount of $938.6 million and pay the related prepayt consideration plus accrued interest and fesremaining net proceeds were used
for general corporate purposes.

2012-1 Tower Securities

On August 9, 2012, we, through our Trust, issuetd$@illion of Secured Tower Revenue Securitiese€3e2012-1 (the “2012-1 Tower
Securities”) which have an anticipated repaymete ddDecember 15, 2017 and a final maturity d&t@ecember 15, 2042. The fixed
coupon interest rate of the 2012-1 Tower Secunifi€s933% per annum, payable monthly. A portiothefnet proceeds from the 2012-1
Tower Securities were used to repay in full thea&nmg $243.8 million balance of the 8.0% Seniotdéadue 2016 plus $14.6 million in
applicable premium associated with early redempflére remaining net proceeds were used (1) to geortéon of the cash consideration in
connection with our acquisition of TowerCo Il Halds LLC and (2) for general corporate purposes.

In connection with the issuance of the 2012-1 To8&eurities, the parties entered into the Fifthri_aad Security Agreement
Supplement and Amendment, dated as of August @ g@g “Fifth Loan Supplement”), which amended angplemented the Amended and
Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated a®weéiber 18, 2005. The Fifth Loan Supplement wasw@re by and among SBA
Properties, LLC (formerly known as SBA Properties,.), SBA Sites, LLC (formerly known as SBA Sités¢.), and SBA Structures, LLC
(formerly known as SBA Structures, Inc.) (the “laitBorrowers”) and SBA Infrastructure, LLC, SBA March Towers lll, LLC and SBA
Towers USVI 11, Inc. (the “Additional Borrowers” drtogether with the Initial Borrowers, the “Borrois® and other parties. Pursuant to the
Fifth Loan Supplement, the Additional Borrowers evadded as obligors under the mortgage loan artid té Initial Borrowers, became
jointly and severally liable for the aggregate #1tdlion borrowed under the mortgage loan corresfiog to the 2010 Tower Securities ¢
2012-1 Tower Securities.
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Tower Revenue Securities Terms

The mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower Sdegrénd the 2012-1 Tower Securities (together Trever Securities”) will be paid
from the operating cash flows from the aggregat®Xtower sites owned by the Borrowers. The moedagn is secured by (i) mortgages,
deeds of trust and deeds to secure debt on a stibkfrortion of the tower sites, (ii) a securityérest in the towers and substantially all of
Borrowers’ personal property and fixtures, (iiigtBorrowers’ rights under certain tenant leased,(an all of the proceeds of the foregoing.
For each calendar month, SBA Network Management, tur indirect subsidiary, is entitled to receavenanagement fee equal to 7.5% o
Borrowers’ operating revenues for the immediatecpding calendar month.

The Borrowers may prepay any of the mortgage l@amnponents, in whole or in part, with no prepaynmmntsideration, (i) within nine
months (in the case of the components corresporiditite 2010 Tower Securities) or twelve monthdglfmcase of the component
corresponding to the 2012-1 Tower Securities) efahticipated repayment date of such mortgagedoaponent, (ii) with proceeds received
as a result of any condemnation or casualty oftawer site owned by the Borrowers or (iii) during@mnortization period. In all other
circumstances, the Borrowers may prepay the moett@an, in whole or in part, upon payment of thpliapble prepayment consideration.
The prepayment consideration is determined basedeoclass of the Tower Securities to which theaig mortgage loan component
corresponds and consists of an amount equal texitess, if any, of (1) the present value associattrdthe portion of the principal balance
being prepaid, calculated in accordance with thniga set forth in the mortgage loan agreementherdate of prepayment of all future
installments of principal and interest requiredbéopaid from the date of prepayment to and inclyidie first due date within nine months (in
the case of the components corresponding to thé 20Wver Securities) or twelve months (in the casth® component corresponding to the
2012-1 Tower Securities) of the anticipated repaytndate of such mortgage loan component over @)gdbrtion of the principal balance of
such class prepaid on the date of such prepayment.

To the extent that the mortgage loan componentesponding to the Tower Securities are not fullyaid by their respective anticipa
repayment dates, the interest rate of each sucpaoant will increase by the greater of (i) 5% aiijcttie amount, if any, by which the sum
(x) the ten-year U.S. treasury rate plus (y) theslitrbased spread for such component (as setifottie mortgage loan agreement) plus
(z) 5%, exceeds the original interest rate for starponent.

Pursuant to the terms of the Tower Securitiegealls and other sums due on any of the tower aiteed by the Borrowers are directly
deposited by the lessees into a controlled depositunt and are held by the indenture trustee nidr@es held by the indenture trustee after
the release date are classified as restrictedarasihr Consolidated Balance Sheets (see Note 4)ekter, if the Debt Service Coverage Re
defined as the net cash flow (as defined in thetgage loan agreement) divided by the amount ofasteon the mortgage loan, servicing fees
and trustee fees that the Borrowers are requir@dymver the succeeding twelve months, as oftideoéany calendar quarter, falls to 1.30x
or lower, then all cash flow in excess of amourtyuired to make debt service payments, to fundiredjueserves, to pay management fees
and budgeted operating expenses and to make aiieremts required under the loan documents, reféorad “excess cash flow,” will be
deposited into a reserve account instead of beilegised to the Borrowers. The funds in the resaceeunt will not be released to the
Borrowers unless the Debt Service Coverage Ratieetds 1.30x for two consecutive calendar quartfeitse Debt Service Coverage Ratio
falls below 1.15x as of the end of any calendartguathen an “amortization period” will commena&aall funds on deposit in the reserve
account will be applied to prepay the mortgage loatil such time that the Debt Service Coveragédratceeds 1.15x for a calendar quarter.
In addition, if either the 2010-1 Tower Securitid810-2 Tower Securities or the 2012-1 Tower Séesrare not fully repaid
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by their respective anticipated repayment datescésh flow from the tower sites owned by the Boes will be trapped by the trustee for
the Tower Securities and applied first to repayititerest, at the original interest rates, on tletgage loan components underlying the Tc
Securities, second to fund all reserve accountpedating expenses associated with those tovess, sitird to pay the management fees due
to SBA Network Management, Inc., fourth to repangipal of the Tower Securities and fifth to rephg additional interest discussed above.
The mortgage loan agreement, as amended, alsal@sctovenants customary for mortgage loans sulgjeated securitizations. Among ot
things, the Borrowers are prohibited from incurrather indebtedness for borrowed money or furtheumbering their assets. As of
December 31, 2012, the Borrowers met the requirglot Bervice Coverage Ratio as set forth in the grage loan agreement and were in
compliance with all other covenants.

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013

As of December 31, 2012, we had $468.8 million taunding of 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes (th&75% Notes”) which were
recorded at their discounted carrying value of $45fillion. The maturity date of the 1.875% Notedvlay 1, 2013, and as such they are
included in current maturities of long term debtinrent liabilities. Interest on the 1.875% Natepayable semi-annually each May 1 and
November 1. The 1.875% Notes are convertible,@ahtiide’s option, into shares of our Class A common staetlgn initial conversion rate
of 24.1196 shares of Class A common stock per $1pdidicipal amount of 1.875% Notes (subject toaiartustomary adjustments), which is
equivalent to an initial conversion price of $41pH share or a 20% conversion premium based olasheeported sale price of $34.55 per
share of Class A common stock on the Nasdag Gleblalct Market on May 12, 2008, the purchase agreedate. Effective February 4,
2013, we elected to settle all of our conversioligaltions pursuant to the Indenture governing tf879% Notes in cash.

During the first quarter of 2011, we repurchased.@illion of the 1.875% Notes resulting in a pipal balance of $535.0 million.
Additionally, during the year ended December 31,2Qve repurchased $66.2 million of the aggregateipal balance of the 1.875% Notes
for $107.5 million in cash.

Concurrently with the pricing of our 1.875% Notes entered into convertible note hedge transactmdswarrant transactions with
affiliates of certain of the initial purchaserstbé convertible note offerings. The initial striggce of the convertible note hedge transactions
relating to our 1.875% Notes is $41.46 per sha@uoiClass A common stock (the same as the imitinlzersion price of our 1.875% Notes)
and the upper strike price of the warrants is $6p& share. Although we initially entered into eeriible note hedge and warrant
transactions to cover the full amount of the sh#ftaswere issuable upon conversion of the 1.87%##&$) as a result of the bankruptcy of
Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc. (“Lehman Datives”), on November 7, 2008, we terminated theveatible note hedge transaction
with Lehman Derivatives which covered 55% of the283,780 shares of our Class A common stock peatgnissuable upon conversion of
our 1.875% Notes. Consequently, we do not currdralye a hedge with respect to those shares attte txtent that the market price of our
Class A common stock exceeds $41.46 per shareamurersion of the notes, we will be subject totiblo, or if we settle in cash, additional
costs, upon conversion of that portion of the 198 ™gotes.

During the year ended 2012, we received partidleseénts of $4.9 million relating to the Chapterlfinkruptcy case of Lehman
Brothers Holdings Inc. and its affiliated debtoetated to the Lehman Derivatives. The amounts vedeivere recorded as a gain in other
income in the statement of operations and refleatean inflow of cash from financing activitiestire statement of cash flow.

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014

As of December 31, 2012, we had outstanding $50@I®n of our 4.0% Convertible Senior Notes (the0% Notes”) which were
recorded at their discounted carrying value of $83fillion. The maturity date of the 4.0% Note©istober 1, 2014. Interest on the 4.0%
Notes is payable se-annually on April 1 and October 1.
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The 4.0% Notes are convertible, at the hokleption, into shares of our Class A common statkn initial conversion rate of 32.9164 sh:
of our Class A common stock per $1,000 principabant of 4.0% Notes (subject to certain customajysithents), which is equivalent to an
initial conversion price of approximately $30.38 phare or a 22.5% conversion premium based olasheeported sale price of $24.80 per
share of our Class A common stock on the NasdababBelect Market on April 20, 2009, the purchageement date.

Concurrently with the pricing of our 4.0% Notes, argered into convertible note hedge transactiodsaarrant transactions with
affiliates of certain of the initial purchaserstb& convertible note offerings. The initial strifigce of the convertible note hedge transactions
relating to our 4.0% Notes is $30.38 per shareuof@ass A common stock (the same as the initialecsion price of the 4.0% Notes) and
the upper strike price of the warrant transactisr&t4.64 per share.

Convertible Senior Notes Conversion Options
The 1.875% Notes and 4.0% Notes (collectively ‘lotes”) are convertible only under the followingctimstances:

. during any calendar quarter, if the last reportdd price of our Class A common stock for at |&strading days in the 30
consecutive trading day period ending on the tasting day of the preceding calendar quarter isentiwatn 130% of the applicable
conversion price per share of Class A common stocthe last day of such preceding calendar quz

. during the five business day period after any mmsecutive trading day period in which the tradinige per $1,000 principal
amount of the Notes for each day in the measurep®iad was less than 95% of the product of therkgsorted sale price of
Class A common stock and the applicable convernsita

. if specified distributions to holders of Class Avumon stock are made or specified corporate traiogsscbccur, an
. at any time on or after February 19, 2013 for tf873% Notes and July 22, 2014 for the 4.0% Nc¢

Upon conversion, we have the right to settle ounveosion obligation in cash, shares of Class A comstock or a combination of cash
and shares of our Class A common stock. From torierte, upon notice to the holders of the Notespveg change our election regarding
form of consideration that we will use to settle oanversion obligation; provided, however, thatave not permitted to change its settlement
election after February 18, 2013 for the 1.875%eN@nd July 21, 2014 for the 4.0% Notes. As of fratyr4, 2013, we had elected to settle
100% of our conversion obligation pursuant to tigehture governing the 1.875% Notes in cash.

At the end of the first quarter of 2012 the 4.0%d$dbecame convertible by the note holders beaaus€lass A common stock closing
price per share exceeded $39.49 for at least @thgalays during the 30 consecutive trading dajodeznding on March 31, 2012. During
each of the second, third, and fourth quarters4t® Notes remained convertible by the note hsldEne 4.0% Notes will continue to be
convertible through March 31, 2013, and will dtié convertible thereafter, if one or more of thevarsion conditions specified in the
Indenture, dated as of April 24, 2009, are satisfiaring future measurement periods. During 20JX2received 5 conversion notices totaling
17 notes valued at $1,000 per note. A portion e$¢hnotes were settled in shares of our Class Anmmstock and cash for fractional shares
during the fourth quarter of 2012. The remainingipa is expected to settle during the first quaoie2013.
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At the end of the third quarter of 2012, the cosian right for the 1.875% Notes was triggered beeaaur Class A common stock
closing price per share exceeded $53.90 for at Bagading days during the 30 consecutive tradiag period ending on September 30,
2012. The 1.875% Notes remained convertible byhtiteholders as of December 31, 2012. During 20&2,eweived 8 conversion notices
totaling 5,314 notes valued at $1,000 per noteorign of these notes were settled in shares ofodass A common stock and cash for
fractional shares during the fourth quarter of 200f# remaining portion is expected to settle duthe first quarter of 2013. Furthermore,
during the first quarter of 2013, we received 4varsion notices totaling 12,810 notes valued a@@1 per note. These notes will be settled in
shares of our Class A common stock and cash fotidraal shares during the first and second quaift@013.

Senior Notes
8.0% Senior Notes and 8.25% Senior Notes

On July 24, 2009, Telecommunications issued $760llbn of unsecured senior notes (the “Senior 8Bte$375.0 million of which
were due August 15, 2016 (the “8.0% Notes”) and583illion of which were due August 15, 2019 (tBe25% Notes”). The 8.0% Notes
had an interest rate of 8.00% per annum and weuedsat a price of 99.330% of their face value. §2&% Notes have an interest rate of
8.25% per annum and were issued at a price of 9%1d their face value. Interest on each of thei@d¥otes is due semi-annually on
February 15 and August 15 of each year beginningedmuary 15, 2010. During the year ended Dece@ibe2012, we redeemed the full
$375.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 8% Notes and $131.3 million in aggregate priacgmount of our 8.25% Notes and [
the applicable premium for the redemption. The &2%otes are fully and unconditionally guarantee SBAC.

5.75% Senior Notes

On July 13, 2012, we issued $800.0 million of unsed senior notes (the “5.75% Notes”) due July2l0. The Notes accrue interest
at a rate of 5.75% and were issued at par. Interetfite 5.75% Notes is due semi-annually on JulgricbJanuary 15 of each year beginning
on January 15, 2013. We used the net proceedsthigmoffering to (1) repay all amounts outstandimgler the Mobilitie Bridge Loan and
(2) repay all amounts outstanding under our Renglredit Facility. The remaining proceeds wereduse general corporate purposes.

In connection with the issuance of the 5.75% No#esentered into a Registration Rights Agreemérd {Registration Rights
Agreement”) with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, asresgntative of the Initial Purchasers. Pursuattiederms of the Registration Rights
Agreement, we agreed to use our respective reasobast efforts to file and have declared effectivegistration statement with respect ti
offer to exchange the 5.75% Notes for new notesaguieed by us registered under the Securities At983, as amended (the “Securities
Act”), on or prior to July 8, 2013. If we fail t@8sfy certain filings and other obligations wisspect to the exchange, we will be obligated to
pay additional interest of 0.25% per annum forfitst 90-day period and an additional 0.25% pensmnnvith respect to each subsequent 90-
day period thereafter, until our registration obtigns are fulfilled, up to a maximum of 1.00% penum.

5.625% Senior Notes

On September 28, 2012, we issued $500.0 milliamnsEcured senior notes (the “5.625% Notes”) dueli@ctl, 2019. The Notes
accrue interest at a rate of 5.625% and were isgupdr. Interest on the 5.625% Notes is due semixaly on October 1 and April 1 of each
year beginning on April 1, 2013. We used the prdsdeom the issuance of the 5.625% Notes to payrtiop of the cash consideration in
TowerCo Il Holdings LLC acquisition.
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In connection with the issuance of the 5.625% Notesentered into a Registration Rights Agreemtingt (Registration Rights
Agreement”) with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, asresgntative of the Initial Purchasers. Pursuattiederms of the Registration Rights
Agreement, we agreed to use our reasonable bestsetd file and have declared effective a regiigtrestatement with respect to an offer to
exchange the 5.625% Notes for new notes registerddr the Securities Act of 1933, as amended @eedrities Act”), on or prior to
September 23, 2013. If we fail to satisfy certdindgs and other obligations with respect to thelenge, we will be obligated to pay
additional interest of 0.25% per annum for thet @@-day period and an additional 0.25% per annutim r@spect to each subsequent 90-day
period thereafter, until our registration obligatcare fulfilled, up to a maximum of 1.00% per amnu

Debt Service
As of December 31, 2012, we believe that our cashamd, capacity available under our Revolving @iealcility and our cash flows
from operations for the next twelve months willdadficient to service our outstanding debt during hext twelve months.

The following table illustrates our estimate of olebt service requirement over the next twelve m®based on the amounts
outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and the irtteae=s accruing on those amounts on such datbdqirsands):

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2I $471,73:
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2( 19,99¢
8.25% Senior Notes due 20 20,10¢
5.625% Senior Notes due 20 28,12¢
5.75% Senior Notes due 20 46,00(
4.254% and 5.101 % Tower Securities z-1 & 2 57,37:
2.933% Tower Securities 20-1 18,08t
Revolving Credit Facility 5,33t
2011 Term Loal 23,39¢
201721 Term Loar 14,72«
2012z-2 Term Loar 14,20¢
Total debt service for next 12 montl $719,08¢

Inflation

The impact of inflation on our operations has reesignificant to date. However, we cannot asgouethat a high rate of inflation in
the future will not adversely affect our operatiegults particularly in light of the fact that aite leasing revenues are governed by long-termn
contracts with pre-determined pricing that we wit be able to increase in response to increadafiation.
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Commitments and Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our scheduled caitied commitments as of December 31, 2012:

Contractual Obligations 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total

(in thousands)
Debt $486,83t $520,48° $ 705,50( $ 28,00C $1,403,000 $2,296,25( $ 5,440,07.
Interest paymeni(@ 232,25: 223,80: 187,50! 178,23 150,96 226,12: 1,198,88.
Operating lease 141,71 143,63¢ 144,33 143,44 144,14 5,385,80: 6,103,07
Capital lease 1,64( 1,43 1,03¢ 35:% 24 — 4,49:
Employment agreemen 1,67( 1,67( 1,04¢ — — — 4,38¢

$864,11. $891,03: $1,039,421 $350,02¢ $1,698,13 $7,908,17! $12,750,90

(1) Represents interest payments based on the PObiver Securities interest rate of 4.254%, theD2DTower Securities interest rate of
5.1010%, the 2012-1 Tower Securities interestaa2933%, the Revolving Credit Facility intereate of 2.335% as of December 31,
2012, the 2011 Term Loan at an interest rate @4 as of December 31, 2012, 2012-1 Term Loan attarest rate of 2.470% as of
December 31, 2012, 2012-2 Term Loan at an inteagstof 3.750% as of December 31, 2012, the Coime$enior Notes interest rate
of 1.875% and 4.0%, and the Senior Notes inteegstaf 8.25%, 5.625%, and 5.75C

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We are not involved in any off-balance sheet areaments.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks that arera@rtt in our financial instruments. These instruts@nise from transactions entered
into in the normal course of business.

The following table presents the future principayment obligations and fair values associated withlong-term debt instruments
assuming our actual level of long-term indebtedessf December 31, 2012:

Fair
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total Value
(in thousands)
Debt:
1.875% Convertible Senior Notes
due 201z $468,83¢ $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 468,83t $ 714,09:
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes
due 2014 — 499,98 — — — — $ 499,98 $1,060,62
8.25% Senior Notes due 20 — — — — — 243,75( $ 243,75( $ 272,39
5.625% Senior Notes due 20 — — — — — 500,00 $ 500,000 $ 523,75(
5.75% Senior Notes due 20 — — — — — 800,00 $ 800,000 $ 848,00(
0, - iti|:
4.2(25)4A> 2010-1 Tower Securitie: . . 680,00 . . . $ 680.00( § 713.61¢
0 i —
5.1((2))1/0 2010-2 Tower Securities . . . . 550,00 . $ 550,000 $ 621.37¢
0, - Tir=1
2.9(32)3/0 2012-1 Tower Securitie! . . . . 610,001 . $ 610,000 $ 63561
Revolving Credit Facility — — — — 100,00 — $ 100,00 $ 100,00(
2011 Term Loal 5,00( 5,00( 5,00( 5,00( 5,00( 467,50 $ 49250( $ 493,73:
201721 Term Loar 10,00( 12,50( 17,50( 20,00( 135,00( — $ 195,000 $ 194,51:
20172-2 Term Loar 3,00( 3,00( 3,00( 3,00( 3,00( 285,000 $ 300,00 $ 300,75(
Total debt obligation $486,83¢ $520,48° $705,50( $28,00( $1,403,000 $2,296,25( $5,440,07. $6,478,46.

(1) Amounts set forth reflect the principal amoahthe relevant convertible notes and do not réflee total obligations that may be due on
the convertible notes if they are converted priothieir maturity date. As of December 31, 2012hkbe 1.875% Notes and the 4.0%
Notes are convertible pursuant to the terms of gygplicable indenture

(2) The anticipated repayment date and the finauritg date for the 2010-1 Tower Securities is A, 2015 and April 16, 2040,
respectively. The anticipated repayment date aaditial maturity date for the 2010-2 Tower Secastis April 17, 2017 and April 15,
2042, respectively. The anticipated repayment datkthe final maturity date for the 2012-1 TowecBiies is December 15, 2017 and
December 15, 2042, respective

Our current primary market risk exposure is interage risk relating to (1) our ability to meetdimcial covenants and (2) the impact of
interest rate movements on our 2011 Term Loan,-20I2rm Loan, 2012-2 Term Loan and any borrowimgs tve may incur under our
Revolving Credit Facility, which are at floatingea. We manage the interest rate risk on our mdatg debt through our large percentage of
fixed rate debt. While we cannot predict our apitd refinance existing debt or the impact interagt movements will have on our existing
debt, we continue to evaluate our financial positt@ an ongoing basis. In addition, in connectid@h wur convertible notes, we are subjec
market risk associated with the market price ofaammon stock.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains “forward-looking stagems” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Sées Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange AcB8#1as amended. These statements concern expestdieliefs, projections, plans and
strategies, anticipated events or trends and simjpressions concerning matters that are notridaidacts. Specifically, this annual report
contains forward-looking statements regarding:

. our expectations on the future growth and finane&allth of the wireless industry and the indushitipipants, and the drivers of
such growth

. our beliefs regarding our ability to capture angitaize on industry growth and the impact of sgebwth on our financial and
operational result:
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our expectations regarding the opportunities ininkernational wireless markets in which we curienperate or have targeted for
growth, our beliefs regarding how we can capitatinesuch opportunities, and our intent to contiexanding internationally

our belief that our site leasing business is chiarezed by stable and long-term recurring revenpesgdictable operating costs and
minimal nor-discretionary capital expenditure

our belief that our towers have significant capatitaccommodate additional tenants, that our tayerations are highly scalat
that we can add tenants to our towers at minin@kimental costs, and the impact of these econavhigsale on our cash flow a
financial results

our expectation that we will grow our cash flowsdulding tenants to our towers at minimal incremlerdats and executing
monetary amendment

our intent to grow our tower portfolio, domestigadind internationally, by 5% to 10% through towequisitions and the
construction of new tower

our intent to build between 380 and 400 new towe2013, domestically and internationally, and expectation regarding the
number of tenants on our new build towe

our expectation that we will continue our grounasie purchase program and the estimates of the irapagch program on our
financial results

our expectation that we will continue to incur les

our expectations regarding our future cash capkpéenditures, both discretionary and non-discretipnincluding expenditures
required to maintain, improve and modify our towansl general corporate expenditures, and the sofifaads for these
expenditures

our intended use of our liquidit

our expectations regarding our annual debt seii@013 and thereafter, and our belief that ouh@ashand, cash flows from
operations for the next twelve months and availghiinder our Revolving Credit Facility will be didient to service our
outstanding debt during the next twelve mon

our expectation that our revenues from our intéonat operations will grow in the futur

our expectations regarding the effectiveness ottoawertible note hedge transactions to minimizeditution and costs associa
with our outstanding convertible nott

our expectations regarding the settlement of onwedible notes
our belief regarding our credit risk; a

our belief regarding our compliance with applicalles and litigation matters, and our estimatesrdigg certain accounting and
tax matters

These forward-looking statements reflect our cunmgws about future events and are subject tarigkcertainties and assumptions.
We wish to caution readers that certain importaotdrs may have affected and could in the futuiecabur actual results and could cause
actual results to differ significantly from thosepeessed in any forward-looking statement. The rropbrtant factors that could prevent us
from achieving our goals, and cause the assumptionderlying forward-looking statements and the alatasults to differ materially from
those expressed in or implied by those forward-loglstatements include, but are not limited to,ftilwing:

the impact of consolidation among wireless serpit®iders on our leasing revent

our ability to continue to comply with covenantglahe terms of our credit instruments, our abilitybtain additional financing
fund our capital expenditures and our ability thn@nce our 1.875% Notes on expected tel

our ability to successfully manage the risks asgedi with international operations, including ris&kating to political or econom
conditions, tax laws, currency restrictions legajudlicial systems, and land ownerst

our ability to successfully manage the risks asgedi with our acquisition initiatives, includingraability to effectively integrate
acquired towers into our business and to achiexditlancial results projected in our valuation meder the acquired tower

developments in the wireless communications ingustgeneral, and for wireless communications istingcture providers in
particular, that may slow growth or affect the imijness or ability of the wireless service providter expend capital to fund
network expansion or enhancemel

our ability to secure as many site leasing tenasisnticipated, recognize our expected economissabé with respect to new
tenants on our towers, and retain current leasésveers;
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. our ability to secure and deliver anticipated ssgibusiness at contemplated marg

. our ability to build new towers, including our ahyjlto identify and acquire land that would be attive for our clients and to
successfully and timely address zoning, permittimgather, availability of labor and supplies andeotissues that arise in
connection with the building of new towe

. competition for the acquisition of towers and otfaamtors that may adversely affect our ability toghase towers that meet our
investment criteria and are available at pricestviwe believe will be accretive to our shareholderd allow us to maintain our
long-term target leverage ratic

. our ability to protect our rights to the land under towers, and our ability to acquire land unéeth our towers on terms that are
accretive;

. our ability to sufficiently increase our revenu@slanaintain expenses and cash capital expendiatigggpropriate levels to permit
us to meet our anticipated uses of liquidity foeigiions, debt service and estimated portfolio d¢ing

. our ability to successfully estimate the impactazfulatory and litigation matter

. our ability to successfully estimate the impacteitain accounting and tax matters, including tifeceon our company of
adopting certain accounting pronouncements andvhaability of sufficient net operating lossesatifset future taxable incom

. natural disasters and other unforeseen damagehichwur insurance may not provide adequate coee
. a decrease in demand for our communications sitet

. the introduction of new technologies or changes ianant’s business model that may make our tovesirig business less
desirable to potential tenan
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Financial statements and supplementary data apages F-1 through F-52.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures ¥We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our reports under guBties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (theligrge Act”), is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodsi§ipe in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that smétrmation is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chiefchttee Officer (“CEQ”) and Chief Financial Offic€fCFQ”), as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosuredésigning and evaluating the disclosure controts@ncedures, management recognized
that any controls and procedures, no matter howdesigned and operated, can provide only reaseragsurance of achieving the desired
control objectives, as ours are designed to donasmbhgement necessarily was required to appludigment in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible controls and procedures.

In connection with the preparation of this Annuajpgrt on Form 10k, as of December 31, 2012, an evaluation was pedd under tr
supervision and with the participation of our magragnt, including the CEO and CFO, of the effectagnof our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) undeEXohange Act). Based on such evaluation, our CEDCGHO concluded that, as of
December 31, 2012, our disclosure controls andgohaes were effective.

There has been no change in our internal contrel fimancial reporting during the quarter endedé@weloer 31, 2012 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesdf, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting —Management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, and for performing an assessment efffiectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. Irdéoontrol over financial reporting is a processigeed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. Our system of ir@lecontrol over financial reporting includes thgsgicies and procedures that (i) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonablél dsetaurately and fairly reflect the transacti@m dispositions of the assets of SBA,;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactiomsecorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andriwgipts and expenditures of SBA are being madgiordccordance with authorizations of
management and directors of SBA; and (iii) provieasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of unauthorized acquisitic
use or disposition of SBA’s assets that could reaweaterial effect on the financial statements.

Management performed an assessment of the effaetigeof SBA’s internal control over financial reing as of December 31, 2012
based upon criteria iimternal Control — Integrated Frameworiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrtee Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment, marag€eeatermined that SBA'’s internal control ovegfigial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2012 based on the criterimiarnal Control — Integrated Frameworgsued by COSO.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @étaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered fiettipublic accounting firm that audited the finedstatements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestagport on SBA'’s internal control over finanaiaporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of SBA Camigations Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited SBA Communications Corporation@mpisidiariesinternal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2012, bas
on criteria established in Internal Control — Intigd Framework issued by the Committee of Spongdbrganizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). SBA Communicati@asporation and Subsidiaries’ management is resplenfor maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and ftrassessment of the effectiveness of internakraebaver financial reporting included in the
accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Inte@Qwadtrol over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiis to express an opinion on the
company’s internal control over financial reportiogsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordv@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etina¢utihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over firgad reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeipnrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (Bjige reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@iizh statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, SBA Communications Corporation &ubsidiaries maintained, in all material respesffgctive internal control over financ
reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on theGCEO&eria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of SBA Communications Corporati@ghSubsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 20Hlthenrelated consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, lsblders’ (deficit) equity and cash flows for eadhtee three years in the period ended
December 31, 2012 of SBA Communications Corporadiah Subsidiaries and our report dated Februar @73 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI
Certified Public Accountan

Boca Raton, Florida
February 27, 2013
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Item 9B. Other Information
Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreenen

On January 28, 2013, SBA Senior Finance |l LLC e@ténto a Revolving Credit Commitment Increase@ement, with Deutsche Bank
Trust Company Americas, Toronto Dominion (Texasyl, las administrative agent, and The Toronto-Domifdank, New York Branch, as
issuing lender, pursuant to which SBA Senior Fimalh@xercised its right to upsize the aggregatecgral amount of its Revolving Credit
Facility from $700 million to $730 million. All oter terms of the Senior Credit Agreement remainedstime.

SBA Communications and certain of its affiliatesé@reviously entered into commercial financiabagements with Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas and its affiliates, and they hawbe past provided financial, advisory, investi@snking and other services to SBA
Communications and its affiliates. Specifically, Dieutsche Bank Trust Company Americas acts ateus connection with our 2010 Tower
Securities, (ii) Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. Breditsche Bank Trust Company Americas have servéda@gunner and lender, respectiv
in connection with amounts borrowed under the Se@iedit Agreement, and (iii) Deutsche Bank Se@sitnc. acted as one of the
underwriters in connection with (a) the issuanc&By Telecommunications, Inc. of the 5.75% Seniotd$ due 2020, (b) the issuance by
SBA Communications of the 5.625% Senior Notes diE92and (c) the issuance by SBA Tower Trust of3beured Tower Revenue
Securities Series 2012-1.

Item 2.03 Creation of a Direct Financial Obligatimnan Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Areamgnt of a Registrant.

The information set forth under Item 1.01 is ipmmated by reference herein.

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERANCE

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that appliesit@bief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officand Chief Accounting Officer. Ti
Code of Ethics is located on our internet web aiteww.sbasite.corander “Investor Relations — Corporate GovernanGovernance
Documents.” We intend to provide disclosure of amendments or waivers of our Code of Ethics onnabssite within four business days
following the date of the amendment or waiver.

The remaining items required by Part I, Item 16 mcorporated herein by reference from the Regjiss Proxy Statement for its 2013
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on diobe April 30, 2013.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The items required by Part Ill, Item 11 are incogted herein by reference from the Registrant'xy&tatement for its 2013
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on diobe April 30, 2013.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The items required by Part I, Item 12 are incagted herein by reference from the Registrant’sP&tatement for its 2013 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or beforeil/gD, 2013.

61



Table of Contents

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The items required by Part Ill, Item 13 are incogted herein by reference from the Registrant’sxy?Rtatement for its 2013 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or beforeilA3D, 2013.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The items required by Part Ill, Item 14 are incogted herein by reference from the Registrant’sxy?Rtatement for its 2013 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or beforeil/3D, 2013.

62



Table of Contents

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements

See Item 8 for Financial Statements included with Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

None.
(3) Exhibits

Exhibit No.
1.1

12

13

2.1

2.2

34
3.5A
4.6
4.6A

4.1%
4.14
4.1¢
4.15A
4.1¢€
4.16A
4.17
4.1¢
4.1¢
4.20

4.21
4.22

4.2
10.1

Description of Exhibits

Underwriting Agreement, dated March 7, 2012, by amebng SBA Communications Corporation, Citigroupliall Markets
Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC.

Underwriting Agreement, dated April 2, 2012, by amdong SBA Communications Corporation, Merrill Lim®ierce, Fenner
& Smith Incorporated, Mobilitie Holdings, L.L.C., dbilitie Holdings 11, L.L.C., Mobilitie Investmentd LC (f/k/a New
Mobilitie Investments, LLC), Mobilitie Investments LLC (f/lk/a New Mobilitie Investments II, LLC)Qrlin Properties, LLC
and Chicago Deferred Exchange Company, LLC

Underwriting Agreement, dated October 1, 2012, iy among SBA Communications Corporation, Morgami8ia& Co. LLC
and the selling shareholders listed on Scheduterkto. (3’

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated February 18, Bpland among SBA Communications Corporation, &toh Towers
Acquisition, LLC, Mobilitie Investments, LLC, Mobiie Investments Il, LLC, MPGJ-I, LLC, MPMA-I, LLCMPGJ-II, LLC,
and the Sellers identified on the signature pagesto. (4.

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated June 25, 281and among SBA Communications Corporation, SBA28cquisition,
LLC, TowerCo Il Holdings LLC and TowerCo Il Holdis LLC. (5)

Fourth Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatas Amended, of SBA Communications Corporatiéh
Amended and Restated Bylaws of SBA Communicaticorp@ration, effective as of January 16, 2012,
Rights Agreement, dated as of January 11, 200%;deet SBA Communications Corporation and the Riglggsnt. (8)

First Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as aitlMa7, 2006, between SBA Communications Corpomadiad
Computershare Trust Company, N.A

Indenture, dated May 16, 2008, between SBA Comnatiics Corporation and U.S. Bank National Associat{10)
Form of 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 20@8l{ded in Exhibit 4.13). (1(

Indenture, dated April 24, 2009, between SBA Comications Corporation and U.S. Bank National Asstiam (11)
Form of Senior Indenture. (1

Form of 4.0% Convertible Senior Note due 2014 (ideld in Exhibit 4.15). (11

Form of Subordinated Indenture. (1

Indenture, dated July 24, 2009, between SBA Comaatioins Corporation and U.S. Bank National Assomiat(13)

Form of 8.000% Senior Notes due 2016 (includedxhilit 4.17). (13)

Form of 8.250% Senior Notes due 2019 (includedxhilit 4.17). (13)

Indenture, dated July 13, 2012, between SBA Telasonications, Inc., SBA Communications Corporatiod &.S. Bank
National Association. (14

Form of 5.75% Senior Notes due 2020 (included ihikik4.20). (14)

Indenture, dated as of September 28, 2012, bet®&Bé&nCommunications Corporation and U.S. Bank Natidkssociation.
(15)

Form of 5.625% Senior Notes due 2019 (includedxhilit 4.22). (15)

SBA Communications Corporation Registration Righgseement dated as of March 5, 1997, among the @omSteven E.
Bernstein, Ronald G. Bizick, Il and Robert Grohstéi6)
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10.2

10.3

10.24
10.2¢
10.3¢
10.35E
10.49

10.50

10.57E

10.57C

10.58E

10.58C

10.60

10.61

10.71

10.72

10.754
10.76

10.79

10.80

10.85

10.85E

10.864

Purchase Agreement, dated July 26, 2012, among S&8B¥or Finance, LLC, Deutsche Bank Trust CompanyeAeas, as
trustee, and the several initial purchasers liste&chedule | thereto. (1

Fifth Loan and Security Agreement Supplement anceAdment, dated as of August 9, 2012, by and amBAgF3operties,
Inc., SBA Sites, Inc. and SBA Structures, Inc.Basrowers, SBA Infrastructure, LLC, SBA Towers USN/IlInc. and SBA
Monarch Towers Ill, LLC, as Additional Borrowers)daMidland Loan Services, a Division of PNC Banlatidnal Associatior
as Servicer on behalf of Deutsche Bank Trust Coypanericas, as Trustee. (1

1999 Equity Participation Plan. (18

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (1

2001 Equity Participation Plan as Amended and Redtan May 16, 2002. (19)

Employment Agreement, dated July 1, 2011, betwd®h Sommunications Corporation and Jeffrey A. Stoq@e)+

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreematggdis of November 18, 2005, by and between SBAdrties, Inc. an
the Additional Borrower or Borrowers that may beeoanparty thereto and SBA CMBS 1 Depositor LLC){

Management Agreement, dated as of November 18,, 2908hd among SBA Properties, Inc., SBA Networknsizement, Inc.
and SBA Senior Finance, Inc. (2

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, madergraded into as of January 1, 2010, between SBAranications
Corporation and Kurt L. Bagwell. (22

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefidagy 30, 2012, between SBA Communications Cafion and
Kurt L. Bagwell. (23)+

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, maderaaded into as of January 1, 2010, between SBAranications
Corporation and Thomas P. Hunt. (2

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateflagy 30, 2012, between SBA Communications Cafion and
Thomas P. Hunt. (23)

Joinder and Amendment to Management Agreementd dddeember 6, 2006, by and among SBA Properties, 8BA
Towers, Inc., SBA Puerto Rico, Inc., SBA Sites,.J)JBBA Towers USVI, Inc., and SBA Structures, Iangd SBA Network
Management, Inc., and SBA Senior Finance, Inc.

Second Loan and Security Agreement Supplement amehiment, dated as of November 6, 2006, by and gu&B
Properties, Inc., and SBA Towers, Inc., SBA Pu&itm, Inc., SBA Sites, Inc., SBA Towers USVI, Inand SBA Structures,
Inc. and Midland Loan Services, Inc., as Servigebehalf of LaSalle Bank National Association, agstee. (24

Form of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Agreeneeitered into by SBA Communications Corporatiothveiach of
Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc., Citibank, N.Beutsche Bank AG London Branch, and Wachoviat@bdarkets,
LLC and Wachovia Bank, National Association. (

Form of Issuer Warrant Transaction Letter Agreeneeéred into by SBA Communications Corporatiorhveiich of Lehman
Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc., Citibank, N.A., Dstiie Bank AG London Branch, and Wachovia Capitalkels, LLC and
Wachovia Bank, National Association. (Z

SBA Communications Corporation 2008 Employee Stegichase Plan, as amended on May 4, 2011. |

Form of Indemnification Agreement dated January2l®9 between SBA Communications Corporation andirectors and
certain officers. (27

Form of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Agreeneeitered into by SBA Communications Corporatiothveiach of
Citibank, N.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Deutsche Bank,A@ndon Branch, JP Morgan Chase Bank, Nationabgiation and
Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC. (2

Form of Issuer Warrant Transaction Letter Agreeneenéred into by SBA Communications Corporatiorhveiaich of Citibank,
N.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Deutsche Bank AG, Londaarigh, JP Morgan Chase Bank, National AssociatimhVdachovie
Capital Markets, LLC. (28

Employment Agreement, made and entered into astdfl@r 28, 2009, between SBA Communications Cotjmrand
Brendan T. Cavanagh. (29

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateflagy 30, 2012, between SBA Communications Catfion and
Brendan T. Cavanagh. (23

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated &snef 30, 2011, among SBA Senior Finance I, aobar, the several
lenders from time to time parties thereto, Torddtoninion (Texas) LLC, as administrative agent, JP§4o Chase Bank, N.A
as term loan syndication agent, Barclays Capitataaterm loan syndication agent, The Royal BanBawftland plc and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as co-term loacuthentation agents, Citibank, N.A. and JPMorgaasgBank, N.A., as



cc-revolving facility documentation agents, and thigeotagents thereto. (3

10.86C First Amendment, dated as of May 9, 2012, among SBAior Finance Il LLC, as borrower, the ExtendReyolving Lenders
(as defined therein) and Toronto Dominion (Texdst|as administrative agent. (3

10.86E Second Amendment, dated as of May 9, 2012, amorgSBior Finance Il LLC, as borrower, the Increnaéfiranche A
Term Lenders (as defined therein) and Toronto DamifiTexas) LLC, as administrative agent, TD Seamsi(USA) LLC and
Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as joint lead arrasgand TD Securities (USA) LLC, Wells Fargo SedesitLLC, RBS
Securities Inc., Citibank, N.A. and Deutsche BaekBities Inc., as bookrunners. (:

10.86F Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplemertedias of May 9, 2012, among SBA Senior Finant&. @, as borrower,
Citibank, N.A., Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, asnaidistrative agent, and The Toronto-Dominion Bakw York Branch,
as issuing lender. (3
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10.86C

10.86+

10.86I

10.86J

10.86K

10.86L

10.86N\

10.86N

10.874

10.8¢
10.90

10.91

10.92

10.93

10.94

10.95

10.96

Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplemertedias of May 9, 2012, among SBA Senior Finant¢. €, as borrower,
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Toronto DamiTexas) LLC, as administrative agent, and Theofto-Dominion
Bank, New York Branch, as issuing lender. (

Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplementedlas of May 9, 2012, among SBA Senior Finant¢.@, as borrower,
The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc, Toronto DominioeX&s) LLC, as administrative agent, and The Tor@dminion Bank,
New York Branch, as issuing lender. (X

Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplemertedias of May 9, 2012, among SBA Senior Finant¢. €, as borrower,
Toronto Dominion (New York) LLC, Toronto Dominiofféxas) LLC, as administrative agent, and The Tardminion
Bank, New York Branch, as issuing lender. (

Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplemertedias of May 9, 2012, among SBA Senior Finant¢. €, as borrower,
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Toronto Dominion (Texas)@las administrative agent, and The Toronto-Domifank, New York
Branch, as issuing lender. (=

Third Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2012ngrBBA Senior Finance Il LLC, as borrower, theesal/lenders from
time to time parties thereto, and Toronto Dominjbaxas) LLC, as administrative agent, Citigroup léaloMarkets Inc.,
Barclays Bank PLC and J.P. Morgan Securities LLJpmt lead arrangers, and Citigroup Global MasKet., Barclays Bank
PLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, TD Securities (J8AC, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, RBS Securities. and Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., as bookrunners. (

Fourth Amendment, dated as of September 28, 20i@nhg SBA Senior Finance Il LLC, as borrower, theesal lenders from
time to time parties thereto, and Toronto Dominjbaxas) LLC, as administrative agent, Citigroup l&aloMarkets Inc.,
Barclays Bank PLC and J.P. Morgan Securities LLJpat lead arrangers, and Citigroup Global MasKet., Barclays Bank
PLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, TD Securities (JSAC, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, RBS Securitins. and Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., as bookrunners. (

Fifth Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2012ngn$BA Senior Finance Il LLC, as borrower, therémeental Tranche B
Term Lenders (as defined therein) and Toronto DamifiTexas) LLC, as administrative agent, Citigrdslpbal Markets Inc.,
Barclays Bank PLC and J.P. Morgan Securities LLJpmt lead arrangers, and Citigroup Global MasKet., Barclays Bank
PLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, TD Securities (JSAC, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, RBS Securities. and Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., as bookrunners. (

Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplemertedlas of January 28, 2013, among SBA Senior Fa#rd.C, as
borrower, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americasoiiimr Dominion (Texas) LLC, as administrative agent] The Toronto-
Dominion Bank, New York Branch, as issuing lende

Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agmate dated as of June 30, 2011, among SBAC, SBA
Telecommunications, Inc., SBA Senior Finance, IBBA Senior Finance Il and certain of SBA Seniardfice II's
subsidiaries, as identified in the Guarantee arth@oal Agreement, in favor of Toronto Dominioneidas) LLC, as
administrative agent. (3(

SBA Communications Corporation 2010 PerformanceEty Incentive Plan. (32)

Third Loan and Security Agreement Supplement anergiment, dated as of April 16, 2010, by and amd#y Broperties,
Inc., SBA Sites, Inc. and SBA Structures, Inc.Basrowers, and Midland Loan Services, Inc., as Benon behalf of Deutscl
Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee.

Fourth Loan and Security Agreement Supplement ané@dment, dated as of April 16, 2010, by and antiBg Properties,
Inc., SBA Sites, Inc. and SBA Structures, Inc.Basrowers, and Midland Loan Services, Inc., as 8enon behalf of Deutscl
Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee.

Credit Agreement, dated as of April 2, 2012, am8B@\ Monarch Acquisition, LLC (formerly known as March Towers
Acquisition, LLC), as borrower, the several lendeosn time to time parties thereto, JPMorgan Chzesek, N.A., as
administrative agent, and J.P. Morgan Securitie§ Bhd Barclays Bank PLC, as joint lead arrangedsbamkrunners. (34

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as af 22012, among SBA Telecommunications, Inc., SBénarch
Acquisition, LLC (formerly known as Monarch Toweksquisition, LLC) and certain of its subsidiari@s favor of JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent.

Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplemertedias of April 2, 2012, among SBA Senior Finande_.IC, as borrowel
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Toronto Dominion (Texd<}, as administrative agent, and The Toronto-Daon Bank, New
York Branch, as issuing lender. (<

Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplemertedias of April 2, 2012, among SBA Senior Finande_.IC, as borrowel
Barclays Bank PLC, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC aasninistrative agent, and The Toronto-Dominion IBaxew York
Branch, as issuing lender. (=

Purchase Agreement, dated July 10, 2012, among@&BAmunications Corporation, SBA Telecommunicatiéns, and J.P.



10.97

10.98

10.99

*21
*23.1
*31.1

Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of theesghinitial purchasers listed on Schedule 1 tloer@id)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 13, 2@ir®png SBA Communications Corporation, SBA Telecamitations, Inc.
and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representafitieeoseveral initial purchasers listed on Sche@uleereto. (14

Purchase Agreement, dated September 20, 2012, dretBBA Communications Corporation and J.P. MorgacuSBties LLC,
as representative of the several initial purchalsstesl on Schedule 1 thereto. (

Registration Rights Agreement, dated Septembe2@B?, between SBA Communications Corporation aRdMorgan
Securities LLC, as representative of the sever@irpurchasers listed on Schedule 2 thereto.

Subsidiaries
Consent of Ernst & Young LLF
Certification by Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executi@éicer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002
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*31.2 Certification by Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief Finah@fficer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002
*32.1 Certification by Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executi@éicer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002
*32.2 Certification by Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief Finah@fficer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002

**101.INS  XBRL Instance Documen

**101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docure

**101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutn

*101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documk

**101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent:

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

* Filed herewitt

* Furnished herewitt

(1) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated March 12, 2012, previously filed by the Regnt.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated April 5, 2012, previously filed by the Retgant.

(3) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated October 4, 2012, previously filed by thegR&ant.

(4) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated February 27, 2012, previously filed by Registrant

(5) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated June 28, 2012, previously filed by the Rieght.

(6) Incorporated by reference to the For-4 dated May 19, 2010, previously filed by the Regis.

(7) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated February 1, 2012, previously filed by tregRtrant.

(8) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated January 14, 2002, previously filed by tlegiRtrant.

(9) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006, previofiiyg by the Registran

(10) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated May 22, 2008, previously filed by the Réwgist.

(11) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, previofiiyg by the Registran

(12) Incorporated by reference to the For-3ASR dated February 27, 2012, previously filed ey Registrant

(13) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, previotiglg by the Registran

(14) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated July 16, 2012, previously filed by the Regint.

(15) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated September 28, 2012, previously filed byRlegistrant

(16) Incorporated by reference to the Registration 8tate on Form -4, previously filed by the Registrant (Registratdo. 33:-50219).

(17) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012, prelidiled by the Registran

(18) Incorporated by reference to the RegistraBtatement on Form S-1/A, previously filed by thegReant (Registration No. 333-
76547).

(19) Incorporated by reference to the Schedule 14A inetiry Proxy Statement dated April 16, 2002, praesiyp filed by the Registran

(20) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2011, prslidiled by the Registran

(21) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, previdiiiglg by the Registran

(22) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, previdiiiglg by the Registran

(23) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012, previotuiglg by the Registran

(24) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, previoiiiglg by the Registran

(25) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008, previoliglg by the Registran

(26) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011, previoliglg by the Registran

(27) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, previoiiiglg by the Registran

(28) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, previofikd by the Registran

(29) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, previdiiiglg by the Registran

(30) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated July 7, 2011, previously filed by the Réwgist.

(31) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated May 14, 2012, previously filed by the Réwgist.

(32) Incorporated by reference to the For-8 dated May 20, 2010, previously filed by the Regig.

(33) Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, previouiglg by the Registran

(34) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated April 2, 2012, previously filed by the Retgant.

(35) Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated September 25, 2012, previously filed byRlegistrant
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By: /sl Jeffrey A. Stoops

Jeffrey A. Stoops
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Date: February 27, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title. Date
/sl Steven E. Bernstein Chairman of the Board of Directors February 27, 2013
Steven E. Bernstei
/sl Jeffrey A. Stoops Chief Executive Officer and President February 27, 2013
Jeffrey A. Stoop: (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ Brendan T. Cavanagh Chief Financial Officer February 27, 2013
Brendan T. Cavanac (Principal Financial Officer
/sl Brian D. Lazarus Chief Accounting Officer February 27, 2013
Brian D. Lazaru (Principal Accounting Officer
/sl Brian C. Carr Director February 27, 2013
Brian C. Can
/s/ Duncan H. Cocroft Director February 27, 2013
Duncan H. Cocrof
/sl George R. Krouse Jr. Director February 27, 2013
George R. Krouse J
/sl Jack Langer Director February 27, 2013
Jack Lange
/sl Kevin L. Beebe Director February 27, 2013

Kevin L. Beebe
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of SBA Camigations Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of SBA Communications Corporation andiflidvies as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations, comprehensive loss, shareholeguity (deficit) and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Dece®ih012. These financial statements are theoressipility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit also includes examininga ¢est basis, evidence supporting the amounts iantbslures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accountingiptes used and significant estimates made by geamant, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of SBA
Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries at Bées 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated sesfitheir operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghDecember 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. galigraccepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), SBA
Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries’ iraeoontrol over financial reporting as of DecemB&y 2012, based on criteria established
in Internal Control 4ntegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiing Organizations of the Treadway Commissiod, @ur repol
dated February 27, 2013 expressed an unqualifisdoopthereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI
Certified Public Accountan

Boca Raton, Florida
February 27, 2013
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par values)

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $246 ati8E$at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billimyghcompleted contrac
Prepaid and other current ass

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r
Intangible assets, n
Deferred financing fees, n
Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Current maturities of lor-term debt

Deferred revenu

Accrued interes

Other current liabilitie:

Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Total lon¢-term liabilities

Redeemable noncontrolling intere
Shareholder equity (deficit):
Preferred stoc- par value $.01, 30,000 shares authorized, no siemasd or outstandir
Common stock - Class A, par value $.01, 400,000eshauthorized 126,933 and 109,675 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 ant, 28dpectively
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive income,
Total shareholde’ equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity (deficit)

December 31

December 31

2012 2011
$ 23309 $ 47,31
27,70¢ 22,26¢
5,471 5,77¢
39,00¢ 22,10(
23,64 17,65¢
39,54 14,24¢
368,56 129,35(
2,671,31 1,583,39.
3,134,13; 1,639,78.
66,32 42,06
355,28 211,80;
$6,59561  $3,606,39
$ 2769 $ 12,75
42,05 23,74¢
475,35: 5,00(
76,66¢ 49,77¢
46,23 32,35;
195,69( 3,25(
863,68 126,88
4,880,75: 3,349,48!
186,47 129,28;
5,067,22 3,478,76
11,71 12,06¢
1,26¢ 1,097
3,111,10 2,268,24.
(2,462,17) (2,281,13)
2,791 48F
652,99: (11,31
$6,59561  $3,606,39

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
Revenues
Site leasing $846,09: $616,29: $ 535,44
Site developmer 107,99( 81,87¢ 91,17¢
Total revenue 954,08 698,17( 626,61!
Operating expense
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, ammmeind amortization shown belov
Cost of site leasin 188,95: 131,91¢ 119,14:
Cost of site developme 90,55¢ 71,00¢ 80,30:
Selling, general and administrati 72,14¢ 62,82¢ 58,20
Acquisition related expens 40,43: 7,14¢ 10,10¢
Asset impairmen 6,38: 5,47: 5,86%
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat 408,46° 309,14¢ 278,72
Total operating expens: 806,93 587,51 552,34t
Operating incom: 147,14t 110,65¢ 74,27
Other income (expense
Interest incom 1,12¢ 13€ 432
Interest expens (196,24 (160,89¢) (149,92)
Non-cash interest expen (70,110 (63,629 (60,07()
Amortization of deferred financing fe (22,870) (9,189 (9,09¢9)
Loss from extinguishment of debt, r (51,799 (1,696 (49,06()
Other income (expens 5,654 (165) 29
Total other expens (324,239 (235,43)) (267,689
Loss before provision for income tax (177,09) (124,779 (193,419
Provision for income taxe (6,594 (2,119 (1,005
Net loss from continuing operatio (183,68¢) (126,89 (194,42)
Income from discontinued operations, net of incdaxes 2,29¢ — —
Net loss (181,391) (126,89) (194,42)
Net loss (income) attributable to the noncontrgllinterest 353 43€ (259
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Coriore $(181,03) $(126,45() $(194,67.)
Basic and diluted per common share amot
Loss from continuing operatiol $ (159 $ (11H $ (169
Income from discontinued operatic 0.0z — —
Net loss per common shg $ (15) $ (@1Q1H $ (169
Basic and diluted weighted average number of comshane: 120,28 111,59! 115,59:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011 AND 201

(in thousands)

For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
Net loss from continuing operatio $(183,68() $(126,89) $(194,42)
Income from discontinued operations, net of te , — —
Other comprehensive loss associated with derivatsttuments

Amortization of net deferred loss from settlemeinderivative financial instrumen — — 632

Write-off of net deferred loss from derivative instrunwerelated to repurchase of di — — 3,64
Foreign currency translation adjustme 2,30¢ (1,729 701
Comprehensive los (179,089 (128,62() (189,44

Other comprehensive loss (gain) attributable tacoatrolling interes 353 43€ (29¢)
Comprehensive loss attributable to SBA Communicati@orporatior $(178,73) $(128,18) $(189,74)

The accompanying condensed notes are an integtadfthese consolidated financial statements.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011 AND 201
(in thousands)

Accumulated

Class A Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated  Comprehensive  Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Income Interests Total
BALANCE, December 31, 20C 117,08: $1,171 $2,228,26! $(1,627,60) $ (2,809 $ 91t $599,94¢
Net loss attributable to SBA
Communication: — — — (194,674 — 253 (194,42)

Amortization of net deferred loss fror

settlement of derivative financial

instruments — — — — 632 — 632
Write-off of net deferred loss from

derivative instruments related to

repurchase of del — — — — 3,64t — 3,64¢
Foreign currency translation

adjustment: — — — — 701 — 701
Non-cash compensatic — — 10,56( — — — 10,56(
Common stock issued in connection

with stock purchase/option pla 924 9 16,12 — — — 16,13
Proceeds from the settlement of

convertible note hedge — — 8,491 — — — 8,491
Purchase of redeemable noncontrolli

interests — — (7,500 — — (703) (8,207%)
Exchange of redeemable noncontroll

interests — — (12,497 — — (46E) (12,957
Repurchase and retirement of comm

stock (3,179 (32 — (107,399 — — (107,421

BALANCE, December 31, 201 114,83; $1,14¢ $2,243,45 $(1,929,67) $ 2,17t $ —  $317,11

Net loss attributable to SBA

Communication — — — (126,45¢) — — (126,45¢)
Foreign currency translation

adjustment: — — (39 — (1,690 — (1,729

Equity component related to
repurchases of the 1.875%

convertible deb — — (2,607) — — — (2,607)
Non-cash compensatic — — 11,63¢ — — — 11,63¢
Common stock issued in connection

with stock purchase/option pla 761 8 15,79: — — — 15,80:
Repurchase and retirement of common

stock (5,919 (59 — (225,01)) — — (225,079

BALANCE, December 31, 201 109,67¢ $1,097 $2,268,24. $(2,281,13) $ 48t % —  $ (11,319

(continued)
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011 AND 201
(in thousands)

Accumulated

Class A Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive  Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Income Interests Total
BALANCE, December 31, 201 109,67¢ $1,097 $2,268,24. $(2,281,13) $ 48t  $ —  $(11,31)
Net loss attributable to SBA
Communications Corporatic — — — (181,03) — — (181,03)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment: — — — — 2,30¢ — 2,30¢
Equity component related to
repurchases of convertible d¢ — — (41,569 — — — (41,569
Non-cash compensatic — — 14,20: — — — 14,20:
Common stock issued in connection
with acquisitions 9,83¢ 98 555,28 — — — 555,37¢
Common stock issued in connectior
with options plans/restriction lap 1,41¢ 14 31,13¢ — — — 31,15:
Proceeds from sale of common st 6,00¢ 6C 283,81. — — — 283,87.
BALANCE, December 31, 201 126,93. $1,26¢ $3,111,10 $(2,462,17) $ 2,791 $ —  $652,99:

The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statements
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (181,39()  $(126,89)  $ (194,42)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby operating activitie:
Income from discontinued operations, net of incdaxes (2,296 — —
Depreciation, accretion, and amortizat 408,46 309,14¢ 278,72
Non-cash interest expen 70,11« 63,62¢ 60,07(
Deferred income tax expense (bene 1,36( (1,68¢€) (737)
Asset impairmen 6,38: 5,472 5,86:
Non-cash compensation exper 13,96¢ 11,46¢ 10,50:
Amortization of deferred financing fe 12,87( 9,18¢ 9,09¢
Loss from extinguishment of debt, r 51,79¢ 1,69¢ 49,06(
Other noi-cash items reflected in the Statements of Opers (5,319 76€ 162
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nacqtiisitions
Accounts receivable and costs and estimated earitingxcess of billings
on uncompleted contrac (18,804 (3,709 (5,919
Prepaid and other assi (82,759 (27,425 (15,029
Accounts payable and accrued exper 8,251 3,81¢ (3,319
Accrued interes 13,88: 58 (3,300
Other liabilities 44,39( 3,53( 10,37:
Net cash provided by operating activit 340,91« 249,05¢ 201,14(
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions and related eeouts (2,258,65) (379,32() (328,04Y)
Capital expenditure (113,264 (126,939 (66,619
Proceeds from sale of DAS netwol 100,00( — —
Other investing activitie (3,13 (1,630 (30,37¢)
Net cash used in investing activiti (2,275,05) (507,88 (425,03
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from 5.625% and 5.75% Senior Notes, rfees 1,277,72! — —
Proceeds from SBA Tower Trust Series 2012, ne¢e$ 596,08 — —
Borrowings under Revolving Credit Facili 584,00( 250,00( 20,00(
Repayments under Revolving Credit Faci (484,000 (270,000 —
Proceeds from Term Loans, net of fi 493,10° 492,56( —
Proceeds from Mobilitie Bridge Loan, net of fe 395,00( — —
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of 283,87 — —
Repurchase of 8.0% Notes and 8.25% N (542,207 — —
Repayment of Mobilitie Bridge Log (400,000 — —
Payments on early extinguishment of convertiblet (107,49 (17,039 (30,409
Repayments of Term Loal (10,000 (2,500 —
Repurchase and retirement of common s — (225,079 (107,420
Proceeds from 2010 Tower Securities, net of — — 1,212,19.
Payment on extinguishment of CMBS Certifice — — (979,369
Proceeds from employee stock purchase/stock optaors 31,15: 15,80: 16,13
Other financing activitie (83E) (1,709 (4,309
Net cash provided by financing activiti 2,116,41. 242,04 126,82:
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaénts 1,21z (15%) 15
Net cash provided by discontinued operatic
Operating Activities 2,29¢ — —
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 185,78: (16,939 (97,069
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of yea 47,31¢ 64,25¢ 161,31
End of yeal $ 233,09 $ 47,31¢ $ 64,25¢

(continued)
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATIO!
Cash paid during the period fc

Interest $182,47:  $161,25. $153,60°
Income taxe: $ 530/ $ 4,21t $ 1,54t

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION OF NO-CASH ACTIVITIES:
Assets acquired through capital lea $ 250¢ $ 257C $§ 1,13(
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expemseaital expenditure $10,16¢ $ 247C $ 2,80(
Deferred payment on Brazil acquired as: $17589( § — $ —
Issuance of stock for acquisitio $555,37¢ $ @ — § —
Promissory note received in connection with dispasiof DAS asset $25000 $ — $§ —
Contribution of DAS Networks in exchange for equityestmen $ — $ — $ 11,00(
Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling inter $ — $ — $ 12,50(

The accompanying condensed notes are an integtadfthese consolidated financial statements.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL

SBA Communications Corporation (the “Company” oB#S) was incorporated in the State of Florida infda1997. The Company is
a holding company that holds all of the outstandiapgital stock of SBA Telecommunications, LLC (farly known as SBA
Telecommunications, Inc.), (“Telecommunicationd¢lecommunications is a holding company that htiésoutstanding capital stock of
SBA Senior Finance, LLC (formerly known as SBA Serkinance, Inc.), (“SBA Senior Finance”) and SBé&wers 1V, an operating
subsidiary that is not a party to any loan agreg¢n®BA Towers IV also owns the interest in our Bifam subsidiaries. SBA Senior Finance
a holding company that holds, directly or indirgcthe equity interest in certain subsidiaries thatied the Secured Tower Revenue Secu
Series 2010-1 (the “2010-1 Tower Securities”), Sieeured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010-2Z€Hd-2 Tower Securities” and
together with the 2010-1 Tower Securities, the @Tbwer Securities”) and the Secured Tower Rev&aairities Series 2012-1 (the “2012-
1 Tower Securities” and together with the 2010 Tio®ecurities, the “Tower Securitiesdhd certain subsidiaries that were not involvethe
issuance of the SBA Tower Securities. With respetihe subsidiaries involved in the issuance ofSBA Tower Securities, SBA Senior
Finance is the sole member of SBA Holdings, LLC & Depositor, LLC. SBA Holdings, LLC is the satfeember of SBA Guarantor,
LLC. SBA Guarantor, LLC holds all of the capitabsk of the companies referred to as the “Borrowersler the SBA Tower Securities (see
Note 13). With respect to subsidiaries not involirethe issuance of the SBA Tower Securities, SEBAiIS Finance holds all of tt
membership interests in SBA Senior Finance Il, (LEBA Senior Finance 11”) and certain naperating subsidiaries. SBA Senior Financ
holds, directly or indirectly, all the capital dfd International subsidiaries, with the exceptibowr Brazilian subsidiary, and certain other
tower companies (known as “Tower Companies”). SBAISr Finance Il also holds, directly or indirectil the capital stock and/or
membership interests of certain other subsidianieslved in providing services, including SBA Netk&ervices, LLC (formerly known as
SBA Network Services, Inc.), (“Network Services® well as SBA Network Management, Inc. (“Networkidgement”which manages ar
administers the operations of the Borrowers.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The table below outlines the legal structure ofGlmenpany at December 31, 2012:

SEACOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

SBA TELECOMMUMNICATIONS, LLC

SHA TowersiV, LLC SHA Senior Finance LLC Minority Investments

I | -

Brazil Mon. Securitired and Non - Loan
Shareholdar Party Domeatic Subskiiaries | SBA Senior Finance il LLC | |
| jl 5BA Depositor, LLC S8A Holdings, LLC
Other International Domestic | S84 Guarantor, LLC
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries ]:

| I _J Borrowers

SBACanada | | SBA Central SBANetwork | | SBAMetwork | | Other Tower

Hobdings, inc. | America, LLC Serviges, LLC Management, Inc. Companies

As of December 31, 2012, the Company owned andatgebmvireless communications towers in the UnitedeS and its territories. In
addition, the Company owned towers in Brazil, Candtbsta Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, NicaraguhPa&nama. Space on these towers is
leased primarily to wireless service providers.oA®ecember 31, 2012, the Company owned 17,49 1rteites.

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the significant accounting policieplégd in the preparation of the accompanying cadatéd financial statements is as
follows:

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have beguaped in accordance with accounting principles glyeaccepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the Gmany and its majority and wholly-owned subsidiarisi significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminateshisotidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires managetrto make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported icdheolidated financial statements and accompamtegs. The significant estimates made
by management relate to the allowance for doubifabunts, the costs and revenue relating to thep@ows construction contracts, stock-
based compensation assumptions, valuation allowatated to deferred tax assets, fair value of lived assets, the useful lives of towers
and intangible assets, anticipated property tagssssents, fair value of investments and asse¢nstint obligations. Management develops
estimates based on historical experience and gousaassumptions about the future that are belitwée reasonable based on the
information available. These estimates ultimategyrdiffer from actual results and such differencesld be material.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of aadlanks, money market funds, commercial paperctnelr marketable securities
with an original maturity of three months or lesshee time of purchase. These investments areechat cost, which approximates fair value.

I nvestments

Investment securities with original maturities obma than three months but less than one year atdfrpurchase are considered short-
term investments. The Company’s short-term investmprimarily consist of certificates of depositlwmaturities of less than a year.
Investment securities with maturities of more thayear are considered long-term investments andlassified in other assets on the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Longiterestments primarily consist of U.S. Treasurmastual funds, and preferred
securities. Gross purchases and sales of the Corsgaaestments are presented within “Cash flovesrfinvesting activities” on the
Company'’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

The Company accounts for its equity investmengwivately held companies under the cost method.aduggegate carrying value of the
Company’s cost-method investments was approxim&gly7 million and $48.2 million as of December 2212 and December 31, 2011
respectively, and is classified within other assetshe Company’s condensed consolidated balaressh

The Company evaluates its cost-method investmenigipairment at least annually. The Company detemthe fair value of its cost-
method investments by considering available evideimzluding general market conditions, the inve'stéinancial condition, near-term
prospects, market comparables and subsequent rofifidancing. The Company measures and recordmgsmethod investments at fair
value when they are deemed to be other-than-temifyorapaired. The Company did not recognize anpainment loss during the years
ended December 31, 2012, December 31, 2011, anehibesr 31, 2010.

Restricted Cash

The Company classifies all cash pledged as codlbtersecure certain obligations and all cash whisgeis limited as restricted cash.
This includes cash held in escrow to fund certagerve accounts relating to the Tower Securitiegedisas for payment and performance
bonds and surety bonds issued for the benefiteoCtbmpany in the ordinary course of business (see A).

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost astimated fair value (in the case of acquired proge), adjusted for asset impairment
and estimated asset retirement obligations. Castscéated with the development and constructidoweérs are capitalized as a cost of the
towers. Costs for self-constructed towers incluidead materials and labor, indirect costs and edipid interest. Approximately $0.3 million,
$0.5 million, and $0.4 million of interest cost weapitalized in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Depreciation on towers and related componentsogiged using the straight-line method over thenestéd useful lives, not to exceed
the minimum lease term of the underlying groundéed’he Company defines the minimum lease tertheashorter of the period from lease
inception through the end of the term of all terlaate obligations in existence at ground leasepiten, including renewal periods, or the
ground lease term, including renewal periods. Iferant lease obligation exists at the date ofmidease inception, the initial term of the
ground lease is considered the minimum lease teeasehold improvements are amortized on a stréilghiasis over the shorter of the
useful life of the improvement or the minimum leésen of the lease. For all other property and jgepgint, depreciation is provided using the
straight-line method over the estimated usefuklive

F-11



Table of Contents

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company performs ongoing evaluations of thienesed useful lives of its property and equipmemtdepreciation purposes. The
estimated useful lives are determined and contiyeabluated based on the period over which sesvace expected to be rendered by the
asset. If the useful lives of assets are reduagatediation may be accelerated in future yeargdttp and equipment under capital leases are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the terrtheflease or the remaining estimated life of &aséd property, whichever is shorter, and the
related amortization is included in depreciatiopense. Expenditures for maintenance and repaiarensed as incurred.

Asset classes and related estimated useful liveasafollows:

Towers and related compone 3- 15 year
Furniture, equipment and vehicl 2-7year
Buildings and improvemen 5-10year

Betterments, improvements and significant repaitsch increase the value or extend the life of ssef are capitalized and depreciated
over the remaining estimated useful life of thepezsive asset. Changes in an assestimated useful life are accounted for prospelgtj with
the book value of the asset at the time of the gbdreing depreciated over the revised remaininfuliéfie. There has been no material img
for changes in estimated useful lives for any ypaesented.

Deferred Financing Fees

Financing fees related to the issuance of debt baea deferred and are being amortized using feetife interest rate method over-
expected length of related indebtedness (see NBte 1

Deferred Lease Costs

The Company defers certain initial direct cost®easded with the origination of tenant leases aabé amendments and amortizes these
costs over the initial lease term or over the leaga remaining if related to a lease amendmerth Sieferred costs were approximately $:
million, $5.1 million, and $4.7 million in 2012, 2@, and 2010, respectively. Amortization expenss $4&6 million, $4.6 million, and $3.6
million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 281id 2010, respectively, and is included in costitef leasing on the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of Deee®b, 2012 and 2011, unamortized deferred leasts e@re $15.6 million and $9.9
million, respectively, and are included in othesets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet

I ntangible Assets

The Company classifies as intangible assets thedhie of current leases in place at the acqaisiiate of towers and related assets
(referred to as the “Current contract intangibleat)d the fair value of future tenant leases gdieid to be added to the acquired towers
(referred to as the “Network location intangibles'hese intangibles are estimated to have a uifulonsistent with the useful life of the
related tower assets, which is typically 15 yeBos.all intangible assets, amortization is providsihg the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives as the benefit associatéu tivese intangible assets is anticipated to bieetbevenly over the life of the asset.
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I mpairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its individual long-lived agldted assets with finite lives for indicatordgrapairment to determine when an
impairment analysis should be performed. The Companaluates its tower assets and Current coninganigibles at the tower level, which is
the lowest level for which identifiable cash floasists. The Company evaluates its Network locaititengibles for impairment at the tower
leasing business level whenever indicators of inmpant are present. The Company has establishelicg fmat least annually evaluate its
tower assets and Current contract intangiblesnfiprairment.

The Company records an impairment charge when dmep@ny believes an investment in towers or relagseits has been impaired,
such that future undiscounted cash flows wouldracover the then current carrying value of the stweent in the tower site and related
intangible. Estimates and assumptions inherertarimpairment evaluation include, but are not kuito, general market and economic
conditions, historical operating results, geograpbécation, lease-up potential and expected tinsigase-up. In addition, the Company
makes certain assumptions in determining an assét'salue for the purpose of calculating the amtoaf an impairment charge. The
Company recorded an impairment charge of $6.4anill$5.5 million and $5.9 million for the years eddbecember 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair market valuessdfriaincial instruments based on the fair valueanay, which requires an entity to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minirtfireuse of unobservable inputs when measuring&ire. The following three levels of
inputs may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities that the Company has the abila@yatcess at the measurement
date.

Level Z Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssajuated prices for similar assets or liabilitiggoted prices in markets that are
not active; or other inputs that are observableaorbe corroborated by observable market dataufustantially the full term of
the assets or liabilitie:

Level & Unobservable inputs that are supported by littla@market activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or
liabilities.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from site leasing is recorded monthly asdgnized on a straight-line basis over the cutiesm of the related lease
agreements, which are generally five to ten ydeseivables recorded related to the straight-limihgjte leases are reflected in other assets
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rental amoereg/ed in advance are recorded as deferred revamthe Consolidated Balance She

Site development projects in which the Companyqueré consulting services include contracts on & &md materials basis or a fixed
price basis. Time and materials based contractbitked at contractual rates as the services aréaed. For those site development contracts
in which the Company performs work on a fixed ptieesis, site development billing (and revenue raitam) is based on the completion of
agreed upon phases of the project on a per site. hfgon the completion of each phase on a pebsités, the Company recognizes the
revenue related to that phase. Site developmejeqisogenerally take from 3 to 12 months to conaplet
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Revenue from construction projects is recognizetherpercentage-of-completion method of accountiletgrmined by the percentage
of cost incurred to date compared to managemestimated total cost for each contract. This metkagsed because management considers
total cost to be the best available measure ofrpesgon the contracts. These amounts are basedioaies, and the uncertainty inherent in
the estimates initially is reduced as work on thetacts nears completion. The asset “costs aimdagsid earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts” represents costs incurrdderenues recognized in excess of amounts billee liability “billings in excess of costs
and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracisltided within other current liabilities on the Coamy’s Consolidated Balance Sheets,
represents billings in excess of costs incurredramdnues recognized. Provisions for estimatece®ea uncompleted contracts are made in
the period in which such losses are determinecttprbbable.

On October 31, 2011, the Company entered into aevidsnendment with one of its wireless service jmew customers.
The Master Amendment serves as a separate amentimestth individual existing tenant lease agreerteaitthe Company is currently a
party to with that customer. Among other items, Meester Amendment (1) extends the current ternmefindividual leases, (2) permits the
customer limited early termination rights which Maié exercisable over a multi-year period, commegan the second half of 2013, on a
specific number of the existing leases, (3) allthmescustomer to make certain specific equipmenmgés at the tower sites in exchange for an
increase in monthly rental payment due from theasuer, and (4) slightly modifies the existing mdwtlease rates of certain leases. The
customer’s early termination rights are limitedwiespect to the aggregate number of leases thabenterminated and the number that may
be terminated in any quarter. The specific leasd®tterminated early and the timing of such teatiims has not been determined as of the
date of this filing. As a result, for accountingddimancial statement purposes, the Company hag msslimptions with regard to the leases to
be terminated and the timing of the terminatiortee Tompany has assumed that the customer will tatsthe maximum number of leases
allowable in each quarter, selecting the highestialeate leases at the earliest allowable dates.dJompany believes that these assumptions
will ensure that only the minimum known revenuetfoe pool of leases covered by the Master Agreemiiibe accrued on a straight-line
basis. The Company’s balance sheet and statemepeddtions reflect these assumptions. The aataskk that the customer terminates and
the timing and number of terminations may or may/bethose that we have identified in our assumgtidhe Company will monitor actual
results and elections under the Master Amendmehtecord any differences from previously made aggioms on a quarterly basis. To the
extent that the actual results materially diffemirthe assumptions made, the Company will disdlosémpact of these adjustments.

Allowance for Doubtful accounts

The Company performs periodic credit evaluationgso€ustomers. The Company monitors collectiorts gayments from its customers
and maintains a provision for estimated creditdgdsased upon historical experience, specific oust@ollection issues identified, and past
due balances as determined based on contractoe.teiterest is charged on outstanding receivdldes customers on a case by case ba:
accordance with the terms of the respective cotsti@cagreements with those customers. Amountsrdited to be uncollectible are written
off against the allowance for doubtful accountshia period in which uncollectibility is determingalbe probable.

The following is a rollforward of the allowance fdoubtful accounts for the years ended Decembe?2®112, 2011, and 2010;

For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Beginning balanc $ 13t $ 262 $ 35C
Provision for doubtful accoun 33C 70 63C
Write-offs, net of recoverie (219 (19¢) (7179)
Ending balanci $ 24¢€ $ 13t $ 262

F-14



Table of Contents

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cost of Revenue

Cost of site leasing revenue includes ground leasie property taxes, maintenance and other toperating expenses. All ground lease
rental obligations due to be paid out over theddgasm, including fixed escalations, are recordea atraight-line basis over the minimum
lease term. Liabilities recorded related to thaight-lining of ground leases are reflected in otbag-term liabilities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Cost of site development reverligdies the cost of materials, salaries and labstscincluding payroll taxes, subcontract
labor, vehicle expense and other costs directlyiagidectly related to the projects. All costs tethto site development projects are
recognized as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company had taxable losses during the yeaedeDdcember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, and as &, resubperating loss carry-
forwards have been generated. The majority of theseperating loss carry-forwards are fully resdras management believes it is not
“more-likely-than-not” that the Company will gengzaufficient taxable income in future periodseoagnize the losses. The tax years 1997
through 2011 remain open to examination by the njajisdictions in which the Company operates.

The Company determines whether it is “more-likdigfi-not” that a tax position taken in an incomertgirn will be sustained upon
examination, including resolution of any relategp@gls or litigation processes, based on the teahmnierits of the position. Once it is
determined that a position meets the more-likejnthot recognition threshold, the position is meaduo determine the amount of benefit to
recognize in the financial statements. The Compesynot identified any tax exposures that requiesarve. In the future, to the extent that
the Company records unrecognized tax exposuregedated interest and penalties will be recognagthterest expense in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company does not calculate U.S. taxes on uifittd earnings of foreign subsidiaries becaubsstamtially all such earnings are
expected to be reinvested indefinitely.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensapensfor all share-based payment awards madepiogees and directors,
including stock options, restricted stock units angployee stock purchases under employee stockasgplans. The Company records
compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitdimestock options and restricted stock units @traight-line basis over the vesting period.
Compensation expense for employee stock optiobased on the estimated fair value of the optiontherdate of the grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. Any stock optionsrgea to non-employees would be valued using thelB&choles option-pricing model
based on the market price of the underlying comstook on the “valuation date,” which for optionsnton-employees is the vesting date.
Expense related to options granted to non-employeesd be recognized on a straight-line basis dwershorter of the period over which
services are to be received or the vesting pe@otipensation expense for restricted stock uniigsed on the fair market value of the units
awarded at the date of the grant.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company has entered into ground leases fdattteunderlying the majority of the Company’s tosvek majority of these leases
require the Company to restore leaseholds to dngimal condition upon termination of the groumése.

The Company recognizes asset retirement obligatiotie period in which they are incurred, if aseaable estimate of a fair value can
be made, and accretes such liability through thigation’s estimated settlement date. The assatiasset retirement costs are capitalized as
part of the carrying amount of the related towredi assets, and over time, the liability is acetéteits present value each period and the
capitalized cost is depreciated over the estimasedul life of the tower.

The asset retirement obligation at December 312 201 December 31, 2011 was $7.5 million and $5libm respectively, and is
included in other long-term liabilities on the Cohidated Balance Sheets. Upon settlement of thigatibns, any difference between the cost
to retire an asset and the recorded liability éorded in the Consolidated Statements of Opera#sresgain or loss. In determining the impact
of the asset retirement obligations, the Compamgicdered the nature and scope of the contractstregion obligations contained in the
Company’s third party ground leases, the historieatement experience as an indicator of futustaration probabilities, intent in renewing
existing ground leases through lease terminatio@sgaurrent and future value and timing of estegdatstoration costs and the credit adju
risk-free rate used to discount future obligations.

The following summarizes the activity of the agstirement obligation liability:

For the year ended December 3.

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Beginning balanc $ 5,38¢ $ 521«
Additions 2,261 9
Currency translation adjustme 1 ()
Accretion expens 33z 25(
Removal / revision in estimat (475) (85
Ending balanc: $  7,50¢ $ 5,38¢

Loss Per Share

The Company has potential common stock equivalefased to its outstanding stock options and cditdersenior notes. These
potential common stock equivalents were not induidediluted loss per share because the effectavioave been anti-dilutive in calculating
the full year earnings per share. Accordingly, basid diluted loss per common share and the walghterage number of shares used in the
computations are the same for all periods presentdee Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Comprehensive | ncome (L 0ss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ahangquity (net assets) of a business enterptisagla period from transactions
other events and circumstances from non-owner ssuend is comprised of net income (loss) and aibeprehensive income (loss).

Foreign Currency Trandation

All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiarteat do not utilize the United States dollar agutsctional currency are translated at
period-end rates of exchange, while revenues apdreses are translated at monthly weighted aveedgs of exchange for the year.
Unrealized translation gains and losses are reghagdoreign currency translation adjustments thinoather comprehensive loss in
shareholders’ equity.
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Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to pear ymounts or balances to conform to the presemtatlopted in the current year.

Acquisitions
The Company accounts for acquisitions under theiaittpn method of accounting. The assets andliigds acquired are

recorded at fair market value at the date of eaduiaition and the results of operations of theuiregl assets are included with those of the
Company from the dates of the respective acquistidbhe Company continues to evaluate all acqoistfor a period not to exceed one year
after the applicable closing date of each transadt determine whether any additional adjustmargsneeded to the allocation of the
purchase price paid for the assets acquired ahbilities assumed. The intangible assets reprebenidlue associated with the current leas
the acquisition date (“Current contract Intangiblesd future tenant leases anticipated to be adol#ue towers (“Network location
intangibles”) and were calculated using the distedivalues of the current or future expected clsist The intangible assets are estimated
to have a useful life consistent with the usefig 6f the related tower assets, which is typicaByyears.

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Comparay agree to pay additional consideration (oneats) if the towers ¢
businesses that are acquired meet or exceed cpedormance targets over a period of one to theaes after they have been acquired. The
Company records contingent consideration for adgipnis that occurred prior to January 1, 2009 wtiencontingent consideration is paid.
Effective January 1, 2009, the Company accruesdotingent consideration in connection with acdigss at fair value as of the date of the
acquisition. All subsequent changes in fair valtieamtingent consideration are recorded throughsBlidated Statements of Operations. In
certain acquisitions, the additional consideratitay be paid in cash or shares of Class A commark stothe Company’s option.

3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis— The Company’s earnouts related to acquisitioastagasured at fair value on a
recurring basis using Level 3 inputs. The Compagtganines the fair value of acquisition-relatedtoaent consideration, and any
subsequent changes in fair value, using a discdymt#bability-weighted approach, as determinedgusigvel 3 inputs. The fair value of the
earnouts is reviewed quarterly and is based opdlyments the Company expects to make based omitésdtaternal observations related to
the anticipated performance of the underlying as§dte Company’s estimate of the fair value obligation if the performance targets
contained in various acquisition agreements werewas $9.8 million and $5.5 million as of DecemBg&r 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively, which the Company recorded in accreigzbnses on its Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis—The Company’s long-lived assets (see Note 2)ngitdes and asset
retirement obligations (see Note 2) are measuréaratalue on a nonrecurring basis using Leveaiiis. Level 3 valuations rely on
unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, ardude situations where there is little, if anyarket activity for the asset or liability. The
Company considers many factors and makes certainrggtions when making this assessment, includingdtuimited to: general market
and economic conditions, historical operating rssgleographic location, lease-up potential anéetgal timing of lease-up. The fair value of
the long-lived assets, intangibles and asset naéint obligations is calculated using a discounthdlow model.
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Fair Value of Financial I nstruments —The carrying values of cash and cash equivalectjunts receivable, restricted cash, accounts
payable, and short-term investments, which cor$i$6.3 million and $5.6 million in certificate deposits, as of December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively, approximate tie¢dted estimated fair values due to the short ritatof those instruments. The
Company’s estimate of the fair value of its invesirs in treasury and corporate bonds, includingeciportion, are based primarily upon
Level 1 reported market values. As of the dater@iecember 31, 2012, the carrying value and fainevof the held-to-maturity
investments, including current portion, was $1.8iom and $1.5 million, respectively. As of the danding December 31, 2011, the carrying
value and fair value of the held-to-maturity invesnts, including current portion, was $1.4 milliomd $1.6 million, respectively.

The Company determines fair value of its debt imants utilizing various Level 2 sources includingted prices and indicative quc
(non-binding quotes) from brokers that require jmegt to interpret market information including inggl credit spreads for similar
borrowings on recent trades or bid/ask prices.fahevalue of the Revolving Credit Facility is cadisred to be equal to the carrying value
because the interest payments are based on Ewodai#s that reset every month. The Company daiesatieve its credit risk has changed
materially from the date the applicable EurodoRate plus 187.5 basis points was set for the Reng@redit Facility. The following table
reflects fair values, principal balances and cagyialues of the Company’s debt instruments (sde M8).

As of December 31, 201 As of December 31, 201
Fair Principal Carrying Fair Principal Carrying
Value Balance Value Value Balance Value
(in millions)

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2! $ 7141 $ 468.6 $ 457« $ 6052 $ 535.C $ 485.(
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2( 1,060.¢ 500.C 430.¢ 761.€ 500.C 397.¢
8.0% Senior Notes due 20 — — — 405.( 375.C 373.2
8.25% Senior Notes due 20 272.2 243.¢ 242.2 407.¢ 375.( 372.4
5.625% Senior Notes due 20 523.¢ 500.( 500.( — — —
5.75% Senior Notes due 20 848.( 800.( 800.( — — —
4.254% 201-1 Tower Securitie 713.€ 680.( 680.( 699.( 680.( 680.(
5.101% 201-2 Tower Securitie 621.2 550.( 550.( 579.( 550.( 550.(
2.933% 201-1 Tower Securitie 635.¢ 610.( 610.( — — —
Revolving Credit Facility 100.( 100.( 100.( — — —
2011 Term Loal 493.7 492.F 491.F 494 .¢ 497.F 496.<
20171 Term Loar 194.t 195.C 195.C — — —
2012-2 Term Loar 300.¢ 300.C 299.: — — —
Totals: $6,478.! $5,440.. $5,356.: $3,952.( $3,512.f $3,354.
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4. RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash consists of the following:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201 Included on Balance Shee
(in thousands)
Securitization escrow accour $ 26,77¢ $ 21,37¢ Restricted cas- current asse
Payment and performance bot 934 88¢ Restricted cas- current asse
Surety bonds and workers compense 11,98¢ 11,49t Other asset- noncurren
Total restricted cas $ 39,69 $ 33,76:

Pursuant to the terms of the Tower Securities K#te 13), the Company is required to establishcar#féization escrow account, held
the indenture trustee, into which all rents anctodums due on the towers that secure the Toweri8es are directly deposited by the
lessees. These restricted cash amounts are uigwttoeserve accounts for the payment of (1) debtice costs, (2) ground rents, real estate
and personal property taxes and insurance prenmelai®d to tower sites, (3) trustee and servickygeases, (4) management fees, and (5) to
reserve a portion of advance rents from tenants.rébtricted cash in the controlled deposit accouakcess of required reserve balances is
subsequently released to the Borrowers (as definBidte 13) monthly, provided that the Borrowers ar compliance with their debt service
coverage ratio and that no Event of Default hasized. All monies held by the indenture trusteedassified as restricted cash on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Payment and performance bonds relate primarilyptiateral requirements for tower construction cathein process by the Company.
Cash is pledged as collateral related to suretgddssued for the benefit of the Company or it8iafiés in the ordinary course of business
primarily related to the Company’s tower removaligdttions. As of December 31, 2012, the Company$&&l1 million in surety, payment
and performance bonds for which it is only requite@gost $10.5 million in collateral. The Compareripdically evaluates the collateral
posted for its bonds to ensure that it meets thenmim requirements. As of December 31, 2012 and 20 Company had pledged $2.3
million and $2.3 million, respectively, as collaibrelated to its workers compensation policy. Retstd cash for surety bonds and workers
compensation are included in other assets on thep@oy’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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5. OTHER ASSETS
The Company’s other assets are comprised of thmnfivig:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)

Restricted cas-LT $ 11,98¢ $ 11,49¢
Long-term investment 52,93¢ 49,52¢
Prepaid land rer 112,94( 57,51(
Straigh-line receivable 116,36: 64,35
Other 61,05. 28,91
Total other asse $ 355,28( $ 211,80:

6. ACQUISITIONS
Mobilitie Acquisition

On April 2, 2012, the Company, through its whollreed subsidiary SBA Monarch Acquisition, LLC (“SBvonarch”), completed the
acquisition of the equity interests of specifiediteas that were affiliates of Mobilitie LLC (theéViobilitie Acquisition”). As of April 2, 2012,
these entities owned 2,281 towers with an additiB6aowers in development in the U.S. and Cerfirakrica and also owned indoor and
outdoor distributed antenna system (“DAS”) assetShicago, Las Vegas, New York City and Auburn,bdaa. The total consideration paid
by the Company in the Mobilitie Acquisition was $hillion consisting of (i) $850.0 million in castmd (ii) 5,250,000 newly issued shares of
the Company’s Class A common stock. Transactiots@ssociated with the acquisition were approxitp#i#3.6 million and are included in
acquisition related expenses in the accompanyindemsed consolidated statement of operations.

The Company has included the effect of the Mohkilikcquisition in its results of operations prospagy from the date of the
acquisition. Since the acquisition date throughddelger 31, 2012, the Mobilitie assets had reventi#8&3 million and a net loss of $23.6
million. The net loss includes the impact of disthomed operations from certain of the DAS assasttie Company sold to ExteNet Systems,
Inc. (“ExteNet”) on September 6, 2012 and OctolRr2D12.

The preliminary estimate of the fair value of tsets acquired and liabilities assumed as of theisition date relating to the Mobilitie
Acquisition is summarized below (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivale $ 1,53¢
Accounts receivabl 52z
Other current asse 3,73¢
Assets held for sale (discontinued operati 125,00(
Property and equipme 498,63
Intangible asset:

Current contract intangible 399,79¢

Network location intangible 87,15’
Other asset 22,59¢
Total assets acquire 1,138,98
Current liabilities assume (10,439
Long-term deferred tax liabilit (13,45)
Net assets acquire $1,115,09
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The preliminary allocation of the purchase pricé e finalized upon the completion of analyseshaf fair value of the assets and
liabilities acquired primarily related to propetix accruals and other working capital items.

TowerCo Acquisition

On October 1, 2012, the Company, through its whollyned subsidiary, completed the acquisition of @d®o 1l Holdings LLC, which
owned 3,256 tower sites in 47 states across thedd@GPuerto Rico. As consideration for the actjaisi the Company paid $1.2 billion in
cash and issued 4,588,840 shares of its Class Aoonstock. Transaction costs associated with thaisition were approximately $17.0
million and are included in acquisition related empes in the accompanying condensed consolidateshstnt of operations.

The Company has included the effect of the TowekCquisition in its results of operations prospeelwfrom the date of the
acquisition. Since the acquisition date throughddelger 31, 2012, the TowerCo assets had revenuaf million and a net loss of $18.8
million.

The preliminary estimate of the fair value of tlesets acquired and liabilities assumed as of theisition date relating to the TowerCo
Acquisition is summarized below (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalel $ 3,63¢
Accounts receivabl 2,94«
Other current asse 7,591
Property and equipme 538,68(
Intangible asset:

Current contract intangible 787,67

Network location intangible 151,78
Other asset 11,15(
Total assets acquire 1,503,46:
Liabilities assumei (8,56%)
Net assets acquire $1,494,89.

The preliminary allocation of the purchase pricé e finalized upon the completion of analyseshaf fair value of the assets and
liabilities acquired primarily related to propetix accruals and other working capital items.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following table presents the unaudited pro #owansolidated results of operations of the Comfanthe years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, as iMbkilitie and TowerCo acquisitions were complessdf the acquisition of Mobilitie and
TowerCo was completed as of January 1, 2011:

For the years ended December 3.
2012 2011
(in thousands)

Revenues
Site leasin $ 988,21t $ 852,84
Site developmer 107,99( 81,87¢
Total revenue 1,096,201 934,72:
Operating incom $ 91,97 $ (955)
Net loss $ (281,799 $ (328,82
Other Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2012, in additche Mobilitie and TowerCo acquisitions, then@many acquired 1,093
completed towers and related assets and liabilidéshese, the Company acquired 800 freestandirgess towers in Brazil from Vivo S.A.
on December 20, 2012 for an aggregate purchase grapproximately $175.9 million which was paidJamuary 4, 2013 from cash on hand
and borrowings under the Company’s Revolving CrEditility.

These acquisitions were not significant to the Canypand, accordingly, pro forma financial infornoatihas not been presented. The
Company evaluates all acquisitions after the apples closing date of each transaction to determvimether any additional adjustments are
needed to the allocation of the purchase price foaithe assets acquired and liabilities assumechdéjpr balance sheet caption, as well as the
separate recognition of intangible assets from gadlbd certain criteria are met.

Summary of Acquisitions
The following table summarizes the Company’s adgtjorsactivity:

For the year ended December 3
2012 2011 2010

Tower acquisitions (number of towers) 6,63( 1,08t 712

The following table summarizes the Company’s adtiarscapital expenditures:

For the year ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010

(in thousands)
Towers and related intangible ass $2,205,85! $348,95( $294,42¢
Ground lease land purchas 46,86¢ 25,75t 24,95(
Earnouts 5,931 4,61 8,66¢
Total acquisition capital expenditur $2,258,65! $379,32( $328,04!

The Company paid, as part of the ground lease psechrogram, $9.7 million, $9.8 million, and $9.{llion for long-term extensions
during the years ending 2012, 2011, and 2010, otispéy.

Earnouts

The Company recorded $0.8 million of additional exge, net, and $0.7 million of a reduction in exggemet, related to contingent
consideration fair value adjustments during theyeaded December 31, 2012 and 2011, respecti&djystments recorded to contingent
consideration in the year ended December 31, 2@Enet material.
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As of December 31, 2012, the Company’s estimatts abligation if the performance targets contaiimedarious acquisition
agreements were met was $9.8 million which the Gomgpecorded in accrued expenses, compared tothatfal obligation of $5.5 million
at December 31, 2011.

7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On September 6, 2012, the Company sold certain B&®orks located in New York, Chicago and Las Vetm&xteNet for
approximately $119.3 million, comprised of $94.3liom in cash and $25 million in the form of a primsory note. One additional DAS
network in Auburn, Alabama was sold to ExteNet atdBer 23, 2012 for $5.7 million in cash.

The sold DAS networks, which are included in thempany’s Site Leasing segment, met both the compg@rahheld for sale criteria
during the second quarter of 2012 and the restiltperations associated with these assets haverbperted as discontinued operations ir
Company'’s consolidated financial statements froendhte of acquisition. The Company did not alloeate portion of the Comparg/interes
expense to discontinued operations.

The key components of discontinued operationshferyear ended December 31, 2012 were as follows:

For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Site leasing revent $ 5,04¢ $ —

Income from discontinued operations, net of te 2,29¢ —

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET
The following table provides the gross and netysag amounts for each major class of intangible®ss

As of December 31, 201 As of December 31, 201
Gross carrying Accumulated Net book Gross carrying Accumulated Net book
amount amortization value amount amortization value
(in thousands)
Current contract intangible $2,744,960  $(462,01¢) $2,282,95 $1,391,000 $(333,52) $1,057,47
Network location intangible 1,101,56 (250,38 851,18: 772,46 (190,167 582,30!
Intangible asset $3,846,53 $(712,40) $3,134,13. $2,163,46; $(523,68) $1,639,78

All intangibles noted above are contained in thenBany’s site leasing segment. The Company amoritz@stangibles using the
straight line method over the estimated life of élssociated tower asset. Amortization expensdnglad the intangible assets above was
$188.7 million, $133.1 million and $117.0 millioarfthe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and g&siectively. These amounts are
subject to changes in estimates until the prelinyimdlocation of the purchase price is finalized éach acquisition.
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Estimated amortization expense on the Companyam@ibles assets is as follows:

For the year ended December 3: (in thousands’
2013 $ 256,43t
2014 256,43t
2015 256,43
2016 256,43t
2017 256,43¢
Thereafte! 1,851,95.
Total $3,134,13.
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9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net (including assets tietter capital leases) consists of the following:

As of As of

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)

Towers and related compone $ 3,757,85 $ 2,587,89
Constructior~in-process 25,45¢ 23,07¢
Furniture, equipment and vehicl 35,27¢ 29,71
Land, buildings and improvemer 290,93: 168,98t
4,109,52 2,809,67.
Less: accumulated depreciati (1,438,20) (1,226,27))
Property and equipment, r $ 2,671,31 $ 1,583,39

Construction-in-process represents costs incuglkadied to towers that are under development aridwilised in the Company’s
operations. Depreciation expense was $219.5 mjlai75.8 million, and $161.4 million for the yearsded December 31, 2012, 2011, and
2010, respectively. At December 31, 2012 and 26tfh;cash capital expenditures that are includet@ounts payable and accrued expenses
were $17.3 million and $7.2 million, respectively.

10. COSTS AND ESTIMATED EARNINGS IN EXCESS OF BILLINGS ON UNCOMPLETED CONTRACTS
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billimggncompleted contracts consist of the following:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Costs incurred on uncompleted contre $ 55,34¢ $ 37,79(
Estimated earninc 20,88t 14,26¢
Billings to date (58,709 (34,7060
$ 22,524 $ 17,35:

These amounts are included in the accompanyingdidased Balance Sheets under the following cagtion

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billamg

uncompleted contrac $ 23,64 $ 17,65¢
Other current liabilities (Billings in excess ofate

and estimated earnings on uncompleted contr (1,120 (309)

$ 22,52¢ $ 17,35:

At December 31, 2012, five significant customemipased 86.5% of the costs and estimated earnmggdess of billings on
uncompleted contracts, net of billings in excessasits and estimated earnings, while at Decembhe2@11, five significant customers
comprised 91.4% of the costs and estimated earimingpecess of billings on uncompleted contracts ofdillings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings.
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11. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

The Company’s credit risks consist primarily of @gots receivable with national, regional and lagéless service providers and
federal and state government agencies. The Conpenfigrms periodic credit evaluations of its custesh&nancial condition and provides
allowances for doubtful accounts, as required, dhapen factors surrounding the credit risk of sfieciustomers, historical trends and other
information. The Company generally does not reqoiiéateral. The following is a list of significantistomers (representing at least 10% of
revenue for all periods reported) and the percentdgotal revenue for the specified time periodeviéd from such customers:

Sprint

AT&T

T-Mobile
Verizon Wireless

Percentage of Total Revenue
For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
21.2% 19.8% 20.4%
20.4% 23.8% 23.%
12.7% 10.7% 11.€%
12.7% 14.€% 14.€%

The Company'’s site leasing and site developmenmheats derive revenue from these customers. Clemigntages of total revenue in

each of the segments are as follows:

Sprint

AT&T

T-Mobile
Verizon Wireless

Ericsson, Inc
Nsoro Mastec, LLC
Verizon Wireless
T-Mobile

Percentage of Site Leasing Revenu
for the year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
23.8% 22.2% 23.6%
22.%% 26.8% 28.(%
13.6% 11.2% 11.7%
13.2% 15.52% 15.2%

Percentage of Site Development Revenu
for the year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
24.5% 9.C% 3.C%
16.2% 35.6% 31.2%

8.5% 9.5% 11.2%
5.8% 7.C% 10.€%

Five significant customers comprised 55.5% of tgtalss accounts receivable at December 31, 201pa@u to five significant
customers which comprised 50.4% of total gross auisoreceivable at December 31, 2011.
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12. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
The Company’s accrued expenses are comprised @ltbeing:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Accrued earnout $ 9,84( $ 5,53¢
Salaries and benefi 8,81( 5,43¢
Real estate and property ta 9,58( 5,551
Other 13,82: 7,22%
Total $ 42,05 $ 23,74¢

As of December 31, 2012, total other current liibd in the Company’s consolidated balance shast$195.7 million of which $177.5
million related to the deferred payment on the né@equisition of the 800 towers in Brazil.
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13. DEBT
The carrying and principal values of debt consighe following (in thousands):

Maturity As of As of
Date December 31, 201, December 31, 201

Carrying Principal Carrying Principal

Value Balance Value Balance
1.875% Convertible Senior Not May 1,201  $ 457,35, $ 468,83t $ 484,97( $ 535,00(
4.000% Convertible Senior Not Oct. 1, 201« 430,75 499,98 397,61: 500,00t
8.000% Senior Note Aug. 15, 201¢ — — 373,19¢ 375,00(
8.250% Senior Note Aug. 15, 201¢ 242,20! 243,75( 372,36! 375,00(

5.625% Senior Note Oct. 1, 201¢ 500,00( 500,00t — —

5.750% Senior Note July 15, 202( 800,00( 800,00t — —
4.254% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series-1 April 15, 2015 680,00( 680,00( 680,00( 680,00(
5.101% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series-2 April 17, 2017 550,00( 550,00t 550,00t 550,00t

2.933% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series-1 Dec. 15, 201" 610,00( 610,00( — —

Revolving Credit Facility May 9, 2017 100,00( 100,00( — —
2011 Term Loan k June 30, 201 491,51¢ 492,50( 496,34( 497,50(

20121 Term Loan A May 9, 2017 195,00( 195,00( — —

20122 Term Loan E Sept. 28, 201! 299,27¢ 300,00t — —
Total debt 5,356,10. 5,440,07. 3,354,48' 3,512,50

Less: current maturities of lo-term debt (475,35) (5,000
Total lon¢-term debt, net of current maturiti $4,880,75: $3,349,48!

The Company'’s future principal payment obligati@ipased on the outstanding debt as of December(32, 2nd assuming the Tower

Securities are repaid at their respective ARD Jatesas follows:

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereaftel

Total
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The table below reflects cash and non-cash intergstnse amounts recognized by debt instrumenhéoyears ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively:

For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010

Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash
Interest Interest Interest Interest Interest Interest

(in thousands)

0.375% Convertible Senior Not $ — $ — $ — $ — 3 46 $ 1,75¢

1.875% Convertible Senior Not 9,88t  36,38¢ 10,09(C 33,84« 10,31¢ 31,51:

4.0% Convertible Senior Nott 20,00C 33,14¢ 20,000 29,14¢ 20,00 25,64:

8.0% Senior Note 15,867 174 30,00( 30¢ 30,00( 28t

8.25% Senior Note 23,17 192 30,93¢ 237 30,93¢ 21¢
5.625% Senior Note 7,26¢ — — — — —
5.75% Senior Note 21,59 — — — — —
CMBS Certificate Series 20-1 — — — — 16,43( —
2010 Secured Tower Revenue Secur 57,37 — 57,37: — 40,68: —
2012 Secured Tower Revenue Secur 7,13: — — — — —
Revolving Credit Facility 4,39; — 3,20¢ — 1,90: —
2011 Term Loal 18,89« 17¢ 9,70¢ a0 — —
20171 Term Loar 3,567 — — — — —
20122 Term Loar 2,96¢ 28 — — — —
Mobilitie Bridge Loan 4,23¢ — — — — —
Capitalized interes (319 — (51¢) — (447 —

Other 20C — 101 — 56 65¢&

Total $196,24. $70,11( $160,89¢ $63,62¢ $149,92: $60,07(

Senior Credit Agreement

On February 11, 2010, SBA Senior Finance Il, LLSEA Senior Finance II"), an indirect wholly-owneglssidiary of the Company,
entered into a credit agreement for a $500.0 millienior secured revolving credit facility (the YR&/ing Credit Facility,” formerly referred
to as the 2010 Credit Facility) with several baakd other financial institutions or entities froime to time parties to the credit agreement.

On June 30, 2011, SBA Senior Finance Il enteremlantAmended and Restated Credit Agreement (asdedesupplemented, or
modified from time to time, the “Senior Credit Agraent”) with several banks and other financialifagbns or entities from time to time
parties to the Senior Credit Agreement, to extéedmaturity of the Revolving Credit Facility, totam a new $500.0 million senior secured
term loan (the “2011 Term Loan”), and to amendaiarterms of the existing credit agreement. In toldj at the time of entering into the
Senior Credit Agreement, the remaining deferredrfoing fees balance related to the existing Creglieement prior to the amendment was
transferred to the Revolving Credit Facility in amtance with accounting guidance for revolving drétilities.

On April 2, 2012 and again on May 9, 2012, SBA 8Sefinance |l exercised its right to increase thgragate principal amount of the
Revolving Credit Facility under the Senior Creddgraement from $500.0 million to $600.0 million anom $600.0 million to $700.0 milliot
respectively. The Company incurred deferred finag¢ees of approximately $1.1 million in relatianthese increases.

On May 9, 2012, SBA Senior Finance Il entered mfost amendment to the Senior Credit Agreemérd (Eirst Amendment”) with
several banks and other financial institutionsrdities from time to time parties to the Senior @itédgreement, to extend the maturity date
the Revolving Credit Facility to May 9, 2017.
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Also on May 9, 2012, SBA Senior Finance Il entdred a second amendment to the Senior Credit Ageeeifthe “Second
Amendment”) with several banks and other finanicislitutions or entities from time to time partiesthe Senior Credit Agreement, to obtain
a new $200.0 million senior secured term loan (#@2-1 Term Loan”). The Company incurred financfags of $2.7 million associated
with the closing of this transaction which are lgeamortized through the maturity date.

On September 28, 2012, SBA Senior Finance Il edtist® a third amendment to the Senior Credit Agrest (the “Third
Amendment”) and fourth amendment to the Senior iCAgreement (the “Fourth Amendment”) with sevdrsahks and other financial
institutions or entities from time to time parttesthe Senior Credit Agreement, to amend certafimidiens related to the calculation of
leverage at the SBA level to be consistent withnttethod for calculating leverage at the SBA SeRioance Il level and to amend the Senior
Credit Agreement to permit SBA Senior Finance lithaut the consent of the other lenders, to reqgiinegtone or more lenders provide SBA
Senior Finance Il with additional term loans oirtorease the commitments under the Revolving Creatitlity. SBA Senior Finance II's
ability to request such additional term loans @réases in the Revolving Credit Facility is subjedts compliance with the conditions set
forth in the Senior Credit Agreement.

On September 28, 2012, SBA Senior Finance |l atdered into a fifth amendment to the Senior Créditeement (the “Fifth
Amendment”) with several banks and other finanicisiitutions or entities from time to time parttesthe Senior Credit Agreement, to obtain
a new $300.0 million senior secured term loan {(#%2-2 Term Loan” collectively with the 2011 Telmans and 2012-1 Term Loan, the
“Term Loans”). The Company incurred financing fe€$3.5 million associated with the closing of thignsaction which are being amortized
through the maturity date.

On January 28, 2013, SBA Senior Finance |l exeddiseright to increase the aggregate principal amof the Revolving Credit
Facility from $700.0 million to $730.0 million.

Revolving Credit Facility under the Senior Credit Agreement

The Revolving Credit Facility consists of a revolyiloan under which up to $700.0 million aggregatacipal amount as of
December 31, 2012 ($730.0 million as of January2®83) may be borrowed, repaid and redrawn, subjembmpliance with specific
financial ratios and the satisfaction of other oosry conditions to borrowing. Amounts borrowed enthe Revolving Credit Facility accrue
interest at the Eurodollar Rate plus a margin thages from 187.5 basis points to 237.5 basis poinat a Base Rate plus a margin that
ranges from 87.5 basis points to 137.5 basis pdimtsach case based on the ratio of Consolidatéal Debt to Annualized Borrower
EBITDA, calculated in accordance with the Senioedir Agreement. If not earlier terminated by SBA®e Finance Il, the Revolving Credit
Facility will terminate on, and SBA Senior Finaritgvill repay all amounts outstanding on or befdvgy 9, 2017. The proceeds available
under the Revolving Credit Facility may be useddgeneral corporate purposes. A per annum commitfeerdf 0.375% to 0.5% of the
unused commitments under the Revolving Credit Fpdd charged based on the ratio of ConsolidatethllDebt to Annualized Borrower
EBITDA (calculated in accordance with the Senioedt Agreement). SBA Senior Finance Il may, fromeito time, borrow from and repay
the Revolving Credit Facility. Consequently, thecamt outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facdit the end of a period may not be
reflective of the total amounts outstanding dungh period. As of December 31, 2012, the amoutstanding of $100 million was accruing
interest at 2.335% per annum.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, SBA Séiiiance Il borrowed $584.0 million and repaid $@84illion of the outstanding
balance under the Revolving Credit Facility usinggeeds from the 2012-1 Term Loan and the 5.75%dN@ts defined below). As of
December 31, 2012, the availability under the Reawngl Credit Facility was $600.0 million, subjectdcompliance with specified financial
ratios and the satisfaction of other customary @@t to borrowing.
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Term Loans under the Senior Credit Agreement
2011 Term Loan

The 2011 Term Loan consists of a senior secured l@an in an initial aggregate principal amoun$6600.0 million and matures on
June 30, 2018. The 2011 Term Loan accrues inteaxeSBA Senior Finance II's election, at either Base Rate plus a margin of 175 basis
points (with a Base Rate floor of 2%) or EurodoRate plus a margin of 275 basis points (with soBallar Rate floor of 1%). As of
December 31, 2012, the 2011 Term Loan was accintegest at 3.75% per annum. The proceeds fror2@é& Term Loan were used to pay
down $270.0 million of the existing balance on Revolving Credit Facility during the year ended 2@hd for general corporate purposes.
Principal on the 2011 Term Loan is repaid in quértestallments of $1.25 million on the last dayemch March, June, September and
December, which commenced on September 30, 20ELterhaining principal balance of the 2011 Term Ladhbe due and payable on the
maturity date. SBA Senior Finance Il has the apttit prepay any or all amounts under the 2011 Tlesan without premium or penalty. The
2011 Term Loan was issued at 99.75% of par valbhe.Jompany incurred financing fees of $4.9 milla@sociated with the closing of this
transaction.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, SBA Sétimance || made repayments totaling $5.0 milliortlee 2011 Term Loan. As of
December 31, 2012, the 2011 Term Loan had a pahb@lance of $492.5 million.

2012-1 Term Loan

The 2012-1 Term Loan consists of a senior secumd bban in an initial aggregate principal amour$200.0 million and matures on
May 9, 2017. The 2012-1 Term Loan accrues intee@s$BA Senior Finance II's election, at either Base Rate plus a margin that ranges
from 100 to 150 basis points or the Eurodollar Réiis a margin that ranges from 200 to 250 basigt@adn each case based on the ratio of
Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBHA (calculated in accordance with the Senior Crédgjteement). As of December 31,
2012, the 2012-1 Term Loan was accruing intere2t4at% per annum. Having commenced on Septemb&03@, principal of the 2012-1
Term Loan is being repaid in quarterly installmemtsthe last day of each March, June, Septembebandmber, in an amount equal to $2.5
million for each of the first eight quarters, $3milion for the next four quarters and $5.0 mitiéor each quarter thereafter. SBA Senior
Finance Il has the ability to prepay any or all amis under the 2012-1 Term Loan without premiupemalty. To the extent not previously
paid, the 2012-1 Term Loan will be due and payabl¢he maturity date. The 2012-1 Term Loan waseidsau par. The Company incurred
deferred financing fees of approximately $2.7 roilin relation to this transaction which are beamgortized through the maturity date.
Proceeds from the 2012-1 Term Loan were used t@psunts outstanding under the Revolving Creditliaduring the second quarter of
2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, SBA Séiiimnce || made repayments totaling $5.0 milliortlee 2012-1 Term Loan. As
of December 31, 2012, the 2012-1 Term Loan hadnzipal balance of $195.0 million.

2012-2 Term Loan

The 2012-2 Term Loan consists of a senior sec@md koan in an initial aggregate principal amour$800.0 million and matures on
September 28, 2019. The 2012-2 Term Loan accriée®st, at SBA Senior Finance II's election, at&itthe Base Rate plus 175 basis points
(with a Base Rate floor of 2%) or Eurodollar Raliesi275 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate flobi%). As of December 31, 2012, the
2012-2 Term Loan was accruing interest at 3.75%apeum. Principal of the 2012-2 Term Loan is tadyaid in equal quarterly installments
on the last day of each March, June, Septembebandmber, commencing in March 2013, in an aggremataunt equal to $3.0 million per
year. SBA Senior Finance Il has the ability to prepny or al
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amounts under the 2012-2 Term Loan without prenmoumenalty, with the exception of a 1% premiumrggayment occurs during the first
year of the loan with proceeds from certain refgiag or repricing transactions. To the extent mewjpusly paid, the 20:-2 Term Loan will
be due and payable on the maturity date. The 20I&r2 Loan was issued at 99.75% of par value. Tdragany incurred deferred financing
fees of approximately $3.5 million in relation tag transaction which are being amortized throlnghrbaturity date. The Company used
borrowings under the 2012-2 Term Loan to pay a @iitte cash consideration in the TowerCo Il Hojdih. LC acquisition. The remaining
proceeds under the 2012-2 Term Loan were usedefwergl corporate purposes.

As of December 31, 2012, the 2012-2 Term Loan haidr&ipal balance of $300.0 million.

Terms of the Senior Credit Agreement

The Senior Credit Agreement, as amended, requBésSnior Finance Il and SBA Communications Cortiora(“SBAC”) to
maintain specific financial ratios, including, BetSBA Senior Finance Il level, (1) a ratio of Calidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower
EBITDA not to exceed 6.0 times for any fiscal gear(2) a ratio of Consolidated Total Debt and Netige Exposure (calculated in
accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement) towstized Borrower EBITDA for the most recently endsdal quarter not to exceed 6.0
times for 30 consecutive days and (3) a ratio afidalized Borrower EBITDA to Annualized Cash Inteérfégpense (calculated in accordance
with the Senior Credit Agreement) of not less tBahtimes for any fiscal quarter. In addition, SBACatio of Consolidated Total Net Debt
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (calculated in accardiawith the Senior Credit Agreement) for any figpaarter on an annualized basis
cannot exceed 9.5 times. The Senior Credit Agreéomnains customary affirmative and negative cavés that, among other things, limit
the ability of SBA Senior Finance Il and its sulisidks to incur indebtedness, grant certain liemeke certain investments, enter into sale
leaseback transactions, merge or consolidate, cekain restricted payments, enter into transastwith affiliates, and engage in certain
asset dispositions, including a sale of all or saftslly all of their property. As of December 2012, SBA Senior Finance Il and SBAC
were in compliance with the financial covenantstaored in the Senior Credit Agreement. The Seni@d® Agreement is also subject to
customary events of default. Pursuant to an AmeadedRestated Guarantee and Collateral Agreenmmot s borrowed under the
Revolving Credit Facility, the Term Loans and certaedging transactions that may be entered int6B# Senior Finance Il or the
Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined in the Seniodi€Pgreement) with lenders or their affiliates aexured by a first lien on the capital stock
of SBA Telecommunications, LLC (formerly known aBATelecommunications Inc.), SBA Senior Finance{formerly known as SBA
Senior Finance, Inc.) and SBA Senior Finance Il amgubstantially all of the assets (other thasdbald, easement and fee interests in real
property) of SBA Senior Finance Il and the Subsid@uarantors.

As of December 31, 2012, the Senior Credit Agregmermits SBA Senior Finance II, without the cortsafithe other lenders, to
request that one or more lenders provide SBA Sérir@ance |l with additional term loans in an ag@tegprincipal amount of up to $700.0
million of which up to $200.0 million may be a Tetman A, provided that up to $200.0 million of iranental capacity may instead be used
to increase the commitments under the RevolvingliCEacility. SBA Senior Finance II's ability togaest such increases in the Revolving
Credit Facility or additional term loans is subjezits compliance with customary conditions settfan the Senior Credit Agreement
including, with respect to any additional term lpeompliance, on a pro forma basis, with the financovenants and ratios set forth therein
and an increase in the margin on existing termdpamthe extent required by the terms of the Sediedit Agreement. Upon SBA Senior
Finance II's request, each lender may decidesisdte discretion, whether to increase all or diguoiof its Revolving Credit Facility
commitment or whether to provide SBA Senior Finalegith additional term loans and, if so, upon wkerms. On January 28, 2013, $30.0
million of this incremental capacity was committ@ter the Revolving Credit Facility, leaving $67@0lion of total available incremental
capacity.
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Mobilitie Bridge Loan

On April 2, 2012, the Company, through its whollyreed subsidiary SBA Monarch, entered into a cradgitement (the “Bridge Loan
Credit Agreement”). Pursuant to the Bridge Loandiragreement, SBA Monarch borrowed an aggregatecjpal amount of $400.0 million
under a senior secured bridge loan (the “Mobiltf@lge Loan”). The Mobilitie Bridge Loan was schéastlito mature on April 1, 2013. The
Company incurred deferred financing fees of appnately $5.0 million in relation to this transactishich were being amortized through the
maturity date. The Mobilitie Bridge Loan bore irdgst, at SBA Monarch’s election, at either the BRate plus a margin that ranged from
2.00% to 2.50% or the Eurodollar Rate plus a mattgin ranged from 3.00% to 3.50%, in each casecbaséSBA Monarch’s ratio of
Consolidated Total Debt to Consolidated AdjustedTEB\ (calculated in accordance with the Bridge Ldawmedit Agreement).

On July 13, 2012, the Company repaid the $400.Bomibutstanding principal balance under the MaieilBridge Loan. The Company
recorded $3.6 million as a loss on extinguishméutebt related to the write off of deferred finamgifees on the Mobilitie Bridge Loan.

CMBS Certificates and Secured Tower Revenue Securities
Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-1

On November 6, 2006, a New York common law truse (fTrust”), issued in a private transaction $1bilbon of 2006 CMBS
Certificates. The 2006 CMBS Certificates consigiEdine subclasses with annual pésough interest rates ranging from 5.314% to 78z
The weighted average annual fixed coupon inteegstaf the 2006 CMBS Certificates was 5.9%, payaidathly, and the effective weighted
average annual fixed interest rate was 6.2% afuémgyeffect to the settlement of the nine intemade swap agreements entered into in
contemplation of the transaction (see Note 14).

On April 16, 2010, the Company repaid the remairgrigcipal balance of $938.6 million of the 2006 8Bl Certificates and paid $38.5
million for prepayment consideration plus accrugtgriest and fees. During the year-to-date periag@mecember 31, 2010, but prior to the
payoff of the principal balance, the Company repased an aggregate of $2.0 million in principal ami@f 2006 CMBS Certificates for $-
million in cash. The Company recorded on the Comjsa@onsolidated Statements of Operations a $49l®mloss on extinguishment of
debt related to the repurchases and prepaymemigdilé year ended December 31, 2010.

Secured Tower Revenue Securities
2010 Tower Securities

On April 16, 2010, the Trust issued $680.0 millafr2010-1 Tower Securities and $550.0 million ofl@€@ Tower Securities (together
the “2010 Tower Securities”). The 2010-1 Tower Siims have an annual interest rate of 4.254% had®010-2 Tower Securities have an
annual interest rate of 5.101%. The weighted aesampual fixed coupon interest rate of the 2010 rdBecurities is 4.7%, including
borrowers’ fees, payable monthly. The anticipatgmhyment date and the final maturity date for 021 Tower Securities is April 15, 20
and April 16, 2040, respectively. The anticipategayment date and the final maturity date for 022 Tower Securities is April 17, 2017
and April 15, 2042, respectively. The sole ass¢hefTrust consists of a non-recourse mortgage noaake in favor of the Borrowers (as
defined below). The Company incurred deferred faaa fees of approximately $17.9 million in relatito this transaction which are being
amortized through the anticipated repayment dagaoh of the 2010 Tower Securities. Net proceeuis the 2010 Tower Securities were
used to repay in full the outstanding 2006 CMBStiGeates in the amount of $938.6 million and phg telated prepayment consideration
plus accrued interest and fees. The remainingnoeepds were used for general corporate purposes.
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2012-1 Tower Securities

On August 9, 2012, the Company, through the Tiastied $610 million of Secured Tower Revenue StesrSeries 2012-1 (the “2012-
1 Tower Securities”) which have an anticipated yepant date of December 15, 2017 and a final mgtdate of December 15, 2042. The
fixed coupon interest rate of the 2012-1 Tower &ées is 2.933% per annum, payable monthly. Aiporbf the net proceeds from the 2012-
1 Tower Securities were used to repay in full #m@aining $243.8 million balance of the 8.0% SeNotes due 2016 plus $14.6 million in
applicable premium associated with early redempflére remaining net proceeds were used (1) to geortéon of the cash consideration in
connection with SBA’s acquisition of TowerCo Il Hiihgs LLC and (2) for general corporate purposes.

In connection with the issuance of the 2012-1 To8&eurities, the parties entered into the Fifthri_aad Security Agreement
Supplement and Amendment, dated as of August @ gbg& “Fifth Loan Supplement”), which amended angplemented the Amended and
Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated a®weéiber 18, 2005. The Fifth Loan Supplement wasw@re by and among SBA
Properties, LLC (formerly known as SBA Properties,.), SBA Sites, LLC (formerly known as SBA Sités¢.), and SBA Structures, LLC
(formerly known as SBA Structures, Inc.) (the “laitBorrowers”) and SBA Infrastructure, LLC, SBA March Towers lll, LLC and SBA
Towers USVI 11, Inc. (the “Additional Borrowers” drtogether with the Initial Borrowers, the “Borroms® and other parties. Pursuant to the
Fifth Loan Supplement, the Additional Borrowers evadded as obligors under the mortgage loan artid té Initial Borrowers, became
jointly and severally liable for the aggregate #1tdlion borrowed under the mortgage loan corresfioeg to the 2010 Tower Securities ¢
2012-1 Tower Securities.

Tower Revenue Securities Terms

The mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower Sdesrdnd the 2012-1 Tower Securities (together Trmver Securities”) will be paid
from the operating cash flows from the aggregat®bower sites owned by the Borrowers. The moddagn is secured by (i) mortgages,
deeds of trust and deeds to secure debt on a stibkfeortion of the tower sites, (ii) a securiktérest in the towers and substantially all of
Borrowers’ personal property and fixtures, (iiigtBorrowers’ rights under certain tenant leased,(an all of the proceeds of the foregoing.
For each calendar month, SBA Network Management, the Company indirect subsidiary, is entitled to receive a agement fee equal
7.5% of the Borrowers’ operating revenues for thenediately preceding calendar month.

The Borrowers may prepay any of the mortgage l@anponents, in whole or in part, with no prepaynmntsideration, (i) within nine
months (in the case of the components corresporiditite 2010 Tower Securities) or twelve monthdglfmcase of the component
corresponding to the 2012-1 Tower Securities) efahticipated repayment date of such mortgagedoarponent, (ii) with proceeds received
as a result of any condemnation or casualty oftawer site owned by the Borrowers or (iii) duringa@mortization period. In all other
circumstances, the Borrowers may prepay the moettzn, in whole or in part, upon payment of thpligable prepayment consideration.
The prepayment consideration is determined basedeoclass of the Tower Securities to which theaig mortgage loan component
corresponds and consists of an amount equal texitess, if any, of (1) the present value associattidthe portion of the principal balance
being prepaid, calculated in accordance with theméda set forth in the mortgage loan agreementherdate of prepayment of all future
installments of principal and interest requiredbéopaid from the date of prepayment to and inclyidire first due date within nine months (in
the case of the components corresponding to thé 20Wver Securities) or twelve months (in the casth® component corresponding to the
2012-1 Tower Securities) of the anticipated repaytndate of such mortgage loan component over @)gartion of the principal balance of
such class prepaid on the date of such prepayment.
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To the extent that the mortgage loan componentesponding to the Tower Securities are not fullyaid by their respective anticipa
repayment dates, the interest rate of each sucpaoant will increase by the greater of (i) 5% aiijctie amount, if any, by which the sum
(x) the ten-year U.S. treasury rate plus (y) theslitrbased spread for such component (as setifottie mortgage loan agreement) plus
(z) 5%, exceeds the original interest rate for staponent.

Pursuant to the terms of the Tower Securitiegealls and other sums due on any of the tower aiteed by the Borrowers are directly
deposited by the lessees into a controlled depositunt and are held by the indenture trustee nidr@es held by the indenture trustee after
the release date are classified as restrictedarasiiie Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets (ee=4. However, if the Debt Service
Coverage Ratio, defined as the net cash flow (fsatkin the mortgage loan agreement) divided leyaimount of interest on the mortgage
loan, servicing fees and trustee fees that theddars are required to pay over the succeeding ewslenths, as of the end of any calendar
quarter, falls to 1.30x or lower, then all casiwflim excess of amounts required to make debt sepayments, to fund required reserves, to
pay management fees and budgeted operating expem$és make other payments required under thedoanments, referred to as “excess
cash flow,” will be deposited into a reserve acdanstead of being released to the Borrowers. Tinel$ in the reserve account will not be
released to the Borrowers unless the Debt Serviee@ge Ratio exceeds 1.30x for two consecutivencir quarters. If the Debt Service
Coverage Ratio falls below 1.15x as of the endngf@alendar quarter, then an “amortization periwd’commence and all funds on deposit
in the reserve account will be applied to prepayrttortgage loan until such time that the Debt $er@overage Ratio exceeds 1.15x for a
calendar quarter. In addition, if either the 2010elver Securities, 2010-2 Tower Securities, ord@&2-1 Tower Securities are not fully
repaid by their respective anticipated repaymetdasjahe cash flow from the tower sites owned leyBbrrowers will be trapped by the trus
for the Tower Securities and applied first to reffay interest, at the original interest rates,lmrhortgage loan components underlying the
Tower Securities, second to fund all reserve acisoaind operating expenses associated with thoser &ites, third to pay the management
fees due to SBA Network Management, Inc., fourthefmay principal of the Tower Securities and fiftirepay the additional interest
discussed above. The mortgage loan agreement,easdanh, also includes covenants customary for mgettrzans subject to rated
securitizations. Among other things, the Borrowames prohibited from incurring other indebtednessfarrowed money or further
encumbering their assets. As of December 31, 20&2Borrowers met the required Debt Service CoveRatio as set forth in the mortgage
loan agreement and were in compliance with all oteenants.

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013

On May 16, 2008, the Company issued $550.0 millibits 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes (the “1.878H&ies”). Interest is payable
semi-annually on May 1 and November 1, and the otature on May 1, 2013. The Company incurred d¢&4.2.9 million with the
issuance of the 1.875% Notes of which $9.1 millicas recorded as deferred financing fees and $3l®mivas recorded as a reduction to
shareholders’ equity.

The Notes are convertible, at the holdewption, into shares of our Class A common statlkh initial conversion rate of 24.1196 she
of Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amairit.875% Notes (subject to certain customary stdjents), which is equivalent to an
initial conversion price of approximately $41.46 phare or a 20% conversion premium based on shedported sale price of $34.55 per
share of Class A common stock on the Nasdag Gleblalct Market on May 12, 2008, the purchase agreedate. Effective February 4,
2013, the Company elected to settle its convermsiigation pursuant to the Indenture governing1t8¥5% Notes in cash.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynggourchased $15.0 million of the aggregate ppialcbalance of the 1.875%
Notes for $17.0 million in cash. Additionally, dog the year ended December 31, 2012, the Companyateased $66.2 million of tt
aggregate principal balance of the 1.875% Note$167.5 million in cash.

Concurrently with the pricing of the 1.875% Notttse Company entered into convertible note hedgeséetions and warrant
transactions with affiliates of certain of the iaitpurchasers of the convertible notes. The ihdieke price of the convertible note hedge
transactions relating to the 1.875% Notes is $4pet6share of the Company’s Class A common stdekgame as the initial conversion price
of the 1.875% convertible notes) and the uppekesirice of the warrants is $67.37 per share. Aigiothe Company initially entered into
convertible note hedge and warrant transactioegver the full amount of the shares that were isleuapon conversion of the 1.875% Notes,
as a result of the bankruptcy of Lehman Brother€@Erivatives Inc. (“Lehman Derivatives”), on Noveear 7, 2008, the Company
terminated the convertible note hedge transactitim kehman Derivatives which covered 55% of the263,780 shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock potentially issuable upon egsion of the 1.875% Notes. Consequently, the Comgaes not currently have a het
with respect to those shares and, to the extehthhanarket price of the Company’s Class A comistock exceeds $41.46 per share upon
conversion of the notes, the Company will be suliedilution or if the Company settles in cashdiidnal costs, upon conversion of that
portion of the 1.875% Notes.

The Company is amortizing the debt discount onltB&5% Notes utilizing the effective interest mettower the life of the 1.875%
Notes which increases the effective interest ratee1.875% Notes from its coupon rate of 1.876%.851%. As of December 31, 2012,
carrying amount of the equity component relateth&1.875% Notes was $115.0 million.

The 1.875% Notes are reflected in long-term delthénCompany’s Consolidated Balance Sheets atingrmalue. The following table
summarizes the balances for the 1.875% Notes:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Principal balanci $ 468,83t $ 535,00(
Debt discoun (11,489 (50,030
Carrying value $ 457,35: $ 484,97!

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014

On April 24, 2009, the Company issued $500.0 milld its 4.0% Convertible Senior Notes (“4.0% Nd&tés a private placement
transaction. Interest on the 4.0% Notes is paysdiei-annually on April 1 and October 1. The mayudiate of the 4.0% Notes is October 1,
2014. The Company incurred fees of $11.7 milliothwhe issuance of the 4.0% Notes of which $7.Tioniwas recorded as deferred
financing fees and $4.0 million was recorded asdaction to shareholders’ equity.

The 4.0% Notes are convertible, at the holder'soopinto shares of the Company’s Class A commoakstat an initial conversion rate
of 32.9164 shares of the Company’s Class A comrmokper $1,000 principal amount of 4.0% Notes j@eitto certain customary
adjustments), which is equivalent to an initial wersion price of approximately $30.38 per shara 82.5% conversion premium based on
last reported sale price of $24.80 per share ofddass A common stock on the Nasdaq Global Seleckét on April 20, 2009, the purchase
agreement date.
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Concurrently with the pricing of the 4.0% Notess tbompany entered into convertible note hedge ardanwt transactions with
affiliates of certain of the initial purchaserstbé convertible notes. The initial strike pricetloé convertible note hedge transactions relatii
the 4.0% Notes is $30.38 per share of the CompaBig'ss A common stock (the same as the initial emsion price of the 4.0% Notes) and
the upper strike price of the warrant transactisr#&t4.64 per share.

The Company is amortizing the debt discount omtB&b Notes utilizing the effective interest mettuer the life of the 4.0% Notes
which increases the effective interest rate oftl@86 Notes from its coupon rate of 4.0% to 12.9% ofADecember 31, 2012, the carrying
amount of the equity component related to the ANates was $169.0 million.

The 4.0 % Notes are reflected in long-term detthéxCompany’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at ogrmalue. The following table
summarizes the balances for the 4.0% Notes:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Principal balanci $ 499,98 $ 500,00(
Debt discoun (69,23¢) (102,38))
Carrying value $ 430,75: $ 397,61:

Convertible Senior Notes Conversion Options
The 1.875% Notes and 4.0% Notes (collectively ‘Nwtes”) are convertible only under the followingotimstances:

. during any calendar quarter, if the last reportgd price of the Company’s Class A common stoclafdeast 20 trading days in
the 30 consecutive trading day period ending onasietrading day of the preceding calendar quastarore than 130% of the
applicable conversion price per share of Classrnon stock on the last day of such preceding calegdarter

. during the five business day period after any mmsecutive trading day period in which the traddnige per $1,000 principal
amount of the Notes for each day in the measurep®iad was less than 95% of the product of therkgsorted sale price of
Class A common stock and the applicable convernsita

. if specified distributions to holders of Class Avomon stock are made or specified corporate traiogescoccur, an

. at any time on or after February 19, 2013 for tf8¥3% Notes and July 22, 2014 for the 4.0% Nc

Upon conversion, the Company has the right toesgtlconversion obligation in cash, shares of €lsommon stock or a combinati
of cash and shares of its Class A common stocknFirme to time, upon notice to the holders of thadd, the Company may change its
election regarding the form of consideration thatiil use to settle its conversion obligation; piced, however, that the Company is not

permitted to change its settlement election afedrérary 18, 2013 for the 1.875% Notes and July2214 for the 4.0% Notes. Effective
February 4, 2013, the Company elected to settleityersion obligation pursuant to the Indentureegoing the 1.875% Notes in cash.
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At the end of the first quarter of 2012, the 4.0%&¢ became convertible by the note holders be¢aasgompany’s Class A common
stock closing price per share exceeded $39.4% femat 20 trading days during the 30 consecutagiig day period ending on March 31,
2012. During each of the second, third, and fogttarters, the 4.0% Notes remained convertible byntite holders. During 2012, the
Company received 5 conversion notices totalingdfésivalued at $1,000 per note. A portion of thretes were settled in shares of our
Class A common stock and cash for fractional shdweisg the fourth quarter of 2012. The remainingtion is expected to settle during the
first quarter of 2013. Along with the conversione tCompany exercised the applicable bond hedgésthdtcounterparties.

At the end of the third quarter of 2012, the cosia@r right for the 1.875% Notes was triggered beeadBA’s Class A common stock
closing price per share exceeded $53.90 for at Bagading days during the 30 consecutive tradiawg period ending on September 30,
2012. The 1.875% Notes remained convertible byntite holders as of December 31, 2012. During 20E2Company received 8 conversion
notices totaling 5,314 notes valued at $1,000 p&z.rA portion of these notes were settled in shafeur Class A common stock and cash
for fractional shares during the fourth quarteP012. The remaining portion is expected to setilénd the first quarter of 2013. Furthermc
during the first quarter of 2013, the Company reedi4 conversion notices totaling 12,810 notesedt $1,000 per note. These notes will
be settled in shares of our Class A common stodkcash for fractional shares during the first aacbsd quarter of 2013.

Senior Notes
8.0% Senior Notes and 8.25% Senior Notes

On July 24, 2009, the Company'’s wholly-owned suibsyd SBA Telecommunications, LLC (formerly knows &elecommunications,
Inc.) (“Telecommunications”), issued $750.0 milliohunsecured senior notes (the “Senior Notes"J533 million of which were due
August 15, 2016 (the “8.0% Notes”) and $375.0 willof which were due August 15, 2019 (the “8.25%€49). The 8.0% Notes had an
interest rate of 8.00% per annum and were issuagdte of 99.330% of their face value. The 8.288tes have an interest rate of 8.25% per
annum and were issued at a price of 99.152% of theg¢ value. Interest on each of the Senior Netesdue semi-annually on February 15
and August 15 of each year beginning on Februaj2050. The Company incurred deferred financing fefeapproximately $16.5 million in
relation to this transaction which were being ai@ed through the anticipated repayment date of eatie Senior Notes. Net proceeds of
offering were $727.8 million after deducting expemand the original issue discount. The Companyamastizing the debt discount on the
Senior Notes utilizing the effective interest mettower the life of the 8.0% Notes and 8.25% Notes.

On April 13, 2012, the Company used the proceedma@&quity offering to redeem $131.3 million in eggate principal amount of its
8.0% Notes and $131.3 million in aggregate princgmaount of its 8.25% Notes and to pay $21.3 millas a premium on the redemption of
the notes. Additionally, the Company wrote off $in#lion and $4.3 million of debt discount and deéal financing fees, respectively, related
to the redemption of the notes.

On August 29, 2012, the Company redeemed the rémge243.8 million principal balance of the 8.0%tB®plus paid $14.6 million
applicable premium on the redemption of the noAeslitionally, the Company wrote off $1.0 million d@$3.4 million of debt discount and
deferred financing fees, respectively, relatecheoredemption of the notes.

As of December 31, 2012, the principal balancéef8.25% Notes was $243.8 million and the carryelge was $242.2 million.
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The 8.25% Notes are subject to redemption in whole part on or after August 15, 2014, at the negigon prices set forth in the
indenture agreement plus accrued and unpaid itéhdsr to August 15, 2014, Telecommunications raaigs option redeem all or a portion
of the 8.25% Notes at a redemption price equab@d of the principal amount thereof plus a “makelehpremium plus accrued and ung
interest.

The Indenture governing the Senior Notes contailssotnary covenants, subject to a number of exaeptad qualifications, including
restrictions on Telecommunications’ ability to {&¢ur additional indebtedness unless its Consaiifttidebtedness to Annualized
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Ratio (as definedhe tndenture), pro forma for the additional indeloiess does not exceed 7.0x for the
fiscal quarter, (2) merge, consolidate or sell #s$8) make restricted payments, including divikeaor other distributions, (4) enter into
transactions with affiliates, and (5) enter inttesand leaseback transactions and restrictions®ahility of Telecommunications’ Restricted
Subsidiaries (as defined in the Indenture) to idieurs securing indebtedness.

SBA Communications Corporation is a holding compwaitih no business operations of its own and ity ergnificant asset is the
outstanding capital stock of Telecommunicationge@@nmunications is 100% owned by SBA CommunicatiGorporation. The Company
has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the SeNiotes issued by Telecommunications.

On July 15, 2010, Telecommunications and the Compansummated an exchange offer pursuant to whit$tanding unregistered
notes of each series of the Senior Notes were egeubfor registered notes of the respective series.

5.75% Senior Notes

On July 13, 2012, Telecommunications issued $800ldn of unsecured senior notes (the “5.75% NQtdse July 15, 2020. The
Notes accrue interest at a rate of 5.75% and vested at par. Interest on the 5.75% Notes is dué-annually on July 15 and January 15 of
each year beginning on January 15, 2013. The Coynpaanrred deferred financing fees of approximatlg.9 million in relation to this
transaction which are being amortized through théunity date. The Company used the net proceeds tinés offering to (1) repay all
amounts outstanding under the Mobilitie Bridge Leawd (2) repay all amounts outstanding under itwRég Credit Facility. The remainir
proceeds were used for general corporate purposes.

In connection with the issuance of the 5.75% Ndtes Company entered into a Registration RightseaAngrent (theRegistration Right
Agreement”) with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, asresgntative of the Initial Purchasers. Pursuattiederms of the Registration Rights
Agreement, the Company and Telecommunications ddeeese their respective reasonable best effoffitetand have declared effective a
registration statement with respect to an offezxchange the 5.75% Notes for new notes guarante#telCompany registered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securfiet®), on or prior to July 8, 2013. If the Compafajls to satisfy certain filing and other
obligations with respect to the exchange, the Campell be obligated to pay additional interest®o25% per annum for the first 90-day
period and an additional 0.25% per annum with ressigeeach subsequent 90-day period thereaftet thatCompany’s registration
obligations are fulfilled, up to a maximum of 1.0@#r annum.

The 5.75% Notes are subject to redemption in whole part on or after July 15, 2016 at the redeompprices set forth in the indenture
agreement plus accrued and unpaid interest. Rriduly 15, 2015, the Company may at its option eaedep to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 5.75% Notes originally issued atdeneption price of 105.75% of the principal amoufnthe 5.75% Notes to be redeemed on
the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid intteiisthe net proceeds of certain equity offerinisedeemed during the twelve-month
period beginning on July 15, 2016, July 15, 20¥7Qwy 15, 2018 through maturity, the redemptioicgwwill be 102.875%, 101.438%, and
100.000%, respectively, of the principal amounthef5.75% Notes to be redeemed on the redemptierptizs accrued and unpaid interest.
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The Indenture governing the 5.75% Notes contaistoouary covenants, subject to a number of exceptiowl qualifications, including
restrictions on Telecommunications’ ability to {&¢ur additional indebtedness unless its Consaiiftidebtedness to Annualized
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Ratio (as definedhe tndenture), pro forma for the additional indeloiess does not exceed 7.5x for the
fiscal quarter, (2) merge, consolidate or sell #s$8) make restricted payments, including divikeaor other distributions, (4) enter into
transactions with affiliates, and (5) enter inttesand leaseback transactions and restrictions®ahility of Telecommunications’ Restricted
Subsidiaries (as defined in the Indenture) to idieurs securing indebtedness.

5.625% Senior Notes

On September 28, 2012, the Company issued $500i0rmuf unsecured senior notes (the “5.625% Notesie October 1, 2019. The
5.625% Notes accrue interest at a rate of 5.625% maum and were issued at par. Interest on titb%aNotes is due semi-annually on
October 1 and April 1 of each year beginning onilkr2013. The Company incurred deferred finandees of approximately $8.4 million
relation to this transaction which are being amzedithrough the maturity date. The Company usegrheeeds from the issuance of the
5.625% Notes to pay a portion of the cash consideran the TowerCo Il Holdings LLC acquisition.

In connection with the issuance of the 5.625% Ndtes Company entered into a Registration RightseAment (the “Registration
Rights Agreement”) with J.P. Morgan Securities LIS representative of the Initial Purchasers. Runtsto the terms of the Registration
Rights Agreement, the Company agreed to use isonedle best efforts to file and have declarecttife a registration statement with
respect to an offer to exchange the 5.625% Notesda notes registered under the Securities AGB8B, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
on or prior to September 23, 2013. If the Compagilg to satisfy certain filing and other obligatsowith respect to the exchange, the
Company will be obligated to pay additional intém@s0.25% per annum for the first 90-day period an additional 0.25% per annum with
respect to each subsequent 90-day period thereafiilrthe Company’s registration obligations arkilled, up to a maximum of 1.00% per
annum.

The 5.625% Notes are subject to redemption in whpla part on or after October 1, 2016 at the negpléon prices set forth in the
indenture agreement plus accrued and unpaid intéhasr to October 1, 2015, the Company may abjitson redeem up to 35% of the
aggregate principal amount of the 5.625% Notesrmally issued at a redemption price of 105.625%hefprincipal amount of the 5.625%
Notes to be redeemed on the redemption date ptweextand unpaid interest with the net proceedehin equity offerings. If redeem
during the twelvanonth period beginning on October 1, 2016, Octdhb&017, or October 1, 2018 until maturity, theemegbtion price will be
102.813%, 101.406%, and 100.000%, respectiveltheprincipal amount of the 5.625% Notes to be eatkl on the redemption date plus
accrued and unpaid interest.

The Indenture governing the 5.625% Notes contailssomary covenants, subject to a number of exceptnad qualifications, includir
restrictions on the Company’s ability to (1) in@aditional indebtedness unless its Consolidateddtetiness to Annualized Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA Ratio (as defined in the Indentuig) forma for the additional indebtedness dodsRroeed 9.5x for the fiscal quarter,

(2) merge, consolidate or sell assets, (3) makectxl payments, including dividends or otherrilisitions, (4) enter into transactions with
affiliates, and (5) enter into sale and leasebemksactions and restrictions on the ability of@mmpany’s Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined
in the Indenture) to incur liens securing indebtesin
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14. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2006 CMBS Certificate Swaps

During 2006, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiantioé Company entered into nine forward-startingsagreements (th&2006 CMBS
Certificate Swaps”) in anticipation of the 2006 CBIBransaction. In October 2006, the Company terraththe 2006 CMBS Certificate
Swaps in connection with entering into the purchasd sale agreement for the 2006 CMBS Certificgges Note 13). The Company
determined a portion of the swaps to be an effeatash flow hedge and as a result, recorded arddfierss of $12.8 million in accumulated
other comprehensive loss, net of applicable inctares on the Company’s Consolidated Balance ShEe¢sdeferred loss was being
amortized utilizing the effective interest methoaothe anticipated five year life of the 2006 CMBErtificates and increased the effective
interest rate on these certificates by 0.3%. OrilAgr, 2010, the Company wrote-off the remainingunortized deferred loss of $3.6 million
in connection with the repayment of the 2006 CMBStificates (see Note 13).

The Company recorded amortization of $0.6 millisman-cash interest expense on the Company’s Gdatad Statements of
Operations for the year ended December 31, 2010.

15. REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

In connection with the Company’s business operatinorCanada and Central America, the Company ahtete agreements with non-
affiliated joint venture partners that contain batput option for its partners and a call optiontfee Company, requiring or allowing the
Company, in certain circumstances, to purchaseetimaining interest in such entity at a price bamegredetermined earnings multiples. E
of these options is triggered upon the occurrefigpecified events and/or upon the passage of fimeng 2011, the Company paid
approximately $0.7 million to purchase the outsiagd!.6% interest in the Canadian joint ventureeasing the Company’s interest in that
joint venture to 100%. The put right in the Centkaberican joint venture may be exercised afterrtage date causing the Company
purchase the partner’s equity interests (the “Rgdiemm Amount”) based on a formula defined in thejoenture agreement. None of these
options are currently exercisable by either the Gamy or its partners. The noncontrolling intersstlassified as a redeemable equity interest
in mezzanine (or temporary equity) on the Compa@gasolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company allocates income and losses to theontradling interest holder based on the applicaianbership interest percentage.
After applying those provisions, the Company caltes the redemption amount at each reporting panddecords the amount, if any, by
which the redemption amount exceeds the book e charge against income (loss) available to ammshareholders.

In December 2010, the Company acquired an addItidté interest in the Central American joint vertfor consideration of $7.5
million. This acquisition increased the Companyimership to 90% of the joint venture. The acquisitof the noncontrolling interest has
been reflected as a reduction of additional-paidaipital in accordance with ASC 810.

As of December 31, 2012 the redeemable noncomtgpititerest presented on the Company’s ConsolidB#édaihce Sheet represents the
estimated fair value of the amount the Companydbel required to pay to redeem the noncontrollngrest at the date of the exercise of
either the put or the call option.

16. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock equivalents

The Company has potential common stock equivalefdsed to its outstanding stock options (see N@)e restricted stock units, the
1.875% Notes and the 4.0% Notes (see Note 13).elh@ential common stock equivalents were not ohetlin diluted loss per share bece
the effect would have been anti-dilutive for th@gseended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, resgecAccordingly, basic and diluted
loss per common share and the weighted averageerwnhbhares used in the computation are the santbhd years presented.
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Stock Repurchases

The Company’s Board of Directors authorized a steglurchase program on April 27, 2011. This progaammorizes the
Company to purchase, from time to time, up to $3@6illion of the Company’s outstanding Class A coomstock through open market
repurchases in compliance with Rule 10b-18 of theuities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, amufarivately negotiated transactions at
management’s discretion based on market and bgsoweslitions, applicable legal requirements anérofdictors. This program became
effective on April 28, 2011 and will continue untitherwise modified or terminated by the Comparmosrd of Directors at any time in the
Company’s sole discretion.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coyngia@mot repurchase any shares in conjunction thighstock repurchase progri
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynpegourchased and retired approximately 5,917, 840es for an aggregate of $225.1
million (of which $75.1 million, including commissis and fees, was purchased under a previous temerplan) including commissions and
fees. During the year ended December 31, 201 ¢mepany repurchased and retired approximately 338B4shares for an aggregate of
$107.4 million including commissions and fees. A®acember 31, 2012, the Company had a remainitigoamation to repurchase an
additional $150.0 million of its common stock undsrcurrent $300.0 million stock repurchase pragra

Registration of Additional Shares

On May 20, 2010, the Company filed a registratimtesnent on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exgh&@ommission registering
15.0 million shares of the Company’s Class A commimck issuable under the 2010 Performance andyEkpgientive Plan. See Note 17.

The Company filed shelf registration statement&orm S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Comnmis®gistering 4.0 million
shares of its Class A common stock in 2007. Thhaees may be issued in connection with acquisitagngireless communication towers or
antenna sites and related assets or companiesviharireless communication towers, antenna siteslated assets. During the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Companydlitgsue any shares of its Class A common stockuaunt to this registration statement
in connection with acquisitions. At December 31120approximately 1.7 million shares remain avddédbr issuance under this shelf
registration statement.

On February 27, 2012, the Company filed with then@assion an automatic shelf registration statenfmmivell-known seasoned
issuers on Form S-3ASR. This registration staterapables the Company to issue shares of the Congp@lass A common stock, preferred
stock or debt securities either separately or sepreed by warrants, or depositary shares as wahigsthat include any of these securities.
Under the rules governing automatic shelf regigtnastatements, the Company will file a prospestygplement and advise the Commission
of the amount and type of securities each timeQtmpany issues securities under this registrataement. For the year ended
December 31, 2012, the Company did not issue agwrisies under this automatic shelf registraticatesent.

On March 7, 2012, the Company entered into an wwiterg agreement (the “Underwriting Agreementiith Citigroup Global Market
Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (together,“ttiederwriters”) pursuant to which the Company sdhe Underwriters 6,005,000 shares
of the Company’s Class A common stock at $47.3Ghare (proceeds of $283.9 million, net of reldtss). The shares were issued and sold
pursuant to the Company’s shelf registration statgron Form S-3 and prospectus supplement relagzdtb. On April 13, 2012, the
proceeds of this offering were used to partiallyerem principal balances of the Senior Notes.
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On April 2, 2012, the Company completed the Moieil&cquisition. See Note 6. As consideration fag #tquisition, the Company paid
$850.0 million in cash and issued 5,250,000 shafrés Class A common stock.

On October 1, 2012, the Company completed the TOwércquisition. See Note 6. As consideration fa #itquisition, the Company
paid $1.2 billion with cash on-hand and issued &,880 shares of its Class A common stock.
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17. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has two equity participation plans 2b@1 Equity Participation Plan and the 2010 Perforce and Equity Incentive
Plan, the “2010 Plan”) whereby options (both noadiied and incentive stock options), restrictealc&tunits, stock appreciation rights and
other equity and performance based instrumentsheaayranted to directors, employees and consult@hesoptions and restricted stock units
generally vest from the date of grant on a straligiet basis over the vesting term and generallyele@geven-year or a tgear contractual life

Upon the adoption of the 2010 Plan by the Compaslyaeholders on May 6, 2010, no further grantgwermitted under the 2001
Equity Participation Plan. The 2010 Plan providastiie issuance of a maximum of 15.0 million shafesur Class A common stock,
however, the aggregate number of shares that mesbed pursuant to restricted stock awards, eéstristock unit awards, stock bonus
awards, performance awards, other stock-based awamther awards granted under the 2010 Plamwilexceed 7.5 million. As of
December 31, 2012, the Company had 13.5 milliomesheemaining available for future issuance under2010 Plan.

Restricted shares of Class A common stock or optiorpurchase Class A common stock have been dgranthe past under the
Company’s equity participation plans at prices betoarket value at the time of grant. The Comparyrdit have any nobnash compensatic
expense during the years ended December 31, 2012,ghd 2010, respectively, relating to the issaafaestricted shares or options to
purchase Class A common stock at below market \altige time of grant.

Stock Options

The Company records compensation expense for emplstpck options based on the estimated fair \@ltiee options on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing moaligh the assumptions included in the table belole Tompany uses a combination of
historical data and historical volatility to estiahithe expected volatility. Historical data is di$e estimate the expected option life and the
expected forfeiture rate. The risk-free rate iselasn the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect attime of grant for the estimated life of the
option. The following assumptions were used tonestie the fair value of options granted using thecBIScholes option-pricing model:

For the year ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010
Risk free interest rai 0.58%- 0.83% 0.66%- 2.17% 1.35%- 1.83%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatility 53.0% 53.9% 55.2%
Expected live: 3.8-4.6years 35-45years 3.6-4.3years
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The following table summarizes the Company’s atiéisiwith respect to its stock option plans for years ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010 as follows (dollars and number ofeshim thousands, except for per share data):

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Exercise Price Remaining
Number Contractual Aggregate
of Share: Per Share Life (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 4,19¢ $ 21.7
Grantec 53¢ $ 35.6¢
Exercisec (88¢ $ 17.01
Cancelec (60) $ 26.7]
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,78¢ $ 24.7¢
Grantec 57¢ $ 41.9]
Exercisec (709 $ 21.5¢
Cancelec (52) $ 32.0i
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,60¢ $ 28.0¢
Grantec 613 $ 47.5¢
Exercisec (1,38)) $ 2430
Cancelec 9 $ 37.71
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,831 $ 34.0¢ 4.1 $ 104,54¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,30¢ $ 27.6¢ 2.¢ $ 56,54¢
Unvested at December 31, 2C 1,52¢ $ 39.5¢ 5.1 $ 48,00«

The weighted-average per share fair value of optgmanted during the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2010 was $20.31,
$18.53 and $15.88, respectively.

The total intrinsic value for options exercisedidgrthe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 arf@l\@84 $49.0 million, $12.7
million and $17.8 million, respectively. Cash raeal from option exercises under all plans for tharg ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010 was approximately $32.0 million, $15.2 milliand $15.1 million, respectively. No tax benefitsvaalized for the tax deductions from
option exercises under all plans for the years @f2kcember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value for stock optionthim preceding tables represents the total intrivesice based on the Company’s closing
stock price of $70.98 as of December 31, 2012.arheunt represents the total intrinsic value thatld/ave been received by the holders of
the stock-based awards had these awards beensexkerid sold as of that date.

Additional information regarding options outstarglend exercisable at December 31, 2012 is as fellow

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average
Weighted Weighted
Outstanding Contractual Life Average Exercisable Average
Range (in thousands’ (in years) Exercise Price (in thousands Exercise Pric¢
$0.00 - $5.25 1 0.3 $ 1.32 1 $ 1.32
$5.26- $10.50 19 2.1 $ 8.5¢€ 19 $ 8.5¢€
$10.51- $21.00 717 3.2 $ 19.5: 47¢ $ 19.4¢
$21.01- $31.50 23C 2.t $ 28.1¢ 20¢ $ 28.11
$31.51- $47.25 1,25¢ 4.C $ 37.3( 597 $ 34.7(
$47.26- $52.50 60€ 6.2 $ 47.5¢ — $ —
2,831 1,30¢
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The following table summarizes the activity of gpis outstanding that had not yet vested:

Weighted-
Average
Number Fair Value

of Shares
(in thousands Per Share
Unvested as of December 31, 2( 1,64( $ 14.0C
Shares grante 61z $ 20.31
Vesting during perios (71¢) $ 12.5¢
Forfeited or cancele (9 $ 15.2(
Unvested as of December 31, 2( 1,52¢ $ 17.2

As of December 31, 2012, the total unrecognizedpmmeation cost related to unvested stock optiotstanding under the Plans is
$17.5 million. That cost is expected to be recogdiaver a weighted average period of 2.42 years.

The total fair value of shares vested during 2@04,1, and 2010 was $9.0 million, $9.0 million, &&17 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units
The following table summarized the Company’s regtd stock unit activity for the year ended Decendie 2012:

Weighted-
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value per
Number of
Units share
(in thousands’

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 22t $ 39.27
Grantec 13¢ $ 4771
Vested (68) $  38.7¢
Forfeited/cancele (1 $  44.1¢

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 294 $ 43.27

Expected to vest, net of estimated forfeiturexfas

December 31, 201 291 $  43.31

As of December 31, 2012, total unrecognized congu@sexpense related to unvested restricted stoitk granted under the 2010
Plan was $9.1 million and is expected to be recghbver a weighted-average period of 3.22 years.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company dddphe 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2008h8se Plan"jvhich reserve
500,000 shares of Class A common stock for purchids= 2008 Purchase Plan permits eligible empl@geticipants to purchase Class A
common stock at a price per share which is equb of the fair market value of Class A commorckton the last day of an offering
period.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, 23,724 shbfass A common stock were issued under the ZPa08hase Plan, which
resulted in cash proceeds to the Company of apmeately $1.1 million compared to the year ended Dewr 31, 2011 when approximately
30,942 shares of Class A common stock were issnddrithe 2008 Purchase Plan, which resulted in pasteeds to the Company of $1.0
million. At December 31, 2012, 380,045 shares readhiavailable for issuance under the 2008 PurdBiase In addition, the Company
recorded $0.2 million of non-cash compensation egpeelating to the shares issued under the 20@3&se Plans for each of the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010.

Non-Cash Compensation Expense

The table below reflects a break out by categorhefon-cash compensation expense amounts reedgnizthe Company’s
Statements of Operations for the years ended Deze®ih 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively:

For the year ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share amount:
Cost of revenue $ 187 $ 187 $ 18¢
Selling, general and administrati 13,78 11,28: 10,31:
Total cost of non-cash compensation included is lefore provision

for income taxe: 13,96¢ 11,46¢ 10,50:
Amount of income tax recognized in earni — — —
Amount charged against lo $ 13,96¢ $ 11,46¢ $ 10,50

In addition, the Company capitalized $0.2 milli®d.2 million and $0.1 million of non-cash compermafor the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectivelfyjxed and intangible assets.

18. INCOME TAXES
Loss before provision for income taxes from contiguoperations by geographic area is as follows:

For the year ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands’
Domestic $(175,679 $ (118,67) $(193,04%)
Foreign (1,419 (6,109 (36¢)
Total $(177,09) $ (124,779 $(193,410)
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The provision for income taxes on continuing ogderet consists of the following components:

Current (benefit) provision for taxe
Federal (1
Foreign
State (1
Total current

Deferred (benefit) provision for taxe
Federal income taxe
State and local taxe
Foreign tax
Increase in valuation allowan
Total deferrec
Total provision for income taxe

For the year ended December 3.

2012 2011

(in thousands’

$ (1,237) $ —
3,76¢ 1,60¢
2,70z 2,191
5,234 3,79¢
(53,507 (38,309
(13,750 (5,11
1) (1,109
68,61: 42,83:
1,36( (1,686)
$ 6,59/ $ 2,11

2010

$ I
897
84E

174;

(59,362)
(6,082
(38
65,09
(737)

$ 1.00¢

(1) Included in the 2012 current provision for ine@taxes on continuing operations is a benefitlod $illion that is an offset to the tax
expense netted in discontinued operations. Of the fillion benefit, $1.2 million relates to fedetaxes and $0.3 million relates to

state taxes

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxas continuing operations at the statutory U.S. Fadex rate (35%) and the effective

income tax rate is as follows:

Statutory Federal bene

Foreign tax expens

State and local taxes bene

Convertible debt interest expense and COD inc
Non-deductible no-cash compensatic

Other

Valuation allowanct

Provision for income taxe
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For the year ended December 3.

2012

$(61,98))
1,87¢
(7,18))
1,17¢
987
3,102
68,617

$ 6,59/

2011
(in thousands’

$ (43,679

1,57¢

(1,899)

1,33¢

1,94:
42,83:
$ 2,11

2010

$(67,69¢)
1,06t
(3,409)
4,36¢

1,58(
65,09;
$ 1,00t
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The components of the net deferred income tax @ésleitity) accounts are as follows:

As of December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Current deferred tax asse
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 64¢ $ 9
Deferred revenu 30,237 18,20"
Accrued liabilities 4,891 2,88t
Valuation allowanct (35,66 (20,967)
Total current deferred tax assets, net $ 10€ $ 13¢
Noncurrent deferred tax asse
Net operating losse $ 436,08 $ 402,39:
Property, equipment & intangible basis differen 46,35’ 27,84
Accrued liabilities 15,25¢ 10,16¢
Straigh-line rents — 8,09(
Non-cash compensatic 7,44¢ 7,431
Other 5,081 2,741
Total noncurrent deferred tax ass 510,22¢ 458,67!
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilitie
Property, equipment & intangible basis differen (318,446 (300,43
Convertible debt instrumen (3,660 (3,829
Straigh-line Rents (4,259 (610
Other (6,63)) (4,887)
Valuation allowanct (198,016 (154,88¢)
Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities, net $ (20,789 $ (5,969

(1) Amounts are included in Prepaid and other curres¢t on the Consolidated Balance Sh

(2) Of these amounts, $148 and ($20,932) are iedun the Other assets and Other long-term ligslitespectively on the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 281&f December 31, 2011, $(5,963) is includedimibther long-term liabilities
on the accompanying Consolidated Balance S

Valuation allowances of $233.7 million and $175.8ion were being carried to offset net deferreddme tax assets as of Decembe
2012 and 2011, respectively. The net increasedavafuation allowance for the years ended Dece®@bge2012 and 2011 was $57.9 million
and $38.1 million, respectively. At December 3112@he valuation allowance related to federal aategax credit carryovers was
approximately $4.4 million and $0.4 million, respieely. These tax credits expire beginning 2017.

The Company has available at December 31, 2018t federal operating tax loss carry-forward of appnately $1.2 billion and an
additional $152.9 million of net operating tax lassry forward from stock options which will berteddditional paid-in capital when the loss
is utilized. These net operating tax loss carryvBmds will expire between 2019 and 2032. The IrsteRevenue Code places limitations upon
the future availability of net operating lossesdzhapon changes in the equity of the Company el$éroccur, the ability of the Company to
offset future income with existing net operatingdes may be limited. In addition, the Company wafiable at December 31, 2012, a foreign
net operating loss carry-forward of $15.4 milliordea net state operating tax loss carry-forwardppiroximately $579.3 million. These net
operating tax loss carry-forwards will expire beéne2013 and 2032.
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In accordance with the Company’s methodology fdedwrining when stock option deductions are deemmatized, the Company
utilizes a “with-and-without” approach that willgelt in a benefit not being recorded in APIC if Hraount of available net operating loss
carry-forwards generated from operations is sudfitto offset the current year taxable income.

The Company does not expect to remit earnings ftefioreign subsidiaries. Undistributed earningshaf Company’s foreign
subsidiaries amounted to approximately $4.6 milabecember 31, 2012. Those earnings are conditietee permanently reinvested and,
accordingly, no U.S. Federal and state income thags been provided thereon. Upon distributiorhoké earnings in the form of dividends
or otherwise, the Company could be subject to hbg income taxes (subject to an adjustment faifortax credits) and withholding taxes
payable to various foreign countries.

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

The Company is obligated under various non-cantelgerating leases for land, office space, equigrard site leases that expire at
various times through December 2112. In additiba,Gompany is obligated under various non-canceledypital leases for vehicles that
expire at various times through December 2017.

The annual minimum lease payments under non-carlesd@erating and capital leases in effect as aeDwer 31, 2012 are as follows
(in thousands):

Capital Operating
For the year ended December 3: Leases Leases
2013 $ 1,64( $ 141,71
2014 1,43 143,63¢
2015 1,03¢ 144,33
2016 353 143,44.
2017 24 144,14¢
Thereaftel — 5,385,80:
Total minimum lease paymer 4,49: $6,103,07
Less: amount representing inter (301
Present value of future paymel 4,192
Less: current obligatior (1,520
Long-term obligations $ 2,672

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelgtaend leases include payments for certain renpesbds at the Company’s
option because failure to renew could result ioss lof the applicable tower site and related resdram tenant leases, thereby making it
reasonably assured that the Company will renevieliee. The majority of operating leases providedaewal at varying escalations. Fixed
rate escalations have been included in the tabldadied above.

Rent expense for operating leases was $133.1 mii82.8 million and $75.4 million for the yearded December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively. In addition, certain of the @amy’s leases include contingent rent provisiongkwbrovide for the lessor to receive
additional rent upon the attainment of certain towgerating results and/or lease-up. Contingeriteepense for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $16.1 milia8,7 million and $12.5 million, respectively.
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Capital Lease Obligations
The amounts applicable to capital leases for vehiticluded in property and equipment, net were:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Vehicles $ 7,82¢ $ 5,54¢
Less: accumulated depreciati (3,069) (1,939
Vehicles, ne $ 4,757 $ 3,61«

The Company'’s capital lease obligations outstandimguded in other current and other long-ternbilities in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets) were $ 4.2 millioofd&ecember 31, 2012 and $3.1 million as of Decam3ie2011. As of December 31,
2012, these obligations bore interest rates ranigorg 0.2% to 1.7% and will mature in periods ramggfrom approximately one to five years.

Tenant Leases

The annual minimum tower lease income to be reddioetower space and antenna rental under nonetavle operating leases in
effect as of December 31, 2012 is as follows:

For the year ended December 3: (in thousands
2013 $ 934,19¢
2014 867,69¢
2015 769,68
2016 657,01:
2017 544,21
Thereaftel 2,833,58:
Total $6,606,38;

The Company’s tenant leases provide for annualasmas and multiple renewal periods, at the te'samjition. The tenant rental
payments disclosed in the table above do not assuateise of tenant renewal options, however, fisetd escalations have been included.

Litigation

The Company is involved in various claims, lawsaitsl proceedings arising in the ordinary courdausiness. While there are
uncertainties inherent in the ultimate outcomeuathsmatters and it is impossible to presently deitee the ultimate costs that may be
incurred, management believes the resolution df sincertainties and the incurrence of such codtsat have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial position, hssof operations or liquidity.

Contingent Purchase Obligations

As discussed in Note 6, from time to time, the Campagrees to pay additional consideration (oraag) for acquisitions if the towers
or businesses that are acquired meet or exceatrcparformance targets in the one to three ydtesthey have been acquired. For the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, certain eartanggsts associated with the acquired towers werewaed, and therefore, the Company
paid in cash $5.9 million and $4.6 million, respesly. As of December 31, 2012, the Company’s estéof its potential obligation if the
performance targets contained in various acquiséigreements were met was $9.8 million which then@any recorded in accrued expenses.
The maximum potential obligation related to thefpenance targets was $17.1 million and $11.2 milks of December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively.
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20. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Company has a defined contribution profit sigaplan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Rewe@ode that provides for
voluntary employee contributions up to the limivais set forth in Section 402(g) of the Internal &ae Code. Employees have the
opportunity to participate following completion thiree months of employment and must be 21 yeaag®f Employer matching begins
immediately upon the employee’s participation ie gian. For the years ended December 31, 2012, &1 2010, the Company made a
discretionary matching contribution of 50% of angdoyee’s contributions up to a maximum of $3,000mpany matching contributions
were approximately $1.0 million, $0.9 million an@.% million for years ended December 31, 2012, 281d 2010, respectively.

21. SEGMENT DATA

The Company operates principally in two businegsmants: site leasing and site development. The @oxip reportable segments are
strategic business units that offer different ss¥si They are managed separately based on thenfenttd differences in their operations. The
site leasing segment includes results of the mahage sublease businesses. The site developmenéseincludes the results of both
consulting and construction related activities. iDgithe fourth quarter of 2012, the Company comdiite site development segments, as the
nature of the services were complimentary to orathean. All prior periods presented have been redttt conform to the current year
presentation.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, 2011, andl 204 Company’s leasing revenues generated owbithe United States were
5.7%, 3.4%, and 1.0%, respectively, of total coidsdéd leasing revenues. As of December 31, 20diDacember 31, 2011, the Company’s
total assets outside of the United States wereda:2d 8.7%, respectively, of total consolidatedtss

Revenues, cost of revenues (exclusive of depreaniaticcretion and amortization), capital expendguincluding assets acquired
through the issuance of shares of the Company'ss@dacommon stock) and identifiable assets pertgito the segments in which the
Company continues to operate are presented below:

Not
Identified by
Site
Site Leasing Developmen Segment(d) Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2012

Revenue: $ 846,09« $ 107,99( $ — $ 954,08
Cost of revenue® $ 188,95: $ 90,55¢ $ — $ 279,50°
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 404,97t $ 2,11¢ $ 1,37 $ 408,46
Operating income (los: $ 149,64. $ 7,12¢ $ (9,629 $ 147,14¢
Capital expenditure® $2,364,21. $ 6,46¢ $ 3,751 $2,374,42!
For the year ended December 31, 20

Revenue! $ 616,29 $ 81,87¢ $ — $ 698,17(
Cost of revenue® $ 131,91¢ $ 71,00 $ — $ 202,92:
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 306,38t $ 1,58¢ $ 1,17 $ 309,14¢
Operating income (los: $ 116,68: $ 2,07i $ (8,099 $ 110,65¢
Capital expenditure® $ 502,22: $ 3,93 $ 2,671 $ 508,82
For the year ended December 31, 2010

Revenue: $ 535,44 $ 91,17 $ — $ 626,61
Cost of revenue® $ 119,14 $ 80,30: $ — $ 199,44,
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 276,59 $ 1,247 $ 88¢ $ 278,72
Operating income (los: $ 78,42 $ 2,52i $ (6,676 $ 74,27
Capital expenditure® $ 393,13 $ 1,73t $ 92t $ 395,79

Assets

As of December 31, 201 $6,422,57 $ 58,80« $ 114,23t $6,595,61
As of December 31, 201 $3,439,40 $ 42,16¢ $ 124,83: $3,606,39!

(1) Assets not identified by segment consist primasflgeneral corporate asse
(2) Excludes depreciation, amortization and accre’
(3) Includes acquisitions and related e-outs and vehicle capital lease additic
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22. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited)

Quarter Ended

December 31 September 30 June 30, March 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Revenue: $ 293,84 $ 238,60t $ 229,14 $ 192,49
Operating incom: $ 31,04¢ $ 41,07 $ 34,73¢ $ 40,28¢
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat $ (131,35) $ (101,01) $ (9399 $ (82,100
Loss from extinguishment of debt, r $ (200) $ (2264) $ (27,149 % —
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations, ndbgés  $ B3 $ 96¢ $ 1,38( $ —
Net loss attributable to SBA Communicatic

Corporation $ (52489 $ (52,44H $ (B53,47) 8 (22,63)
Net loss per shar- basic and dilute $ (0.42) % (0.43) % (0.49 % (0.20)

Quarter Ended

December 31 September 30 June 30, March 31,
2011 2011 2011 2011
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Revenue! $ 183,81 $ 175,54 $ 171,05 $ 167,74
Operating incomi $ 31,98( $ 27,57 $ 27,20¢ $ 23,89¢
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat $ (79,44) $ (78,13 $ (76,69) & (74,879
Loss from extinguishment of debt, r $ — $ — $ — $ (1,696
Net loss attributable to SBA Communicatic

Corporation $ (29,08) $ (3330H) $ (29819 $ (34,25)
Net loss per shar- basic and dilute $ 0.2 % (0300 % (0.27) % (0.30)

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computediligling net income by the weighted average nundbehares for the period.
Potentially dilutive instruments have been excluffech the computation of diluted loss per sharéhas impact would have been anti-
dilutive.

Because loss per share amounts are calculated thsingeighted average number of common and dil@remon shares outstanding
during each quarter, the sum of the per share atadanthe four quarters may not equal the totss$ Iper share amounts for the year.
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Exhibit 10.86n
EXECUTION VERSIONM

REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENT INCREASE SUPPLEMENT
January 28, 2013

Reference is made to the Amended and Restatedt@gdiement, dated as of June 30, 2011 (as amdndéee First and Second
Amendments thereto, dated as of May 9, 2012, asduamended by the Third, Fourth and Fifth Amencti¢ghereto, dated as of
September 28, 2012, and as further amended, supptechor modified from time to time, the * Credigr®ement), among SBA Senior
Finance Il LLC, a Florida limited liability compar{yhe “ Borrower"), the several banks and other financial institutionsntities from time 1
time parties thereto (the “ Lendé)sand Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as Administvat Agent. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms
defined in the Credit Agreement and used hereill Bhge the meanings given to them in the Credite®gnent.

The Increasing Lender identified on Schedule | toefthe “ Increasing Lendé}, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower agese
follows:

1. The Increasing Lender hereby irrevocably inaeais Revolving Credit Commitment(s) to the Boreowy the amount set forth on
Schedule 1 hereto (the “ Increased Revolving Crédihmitment’) pursuant to Section 2.19(c) of the Credit Agreem From and after the
Effective Date (as defined below), the Increasiegder will be a Lender under the Credit Agreemaéitit vespect to the Increased Revolving
Credit Commitment as well as its existing Revolvitigedit Commitment(s) under the Credit Agreement.

2. The Administrative Agent (a) makes no repregenmtar warranty and assumes no responsibility wédpect to any statements,
warranties or representations made in or in comeetith the Credit Agreement or with respect te #xecution, legality, validity,
enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or val@iéhe Credit Agreement, any other Loan Documerdrgr other instrument or document
furnished pursuant thereto; and (b) makes no reptaon or warranty and assumes no responsikiiity respect to the financial condition
the Parent, Holdings, SBA Senior Finance or the@®eer, any of their respective Subsidiaries or lfsfes or any other obligor or the
performance or observance by the Parent, HoldBB#, Senior Finance or the Borrower, any of thespective Subsidiaries or Affiliates or
any other obligor of any of their respective obfigas under the Credit Agreement or any other Libanument or any other instrument or
document furnished pursuant hereto or thereto.

3. The Increasing Lender (a) represents and warthat it is legally authorized to enter into tRisvolving Credit Commitment Increa
Supplement; (b) confirms that it has received ayaufithe Credit Agreement, together with copieshef most recent financial statements
delivered pursuant to Section 4.1 of the Credite®gnent and such other documents and informatiitrhas deemed appropriate to make its
own credit analysis and decision to enter into Resolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplemean)tafrees that it will, independently
and without reliance upon the Administrative Agenainy other Lender and based on such document&famohation as it shall deem
appropriate at the time, continue to make its orewlit decisions in taking or not taking action unttee Credit Agreement, the other Loan
Documents or any other instrument or document $lned pursuant hereto or there



(d) appoints and authorizes the Administrative Agertake such action as agent on its behalf amkéocise such powers and discretion u
the Credit Agreement, the other Loan Documentsgragher instrument or document furnished purshan¢to or thereto as are delegated to
the Administrative Agent by the terms thereof, thge with such powers as are incidental theretd;(ahagrees that it will be bound by the
provisions of the Credit Agreement and will perfamraccordance with its terms all the obligatiortschk by the terms of the Credit
Agreement are required to be performed by it asrader, including, if it is organized under the laafs jurisdiction outside the United Sta
its obligation pursuant to Section 2.15 of the @rAdreement.

4. The effective date of this Revolving Credit Coitment Increase Supplement shall be the EffectiseDdf the Increased Revolving
Credit Commitment described in Schedule 1 herdim (Effective Dat€). Following the execution of this Revolving Cre@lommitment
Increase Supplement by each of the Increasing reartbbthe Borrower, it will be delivered to the Auistrative Agent for acceptance and
recording by it pursuant to the Credit Agreemefigative as of the Effective Date (which shall nomless otherwise agreed to by the
Administrative Agent, be earlier than five Busin®ssys after the date of such acceptance and rexphgi the Administrative Agent).

5. Upon such acceptance and recording, from aed tifé Effective Date, the Administrative Agentlshzake all payments in respect
the Increased Revolving Credit Commitment (inclgdimyments of principal, interest, fees and otheounts) to the Increasing Lender for
amounts which have accrued on and subsequent tffinetive Date.

6. From and after the Effective Date, the Increqsiender shall be a party to the Credit Agreemeudt o the extent provided in this
Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supplementehhe rights and obligations of a Lender thereuadd shall be bound by the
provisions thereof.

7. This Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Supget shall be governed by and construed in accoedaith the laws of the State
of New York.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisiscRevolving Credit Commitment Increase Suppletmefe executed as of
the date first above written by their respectiviydwthorized officers on Schedule 1 hereto.
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Name of Increasing LendeDeutsche Bank Trust Company Americas

Effective Date of Increased Revolving Credit Commaht: January 28, 2013

Principal
Amount of

Increased Revolving Credit Commitme

$

30,000,00

[ Signature Pages Follo]

Schedule
to Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Suppler

Total Amount of Revolving Credit
Commitment(s)
of Increasing Lender
(including Increased Revolving Credit
Commitment):

$ 118,000,00




DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS

By:  /s/ Catherine Madigar

Name Catherine MaJdige
Title: Managing Directo

By: /s/ Lauren Borgen

Name Lauren Borger
Title: Associate

Accepted:

TORONTO DOMINION (TEXAS) LLC,
as Administrative Ager

By: /s/ Bebi Yasin

Name Bebi Yasin
Title:  Authorized Signator

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK, NEW YORK BRANCH,

as Issuing Lende

By:  /s/ Robyn Zeller

Name Robyn Zeller
Title: Vice Presiden

Schedule
to Revolving Credit Commitment Increase Suppler

SBA SENIOR FINANCE Il LLC

By:  /s/ Brendan T. Cavanagh
Name Brendan T. Cavanac
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

[ Signature Page to Revolving Increase Suppleinent



Name
SBA Telecommunications, LL!
SBA Senior Finance II, LL(
SBA 2012 TC Holdings, LL(
SBA Senior Finance, LL¢

SBA Towers, LLC

SBA Towers I, LLC

SBA Towers IV, LLC

SBA Structures, LC(

SBA Towers Ill, LLC

SBA 2012 TC I, LLC

SBA Monarch Acquisition, LLC
Brazil Shareholder I, LL(

Central America Equityholder, LL'

SBA Central America, LLC
SBA Infrastructure, LLC
SBA Properties, Inc

SBA Torres Panama, S..
Panama Shareholder, L1
Costa Rica Quotaholder, LL
Costa Pacifico Torres LTD.

Subsidiaries of SBA Communications Corporation

Relationship
100% owned by SBA Communications Corpora

100% owned by SBA Senior Finance, LL
100% owned by SBA Telecommunications, L
100% owned by SBA Telecommunications, L
100% owned by SBA Senior Finance I, LI
100% owned by SBA Towers, LL

100% owned by SBA Telecommunications, L
100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LL

100% owned by SBA Senior Finance I, LI
100% owned by SBA 2012 TC Holdings, Ll
100% owned by SBA Telecommunications, L
100% by SBA Towers IV, LL(C

90% by SBA Central America, LLC; 10% by non SBAign

100% by SBA Senior Finance I, LL

100% owned by SBA Holdings, LL

100% by SBA Guarantor, LL:

100% by Panama Shareholder, L

100% by Central America Equityholder, LL
100% by Central America Equityholder, LL

99% by Costa Rica Quotaholder, LLC; 1% by CostaRitiotaholder Il, LLC

Exhibit 21

Jurisdiction
Florida
Florida
Delaware
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Delaware
Florida
Delaware
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Delaware
Florida
Paname
Florida
Florida
Costa Rice

As of December 31, 2012, SBA Communications Corjamaowned, directly or indirectly, 59 additionaitssidiaries, 52 of which are
incorporated in U.S. jurisdictions and 7 of whigk arganized in foreign jurisdictions. These sulasids, in the aggregate as a single
subsidiary, would not constitute a “Significant Sigliary” as defined in Rule 405 under the Secwgifiet as of December 31, 2012.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-41306)

Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-157647)

Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-179737)

Registration Statement (Forn-4 No. 33:-147473)

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-166969) pertain to 2010 Performance and Equityritice Plan
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-155289) pertaining to 2008 Employee Stock Purckdse
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-69236) pertaining to 2001 Equity Participation F
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-46734) pertaining to 1999 Equity Participation F

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-139@@élaining to 2001 Equity Participation Plan, asehded and Restated on
May 16, 200z

© © N gk wDdhPRE

of our reports dated February 27, 2013 with respetite consolidated financial statements of SBAn@wnications Corporation and
Subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internalrobitver financial reporting of SBA Communicatio@srporation and Subsidiaries, included
in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year edd#ecember 31, 2012.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI
Certified Public Accountan

Boca Raton, Florida
February 27, 2013



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executive Officer, digrthat:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of SBA Communications Corporatio

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#tate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this reg

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resoftgperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presente(

this report;

4.  The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financiplorting, or caused such internal control over feiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappsges, in accordance with generally accepted aticauprinciples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuadrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioriernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalvaeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir



Date: February 27, 2013

By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Stoops

Name Jeffrey A. Stoop:
Title: Chief Executive Office



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief Financial Officertigthat:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of SBA Communications Corporatio

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#tate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this reg

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resoftgperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presente(

this report;

4.  The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financiplorting, or caused such internal control over feiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappsges, in accordance with generally accepted aticauprinciples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuadrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioriernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalvaeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir



Date: February 27, 2013

By: /s/ Brendan T. Cavanagh

Name Brendan T. Cavanac
Title: Chief Financial Office



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarkey Act of 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of SBA Comnuations Corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10K the period ended
December 31, 2012, as filed with the Securitiesxcthange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parJeffrey A. Stoops, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuanil8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursua®éttion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
that to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenit$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as amended, and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 27, 2013

/sl Jeffrey A. Stoops
Jeffrey A. Stoops
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 32.2

Certification Required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarkey Act of 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of SBA Comnuations Corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10K the period ended
December 31, 2012, as filed with the SecuritiesBxcthange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8péarBrendan T. Cavanagh, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursutmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuadédstion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
that to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenit$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as amended, and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 27, 2013

/s/ Brendan T. Cavanagh
Brendan T. Cavanagh
Chief Financial Office




